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V‘i_ Chesapeake’

Chesapeake Corporation is a leading international supplier of value-added specialty paperboard and

plastic packaging. We protect and promote the world’s great brands in various end-use markets such

as pharmaceuticals, alcoholic drinks, confectioneries, specialty chemicals, tobacco, food and beverage.

Our customers rely on us for paperboard packaging — folding cartons, spirally wound composite tubes

leaflets, labels and other paper and paperboard packaging products, as well as plastic packaging -

containers, bottles, preforms and closures. We work closely with customers to develop unique packaging

designs and innovative solutions that help them differentiate and strengthen their global brands.

Headquartered in Richmond, Virginia and founded in 1918, Chesapeake employs approximately 5,400

people at 45 manufacturing locations in Europe, North America, Africa and Asia.

Financial Highlights (in millions, except per share data)

2007 t 2006

Sales and Earnings:

Net sales $1,059.6 $ 995.4

QOperating income 26.7 0.3

Loss from continuing operations {13.8) {32.4)
Net loss (15.5) (39.6)
Per Common Share:

Loss from continuing operations - diluted $ (0.71) $ (1.67)
Book value 14,13 11.80
Additional Information:

(as of year end: Dec. 30, 2007 for 2007; and Dec. 31, 2006 for 2006)

Total assets $1,213.7 $1,114.8

Long-term debt 508.4 456.0

Stockholders’ equity 281.2 233.7

Common shares outstanding at year end 19.9 19.8

Market capitalization 110.0 337.0

Capital expenditures 49.6 35.8

Front Cover: Through the efforts of approximately 5,400 dedicated, committed and innovative Chesapeake employees

around the globe we protect and promote the world’s great brands. The following employees are

featured on the cover of our 2007 Annual Report: (top row, left to right) Kishor Desal, Leicester,

England; Dawn Eva, Bradford, England; Diar Ali, Crewe, England; Andrew Allcock, Crewe, England;
(bottom row) Elissa Percy (front} and Dawn Morris (back), Leicester, England; Jonathan Brankin,

8radford, England; and Portia Moroz, Leicester, England.
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“We have recently secured significant business with Cadbury Schweppes,
GSK, AstraZeneca, Schering-Plough, Bristol-Myers Squibb, Syngenta,
Nestlé and United Biscuits. These customer names are powerful evidence
that we are making good on our commitment ‘to protect and promote

the world’s great brands.’”

President & Chief Executive Officer

Andrew ). Kohut

Dear Fellow Shareholders:

2007 was a challenging year for Chesapeake, but
it was also a year when much was accomplished.

Our organization is newly focused, committed to the
“Chesapeake Way™ and aligned under the trading
name Chesapeake. By the end of the year, we resolved
some service issues in our paperboard packaging
segment. As a result of this improved service, coupled
with a renewed emphasis on customers, we have
secured significant new business as we head into
2008. Qur plastic packaging segment continues to
perform well and provides both growth opportunities
and consistent returns.

Qur operating income excluding special items
decreased about 9 percent in 2007, with the market
prices of our publicty traded bonds and equity down
significantly. | believe that these prices have been
discounted because of our high amount of debt and

refinancing uncertainty in today’s credit environment.
| am pleased to report that we have made significant
progress on refinancing.

In addition to global macroeconomic events, we have
absorbed the impact of a significant reduction in
our tobacco packaging business white continuing to
broaden our capabilities from being predominately a
Western European manufacturer to one that also has
locations in developing nations such as China and
Hungary. These growth initiatives, rationalization
activities and other requirements for cash, such as
pension funding obligations, put pressure on our
balance sheet.

We are looking at opportunities to improve the
profitability of our businesses and ways to lower debt.
Businesses not meeting our criteria for growth and
returns are under review, We target 8 percent earnings




A& Pro-tex™, an innovative anti-counterfeiting solution devetoped by Chesapeake,
enables.consumers to verify the authenticity of a product. This global system
assigns products with d unique alphanumeric character identification code that can
be checked against a secure database using a standard mobile phone text message.
The Pro-tex™ verification system ¢an be applied to consumer product packaging
inciuding cartons, (abels, leaflets and plastic containers.

growth or EBITDA margins of 15 percent as being
reflective of good specialty packaging businesses,
and if we have businesses that are not at those levels
or de not have a path to getting there, we will consider
alternatives for such businesses. We have intentionally
designed our annual incentive plans on these same
two growth and return targets.

Two small examples of these efforts were recently
completed. We sold our Bremen tobacco packaging
facility, a plant that lacked sufficient business after
the significant reduction in our tobacco packaging
business, and were able to avoid significant plant
closure costs. As part of the consolidation in Scotland
of our branded products packaging plants serving our
premium alcoholic drinks customers, we moved our
drinks-related tube business to Scotland and trans-
ferred our food-related tube business into a joint
venture, avoiding closure costs while retaining the
right to sell the real property in the future.

As we praoceed through our transformation, we expect
that the earnings for the first half of 2008 will be lower
than first half earnings in 2007 due to lower volumes
and start-up expenses related to new facilities and
product lines. However, we have recently secured
significant business with Cadbury Schweppes, G5K,
AstraZeneca, Schering-Plough, Bristol-Myers Squibb,
Syngenta, Nestlé and United Biscuits. These customer
names are powerful evidence that we are making
good on our commitment “to protect and promote the
world’s great brands.” You can expect to start to see
the first benefits of this new business in the second
half of 2008.

We initiated late last year a project that focused on
the fundamentals in our business at the factory and
customer level. The results achieved at four pilot sites
are encouraging. One thing that we have learned from
our prior cost savings program is that longer-term
fundamental change is better and more sustainable
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A Chesapeake recently taunched an anti-static HDPE specialty chemical
container that minimizes the risk of static buildup and electrostatic discharge.
We introduce an anti-static agent into the polymer resins for the exterior
surface of our multi-layer blow molded containers. Ciba Inc. is one of our
customers of these coniainers that ave certified and approved by the United
Nations and industry groups.

A We created this award-winning oval shaped carton to support the
rebranding efforts for Edrington’s Highland Park single matt Scotch
whisky. The unigue shape of the carton complements a new oval bottle
that reinforces the authentic and traditienal characterisiics of the
brand. Cartons are printed in six colars with two varnishes and feature
foil stamping and debossing to further enhance the quality finish.

than quick headline numbers. Day-to-day productivity
improvements, better job-by-job cost variance
analysis, more efficient scheduling, better material
usage and more informed pricing decisions make a
significant difference.

Our senior management team made a commitment last
fall to a new way of doing business — “The Chesapeake
Way.” Halimarks of “The Chesapeake Way” are:

¢ Do it right

¢ Be thoughtful and thinking

* Speed has value

* Be sustainable and surprising

* Be one Chesapeake — many languages, one voice

Change takes time and significant progress in earnings
improvement is not expected until the second haif of
the year. However, the combination of an aligned team,

new customer initiatives, process improvements and
new financing should result in our 2008 operating
results being ahead of 2007. Thank you for your support.

L

Andrew J. Kohut
President & Chief Executive Officer
February 27, 2008




Chesapeake At a Glance

Products

Markets
Served

Customers

Include

Competitive
Strengths

Manufacturing
Locations

Pharmaceutical and Healthcare

Packaging

Cartons, booklets, labels, leaflets
and combination products such as
cartons/leaflets and labels/leaflets.

Pharmaceutical and healthcare including
prescription medicines (ethical and
generic), over-the-counter (OTC) medicines,
healthcare products, medical devices

and toiletries.

AstraZeneca, GlaxoSmithKline,
Johnson & Jehnson, Pfizer, Reckitt
Benckiser, Schering-Plough and 3M.

Qur ability to satisfy stringent quality
standards and to offer a single-source
global solution for folding cartons, labels
and leaflets. We have 25 dedicated
pharmaceutical packaging plants across
Europe, the United States and Asia. The
majority of our facilities hold 150 9000
Series quality certification or PS9000 and
maintain rigorous process and quality
control standards. A dedicated pharma-
ceutical and healthcare packaging
design studio and preduct development
group operates in Nottingham, England.

Belgium: Bornem, Brussels and Gent

England: Bourne, Greenford, Leicester,
Loughborough, Nottingham and Tewkesbury

France: Angouléme, Lisses,
St. Pierre des Corps and Ussel

Germany: Neu-lsenburg
Netherlands: Oss

Northern Ireland: Belfast

People’s Repubiic of China: Kunshan

Repubtic of Ireland: Dublin, Limerick
and Westport

Spain; Madrid

United States: Lake Success, N.Y.,
Lexington, N.C. and Raleigh, N.C.

Wales: Wrexham

Branded Products Packaging

Cartons, spirally wound composite tubes,

multi-substrate containers, labels and flm.

Alcoholic drinks, confectioneries, foods
and tobacco.

Cadbury Schweppes, Diageo, Japan
Tobacco Internationat, Nestlé, Pernod
Ricard and William Grant & Sons.

Ability to provide sophisticated creative

and structural design and a broad range
of finishes and effects to help position
and differentiate brands in discerning
global markets. A one-stop shop approach
to supplying labels to complement the
principal packaging application. Our
process controls help prevent taint and
odor problems that could affect confec-
tionery products. A pan-European
manufacturing network enables us to
support large-scale international product
launches and brand extensions. We
operate an award-winning dedicated
design center in Bradford, England.

England: Bradford, Bristol, Newcastle
and Portsmouth

Germany: Diiren, Hiddenhausen,
Melle and Stuttgart

Scotland: East Kilbride, Hamilton and
Hillington

Spain: Madrid

Plastic Packaging

High-density polyethylene (HDPE) bottles,
closures and containers; polyethylene
terephthalate (PET) bottles, closures,
containers and preforms,

Agrochemicals and other specialty
chemicals, and food and beverage (dairy,
soft drinks and water).

Coca-Cola, Dow AgroSciences, Pepsi-Cola
and Syngenta.

Proprietary in-line fluorination technology
for producing superior barrier properties.
Strong leadership positions in several
niche markets. We also offer proprietary
multi-tayer technology that extends the
shelf-life of carbonated beverages.

England: Crewe

France: St. Etienne

Hungary: Peremarton-gyartelep
Mauritius: Port Louis

People's Republic of China: Kunshan
Republic of Ireland: Cavan

South Africa: Cape Town and Harrismith




]

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549
FORM 10-K

[X] ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 30, 2007

OR
[ ] TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 SEC
For the transition period from to Mail Processing
Commission file number 1-3203 Section

MAR 24 ZUUB
Z_i Chesapeake’

Wasghington, DC
Chesapeake Corporation 101
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)
Virginia 54-0166880
(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization) (L.LR.S. Employer Identification No.)
1021 East Cary Street, Richmond, Virginia 23219
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)
Registrant’s telephone number, including area code: 804-697-1000
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:
Title of each class Name of each exchange on which registered
Common Stock, par value $t New York Stock Exchange
Preferred Stock Purchase Rights New York Stock Exchange

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: None

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the
Securities Act. Yes[ | No [V ]

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 of
Section 15(d) of the Act. Yes| | No [V |

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section
13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period
that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for
the past 90 days. Yes[V] No | |

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is
not contained herein, and will not be contained, to the best of registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or
information statements incorporated by reference in Part HI of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this
Form 10-K. [V |

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, or a
non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. See definitions of “large accelerated filer”,
“accelerated filer” and “smaller reporting company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act: Large accelerated
filter [ | Accelerated filer | V| Non-accelerated filer | | Smaller reporting company | |

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the
Act). Yes[ | No [V]

The aggregate market value on July 1, 2007 (the last day of the registrant’s most recently completed
second quarter), of the voting and non-voting common equity held by non-affiliates of the registrant was
approximately $245.1 million. In determining this figure, the registrant has assumed that all of its directors
and officers are affiliates. This assumption shall not be deemed conclusive for any other purpose.

20,010,962 shares of the registrant’s common stock, par value $1, were outstanding as of February
29, 2008.

Portions of the registrant’s definitive Proxy Statement for the annual meeting of stockholders to be
held on April 23, 2008, are incorporated in Part I11 by reference.

The index of exhibits can be found on pages 86-88.



TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page No.

PART | ...oivririvinnsassismsccnssssssnsssnssssnosmsmsmsmsnsssatsssssssusssavass - . 1
Itern 1 BUSITESS 1.vecveveetiiteieevestersssetsissssvatoseseesseseseessetssaessasesearereea e s et oA e s os 2 emeannbeedaabedEhd st aE e AR e e R R e e s e e T sm e e ne e ne s sr e d 2
Item 1A RUSK FACLOTS. ....viviviitiiisectssessereesaerssseseraensesesasss et esssasas s s e crrrmar g oa 425 ns s oasmsnseem s bed s e d b arba R e R n R R A e r e s 16
Item 1B Unresolved StafT COMIMENES .....c.coviuiiiivei et e e e 23
Itemn 2 PLOPETIIES .o.vvvuvoceeererereceaessiosss st ib it st a2 b bbb b RSP eSS b R 24
Item 3 LeZal PLOCEEAINES ... cvceeceecceeiiii it 24
Item 4 Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders ... 24
Item X Executive Officers of the RegiSIrant ... 25
PART I occinninnsnsasnsnssssissssssssassseonsorsmsasssssssene ST 25
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of

EQUILY SECUFITIES ..voveeercrerierres e cerireceemststi et sssse bbb es s s s st sa e en s 25
[tem 6. Selected FINANCIal DIALA.......ccvviveiriereiimeerereei e essesaneeseessresseasarsirseessve s snsmsms et s sbasansesraeas e s rnrans sasseess 27
Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations................. 28
Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk..........ooocvniiinciiniiiimims 44
Itemn 8. Financial Staternents and Supplementary Data ... s s 45
Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure................ 81
Item 9A. CoNtrols and PTOCEAULES ..vvveeeciereerieie ettt s s s e b e et s st s s s s e am s e 82
Item 9B. (O]t [ 7034 11T LT3 4 R OO U O DT TP O PO S S TSRO PTOT ISR TS .82
PART 111 " 83
[tem 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate GOVEIDANCE ......v.eerewcuceuniesiasisisminsssssarsrrssssssmsassssesacs s 93
Item 11. EXECULIVE COMPENSALION. ...cucuruieereierrrerisceieree e csceem sttt s st bbb b s bbb s em st s bbb e res o 83
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder

IVLBEEETS vovvvvvieeeseseeeeeeetesaeestetetsssaeere s e eseeaer e eb b e br et e e e meemem bt £4 0 a1 4 s RE S bR SR E AR SR E e £ T AT PR RS b eSS bR 83
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence .............coooeceecicinere.. 83
Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and ServiCes ...ttt 83
PART IV ..ccriiiniiinennns .84
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules........cccoiiiin s 84
SIGNATURES NN ebesessR ARt aR e SRR SRS R RS TR PR R 85
EXHIBIT INDEX Li1iiivcorssesssescesensacsaserrmmssssasissssessstsasasssssssssssssassssssststsssissssessssessnsnsausssssass reuene 836




PART1
In this report, unless the context requires otherwise, references to “we,” “us,” “our,” “Chesapeake” or the
“Company” are intended to mean Chesapeake Corporation and its consolidated subsidiaries.

Forward-Looking Statements

In addition to historical information, this Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking
statements that involve risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those
expressed in our forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements include statements regarding our goals,
beliefs, plans or current expectations, taking into account the information currently available to our management.
Forward-looking statements are not statements of historical fact. For example, when we use¢ words such as
“believe,” “anticipate,” “expect,” “estimate,” “intend,” “should,” “would,” “could,” “may,” “will likely result,” “will
continue,” “project,” or other words that convey uncertainty of future events or outcome, we are making forward-
looking statements. Forward-looking statements include statements concerning;

. future results of operations;
Hquidity, cash flow and capital expenditures;

. acquisition and disposition activities and the effect of completed acquisitions and dispositions,
including expected synergtes and cost savings;

. projected costs and savings associated with restructuring and other cost saving programs;

. pending or anticipated litigation,

. debt levels and the ability to obtain additional financing or make payments on our debt, and to
meet our debt covenant requirements;

. liabitities and cash funding obligations associated with defined benefit pension plans;

. regulatory developments, industry conditions and market conditions; and

. general economic conditions.

Factors that might cause or contribute to differences between actual results and those expressed in our
forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, those discussed under “Risk Factors™ of Item 1A of this
report and in the section “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
— Forward-Looking Statements™ of Item 7.

Industry and Market Data

We obtained the market and competitive position data used throughout this report from our own research,
surveys or studies conducted by third parties, and industry or general publications. Industry publications and
surveys generally state that they have obtained information from sources believed to be reliable, but do not
guarantee the accuracy and completeness of such information. While we believe that each of these studies and
publications is reliable, we have not independently verified such data, and we do not make any representation as to
the accuracy of such information. Similarly, we believe our internal research is reliable, but it has not been verified
by any independent sources.




Item 1. Business

Business History and Overview

Chesapeake was founded in 1918 in West Point, Virginia, where we operated a kraft pulp and paper mill.
Through the years, we expanded into several commodity paper products, forest products and corrugated packaging
operations located primarily in the United States. Chesapeake is a Virginia corporation, and our common stock has
been listed on the New York Stock Exchange since 1944,

In the mid-1990s, our management and board of directors recognized that cur commodity-based businesses
were competing in increasingly consolidating, capital intensive and cyclical markets. Seeking to increase
shareholder value, we implemented a strategic transformation. Beginning with the sale of the West Point pulp and
paper mill in 1997, we divested our commodity paper products, forest products and corrugated packaging
businesses, and invested the sale proceeds in several acquisitions that have transformed our company into a value-
added paperboard and plastic packaging products business.

Today Chesapeake is a leading suppiier of specialty paperboard packaging products in Europe, with
growing interests in North America and Asia. We are also a leading international supplier of plastic packaging
products to niche end-use markets. We focus on specific end-use markets where our multinational customers
demand creative packaging designs and desire broad geographic coverage from their packaging supplier. We
operate in two core business segments:

. Paperboard Packaging. Our Paperboard Packaging segment designs and manufactures folding
cartons, spirally wound composite tubes, leaflets, labels and other paper and paperboard packaging
products. Our primary end-use markets are pharmaceutical and healthcare and branded products
(such as alcoholic drinks, confectioneries, foods and tobacco). We are one of the leading
European suppliers of paperboard packaging products within several of our end-use markets,
including pharmaceutical and healthcare, alcoholic drinks and confectioneries. For the fiscal year
ended December 30, 2007, our Paperboard Packaging segment produced revenues and operating
income (as defined in Item 7 “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations — Review of Consolidated Results of Operations”) of $879.7 million and
$36.9 miilion, respectively, and accounted for 83% of our net sales.

. Plastic Packaging. Our Plastic Packaging segment designs and manufactures plastic containers,
bottles, and preforms. Our primary end-use markets are agrochemicals, other specialty chemicals,
and food and beverages. We believe that our Plastic Packaging segment holds leadership
positions within several sectors of our end-use markets, including HDPE fluorinated barrier
containers for agrochemicals and other specialty chemicals markets, primarily in Europe and
China, HDPE bottles for the Irish dairy market and PET bottles and preforms for soft drink
markets in South Africa. For the fiscal year ended December 30, 2007, our Plastic Packaging
segment produced revenues and operating income (as defined in Item 7 “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations - Review of
Consolidated Results of Operations™) of $179.9 million and $20.4 million, respectively, and
accounted for 17% of our net sales,

We focus on specific end-use packaging markets—such as pharmaceutical and healthcare, branded
products (including alcoholic drinks, confectioneries and tobacco), specialty chemicals and food and beverages—
where customers demand:

. creative packaging designs to position their brands with consumers and differentiate those brands
on the retail shelf;

. technical expertise and production capabilities to address their special packaging requirements and
desire for innovative packaging solutions;




. a broad range of printing processes and a one-stop-shop approach to their specialty packaging

needs;
. suppliers able and willing to provide innovative solutions beyond their core product offering; and
. bread geographic coverage and effective supply chain offerings.

Many of these markets are characterized by higher growth prospects and lower cyclicality than commodity
packaging markets.

In September 2005, we completed the acquisition of Impaxx Pharmaceutical Packaging Group, Inc., which
now trades as Chesapeake Pharmaceutical and Healthcare Packaging-North America (“CPHPNA™). CPHPNA is the
leading supplier of printed pharmaceutical leaflets in North America. The transaction strengthened our presence in
North America and provides a platform to expand our global pharmaceutical and healthcare packaging business,
We are a leading Eurepean supplier of leaflets, labels and cartons to the pharmaceutical market, and CPHPNA’s
U.S. pharmaceutical customer base and manufacturing capabilities complement our existing business.

Also, in December 2005, we purchased the outstanding minority interest of our South African plastic
packaging operations. This was designed to provide us with greater flexibility to strengthen our strategic position in
this market.

In November 2005, we anncunced plans for a global cost savings program which targeted combined pre-
tax savings of $25 million on an annualized basis to be implemented over a two-year period. The program included
the closure or consolidation of facilities, workforce and overhead reductions, and cost savings from improvements to
operating processes. Over the course of fiscal years 2006 and 2007 we realized cost savings in excess of our $25
million goal and we are now focused on exploring oppertunities for additional cost savings and dispositions of non-
core or redundant assets to improve our operating results and reduce debt.

In February 2007, we formed a joint venture with Chemark Termeld és Kereskedd Kft., a pesticide
formulating company in Hungary, to serve existing and prospective spectalty chemical packaging customers in
Eastern Europe. This joint venture is focused on exploiting our leading pesition in the in-mold fluorination of
specialty containers.

In October 2007, we opened a new pharmaceutical paperboard packaging plant in Kunshan, China. The
new facility will offer carton, label and leaflet making capabilities to complement our existing pharmaceutical
plastic bottle operation, also in Kunshan.

Financial information with respect to our business segments and geographic data is presented in “Note 15
— Business Segment Information” of Item 8, which is incorporated herein by reference. Information regarding our
anticipated capital spending is set forth in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations — Liquidity and Capital Resources — Cash Flows” of Item 7, which is incorporated herein by
reference. See “Note 2 — Discontinued Operations” and “Note 3 — (Gain) Loss on Divestitures” of Item 8,
incorporated herein by reference.

Business Strategy

Our strategy is to focus our financial, capital and human resources in the markets in which customers have
special packaging requirements and desire innovative packaging solutions, While we did not forego longer-term
strategic initiatives, our primary objective over the course of fiscal years 2006 and 2007 was the successful
implementation of our cost savings program. In 2008, we will continue to focus on restructuring and cost savings
opportunitics, which may include the disposal or closure of facilities so that we can sharpen our focus en our more
profitable core businesses, and we will continue with cur long-term strategy to pursue organic and non-organic
growth opportunities in the pharmaccutical and healthcare packaging market and in selected plastic packaging
markets, while looking for disciplined organic growth oppertunities in our other businesses.




Chesapeake’s $25-Million Cost Savings Program

While we routinely evaluate our operations for improvement and rationalization opportunities, in 2005 this
evaluation developed into a comprehensive program that we believed would significantly improve our competitive
position and enhance value for our shareholders by focusing on three goals:

. increasing our focus on business operations that are aligned with our global strategic vision and
that possess what we believe are the driving forces that will enable us to achieve improved
performance in the market;

. improving our operational processes; and
. reducing our overall company-wide cost structure.

The $25-million cost savings program was launched at the end of fiscal 2005 and concluded in fiscal 2007.
During fiscal 2006 we completed the closure of our Birmingham facility in the United Kingdom. We also largely
completed the closure of our Bedford facility in the United Kingdom, with the only remaining matter outstanding
being the completion of the sale of the land and buildings, which is expected to occur in fiscal 2008. In March 2006
we completed the sale of our plastic packaging operation in Lurgan, Northern Ireland (“Lurgan”). Part of the
Lurgan sale proceeds was in the form of a promissory note, which is stil! outstanding. This promissory note was
fully provided for at the time of the sale but during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2007 we re-evaluated the coilectibility
of the subordinated loan note, and based on this evaluation we reversed the provision against it. In July 2006 we
also completed the sale of our French luxury packaging business (“CLP”). In addition to the closures and sales we
also undertook a wide range of cost cutting and efficiency measures in fiscal 2006 and fiscal 2007, including
overhead cost reduction programs, workforce reductions, improvements to working practices and other
rationalization measures.

Since the inception of the global cost savings program we have recorded net charges for divestitures and
restructuring, asset impairments and other exit costs of approximately $32.7 million, of which $7.7 million has been
recorded in discontinued operations. Cash payments in relation to these program initiatives since inception of the
program total approximately $32.0 million. In addition we have recovered approximately $26.7 million in cash sale
proceeds on sales of operations, land and other assets under the program. During fiscal years 2006 and 2007 we
have realized annualized cost savings in excess of our $25-million goal, and we are now focused on exploring
opportunities for additional cost savings and dispositions of non-core or redundant assets to improve our operating
results and reduce debt.

Organic Growth

We are focusing our growth in markets where we believe we possess and can sustain competitive strengths
through our ability to deliver creative packaging designs, and where the services and process capabilities we offer
enable us to satisfy our customers’ specialty packaging requirements. These markets include:

. Markets that offer higher growth potential—pharmaceutical and healthcare. We believe that
global demand for pharmaceutical and healthcare products packaging will grow significantly over
the next decade as a result of global population growth, an aging population in industrialized
countries, new drug technology and new regulatory requirements. As a leading supplier of
pharmaceutical and healthcare paperboard packaging in Europe, and as a supplier of plastic
packaging for pharmaceutical and healthcare products, we expect to benefit from this market
growth. We also intend to increase our share of this market by looking for opportunities to expand
our offerings bevond an already comprehensive range of paperboard packaging, leaflets and
labels.

. Markets where brand positioning and differentiation are important—branded products; over-the-
counter pharmaceutical and healthcare, Brand leaders in these markets value our ability to
provide sophisticated creative and structural designs, intricate graphic and embossed details, and
value-added service enhancements. These process capabilities have led several international




. manufacturers of branded products to designate us as their primary paperboard packaging supplier.
Many manufacturers of branded products also rely on us to create and supply the packaging for
their product range extensions or geographic market expansions, which we believe will continue to
generate additional growth opportunities for us.

. Markets that have special packaging requirements. We are a market leader in several end-use
markets that have special packaging requirements. In our Paperboard Packaging segment, our
pharmaceutical packaging plants comply with the Pharmaceutical Supplier Code of Practice, and
individual plants are accredited by their respective pharmaceutical customers, reflecting our ability
to consistently satisfy the stringent quality standards of our customers. As a result of our ability to
provide innovative packaging solutions (such as special features designed to prevent
counterfeiting of prescription drugs and custom dose “patient packs”™), together with leaflets and
labels, often in multiple languages, we are one of the largest suppliers of paper-based
pharmaceutical and healthcare packaging in Europe. In our Plastic Packaging segment, our
proprietary process for blow molding of fluorinated HDPE barrier containers has helped us to
achieve a significant position in the European market for such containers. Also in our Plastic
Packaging segment, our South African operation has pioneered the use of multi-layer technology
in PET bottles to prolong the shelf-life of carbonated products. This technology is particularly
beneficial in environments with high temperatures and under-developed distribution channels.

. Markets where packaging and packaging procurement play an important role in supply chain
management — pharmaceuticals; milk; carbonated soft drinks; specialty chemicals. We are
currently a market leader in the supply of packaging materials to these markets. We also have
several product and service offerings in development to help customers reduce their total cost of
supply. These include system-wide monitoring management tools, anti-counterfeiting
developments, and consumer-friendly packaging innovations.

. Geographic markets that offer the opportunity to leverage a product or market niche. As an
example, the developing nature of the South African market offers the opportunity to be a leader
by introducing technology and products that are commonplace in more developed markets. By
being a leading presence, we can take advantage of the growth opportunities we believe this
market provides.

We continue to invest in new equipment to maintain our leadership positions and competitive advantages
and grow with our customers.

Non-erganic Growth

Over the next few years, we plan to expand our network of pharmaceutical and healthcare packaging
facilities and further develop our leadership position in selected plastic packaging markets. To do this, we intend to
pursue acquisitions, new facilities, joint ventures or alliances involving complementary businesses in both developed
and emerging markets. We believe this expansion and acquisition strategy will improve our geographic and product-
line balance, satisfy our multinational customers® desire for broad geographic coverage from their packaging
supplier, and permit us to leverage two of our greatest competitive strengths — our sophisticated design and
manufacturing capabilities and our long-term customer relationships.

Competitive Strengths
We believe that our competitive strengths include:

. Sophisticated design and manufacturing capabilities. Our sophisticated structural and creative
package design skills, and our experience in printing and manufacturing complex package designs,
are important competitive strengths. For example, our pharmaceutical and healthcare customers
rely on our ability to provide both regulatory and marketing information in attractive and
functional paperboard packaging, while meeting stringent standards for guality and text integrity.
To support the multifaceted needs of these customers, we have a packaging design center



. dedicated solely to the pharmaceutical and healthcare industrics, Similarly, we are a leading
European designer and supplier of creative paperboard packaging that supports the brand images
of internationally recognized branded products. For these customers, our design skills and ability
to print and manufacture packaging that incorporates design and construction features with
intricate graphic and embossed detailing are important to successfully marketing their products. In
our Plastic Packaging segment, our technical expertise and experience relating to in-mold
fluorinated blow-molding of HDPE barrier containers is an important competitive strength.
Additionally, we have recently installed capacity to produce multilayer PET barrier preforms in
South Africa. New and existing customers are looking for solutions like muttitayer PET barrier
bottles that will extend the shelf life of fruit juice and various carbonated beverages in Affrica
where temperatures are elevated and refrigeration is not widespread. We have plans to introduce
this new product in several sub-Saharan African markets.

. Understanding of how our products and services impact our customers’ supply chains. In our
pharmaceutical and healthcare and branded products paperboard packaging markets, we have
developed a sophisticated, web-based, system solution to enable our customers to manage and
optimize their packaging supply chain. This system takes customer demand information and
converts it into amalgamated raw material requirements. These requirements can then be cross-
checked against strategically-placed inventories, increasing the speed of paperboard sourcing and
reducing lead times at our factories. The system also interfaces with the paperboard making cycle
data from our own approved suppliers. This type of capability positions us with our customers as
more than simply a manufacturer of paperboard packaging.

. Strong customer relationships. We have long standing customer relationships with many of the
world’s largest branded products and pharmaceutical and healthcare products companies. Our
major customers include operating units of 3M Company; Diageo plc; Japan Tobacco
International; GlaxoSmithKline plc; Nestlé S.A.; Pernod Ricard S.A.; Schering-Plough
Corporation; Storck KG; and Syngenta AG. These long-term relationships, together with our
global manufacturing footprint, enhance our competitive position.

. Broad geographic manufacturing network including pan-European service. We supply specialty
paperboard and plastic packaging products throughout the world from a strategically located
network of 36 paperboard packaging facilities in Europe, North America and Asta, and eight
plastic packaging facilities in Europe, Africa and Asia. Our facilities are generally located in close
proximity to our largest customers. Qur strategic manufacturing footprint meets our customers’
needs for reduced delivery times and flexibility in both order size and geography.

Both of our core business segments also compete based on their established reputations for quality and
innovation. We continue to invest in our manufacturing plants and design centers to enhance our ability to serve and
grow with our customers, Qur highly skilled, experienced management team has developed an operating model
focused on expertise in design, manufacturing and customer support, coordinated with a motivated, knowledgeable
sales team.

Paperboard Packaging
Industry Overview

The paperboard packaging industry manufactures and sells corrugated products, folding cartons and rigid
fiber boxes. Our Paperboard Packaging segment competes primarity in the folding carton segment of the industry.

Folding carton packaging is used to package various consumer products such as pharmaceuticals, personal
care products, cosmetics, tobacco products, confectioneries, alcoholic drinks and food products. Folding cartons do
not include corrugated “brown boxes,” which are typically used for shipping and transportation of products in bulk.
Folding cartons generally serve the dual purpose of protecting non-durable goods during shipping and distribution,
and attracting consumer attention to the product at retail. As printing technologies have continued to improve, the




marketing function of folding cartons has become increasingly important as consumer products companies rely more
heavily on the retail promotional value of product packaging.

Folding cartons are made from several grades of paperboard, including folding boxboard. The paperboard
used in folding cartons must meet specific quality and technical standards for: bending, creasing, scoring and
folding without breaking or cracking; stiffness and resistance to bulging; ink absorption; and surface smoothness for
printing, embossing or laminating. Historically, folding boxboard has been one of the paperboard grades used most
frequently by the folding carton industry because of its superior strength and appearance and because it provides one
of the best surfaces for high-quality printing. The paperboard used in folding cartons is typically die-cut, printed,
glued and shipped flat from folding carton plants to manufacturing customers, where the cartons are then erected
and filled on production lines.

Vertical integration is less common in the European folding carton industry than in other paper-based
packaging markets, such as corrugated containers. In part, this reflects the lower-volume, higher value-added nature
of the folding carton business, but also the need of most folding carton producers to utilize various grades of
paperboard. As a result, many of the largest folding carton companies in Europe do not manufacture the paperboard
they use as raw materials.

Our folding carton operations are located primarily in Europe. The European folding carton industry is a
market composed of several types of suppliers: pan-European companies serving global customers; regional firms
addressing select products at the country level; and local businesses specializing in niche product categories. None
of the major European packaging suppliers commands a dominant pan-European market position, although certain
competitors may dominate particular geographic areas or market niches. The European folding carton market is
fragmented and highly competitive. Suppliers generally differentiate their products and services based on design
capabilities, print quality and, increasingly, the ability to service pan-European requirements. The end-use markets
served by most folding carton suppliers vary widely in terms of technical requirements, product pricing and, to a
lesser extent, growth rates.

Operations

Our Paperboard Packaging segment consists primarily of operations acquired as part of our strategic
transformation in 1999 and 2000. These operations have been consolidated for accounting purposes since their
respective acquisition dates.

We continue to consolidate the sales, marketing and administrative functions of many of these businesses,
which has resulted in overhead reductions, purchasing synergies and a more effective sales and marketing effort.
We continue to evaluate our manufacturing capacity in light of our customers’ demands and growth strategies and
expect to continue to rationalize manufacturing facilities in this segment by closing redundant or underutilized
facilities. See “Note 5 — Restructuring Charges” of [tem 8§, incorporated herein by reference.

Products and Markets

We specialize in the design and production of folding cartons, spirally wound composite tubes, printed
leaflets, labels and other paper and paperboard packaging products. We focus on specific end-use markets where
our muitinational customers demand creative packaging designs and desire a broad geographic presence from their
packaging supplier. We compete in the high end of these markets, where valuc-added services and creative
packaging solutions are required by our customers.

Our primary end-use markets are:
. pharmaceutical and healthcare; and

. branded products, such as alcoholic drinks, confectioneries, foods and tobacco.

Pharmaceutical and Healthcare. We are a leading supplier of pharmaceutical and healthcare paperboard
packaging in Europe and a leading supplier of leaflets to the pharmaceutical market in North America. Our network
of 21 dedicated pharmaceutical and healthcare packaging plants in nine European countries, three plants in the
United States and one plant in Asia offer broad-based manufacturing and distribution of folding cartons, labels,




booklets and leaflets for a wide range of products, including: prescription medicines; over-the-counter medicines;
healthcare products, such as vitamins and contact lens solutions; quasi-medicinal products, such as cold cures; and
toiletries, such as toothpaste, deodorants, soaps and fragrances. In this sector, manufacturers utilize a variety of
packaging materials, many of which incorporate folding cartons, leaflets and labels in a complete package for retail
sale. For example, pills may be packaged in blister packs or in glass or plastic bottles, which may be placed with a
leaflet in a folding carton, while toothpaste may be packaged in a collapsible tube inside a folding carton.

Pharmaceutical manufacturers are increasingly demanding more comprehensive design services, reduced
delivery times, more flexibility in order size and broader geographic coverage from their packaging suppliers.
Historically, we have responded to these trends by providing pan-European service through a network of dedicated
pharmaceutical and healthcare packaging plants, many of which are located in close proximity to their principal
customers. Our acquisition in 2005 of CPHPNA, the leading supplier of printed pharmaceutical leaflets in North
America, and construction of a state-of-the-art pharmaceutical and healthcare paperboard packaging facility in
China demonstrate our commitment to our customers’ packaging needs on a global scale.

We believe that we have substantial competitive strengths in the pharmaceutical and healthcare packaging
market. Our ability to satisfy stringent quality standards and to offer a single-source global solution for
pharmaceutical packaging, as well as leaflets and labels, should be increasingly attractive to drug companies. We
believe our ability to satisfy all of the folding carton, leaflet and label needs of our pharmaceutical customers will
also become increasingly important as governmental agencies in Europe and the United States require increasing
amounts of information on leaflets and labels in multiple languages. [n addition, our design and manufacturing
capabilities and experience should assist pharmaceutical companies in responding to requirements that consumer-
friendly packaging, such as custom dose “patient packs,” be used for pharmaceutical products.

We work closely with drug manufacturers to design special packaging features to assist in the prevention of
counterfeiting of prescription drugs and have a design studio dedicated to the pharmaceutical and healthcare
packaging market. Our experience in designing high-graphic content packaging for branded products provides us
with a competitive advantage when we work with drug manufacturers to design new packaging for prescription
drugs that are moving “off patent” to the over-the-counter market.

Pharmaceutical packaging is produced on segregated production lines under strict security because of the
possibility of serious damage to health if pharmaceutical products are contaminated or incorrectly labeled. A
majority of our pharmaceutical packaging facilities have [SO 9000 Series quality certification and, where
appropriate, comply with PS9000 (Pharmaceutical Packaging Materials).

Growth in the pharmaceutical and healthcare packaging market is primarily driven by new product
launches, an increasing use of lifestyle drugs, such as Viagra® and Botox®, an aging population and an increased
focus on total patient costs which are increasing government budgets for home delivery of drugs. Growth is also
influenced by legislation regarding more extensive patient information (such as leaflets, booklets and labels, and
anti-counterfeiting measures), increased over-the-counter drug sales, more pre-packaged dispensing and an increase
in the variety of available drugs.

Products of our pharmaceutical and healthcare division are distributed to the manufacturing plants of our
customers, for ultimate sale throughout the world. Qur principal pharmaceutical and healthcare customers include
operating units of Bristol-Myers Squibb Company; GlaxoSmithKline plc; Merck & Co.; Pfizer; Reckitt Benckiser
plc; Sanofi-aventis; Schering-Plough Corporation; and 3M Company.

Branded Products. We are a leading European supplier of the creative paperboard packaging desired by
multinational, branded consumer products companies in end-use markets such as alcoholic drinks, confectioneries,
foods and tobacco. Brand leaders for these products value our ability to provide sophisticated creative and structural
design, intricate graphic and embossed detail, and value-added service enhancements to differentiate and position
their products for retail sale at particular price points. Our customers frequently use packaging to emphasize a high-
quality brand image, to attract retail customers and to protect against counterfeiting. In addition, increasing
competition between premium brands results in our customers utilizing new designs, offering a broader range of
products and package sizes within brands, and revamping packaging to appeal 10 local consumer preferences.



The primary categories of branded products for which we design and manufacture paperboard packaging
include:

. Alcoholic Drinks—We are the leading supplier of paperboard packaging to alcoholic drinks
manufacturers in Europe. Our packaging products for the drinks sector include folding cartons,
spirally wound composite tubes, and self-adhesive or wet applied labels, and are generally
complex, higher-value-added products involving special finishes such as gold blocking and
embossing. Our competitive strengths in this market include our experience in designing and
manufacturing high graphic content packaging with a broad range of finishes and effects, and our
one-stop shop approach to supplying labels to complement the principal packaging application.
Our principal alcoholic drinks customers include operating units of Diageo plc, William Grant &
Sons Inc. and Pemmod Ricard S.A. Products for which we manufacture and design packaging
include international brands such as Johnnie Walker™, J&B®, Chivas Regal®, Ballentine’s®,
Glenfiddich®, Beefeater® and Baileys®. These products are distributed by our customers to
global retail markets.

. Confectioneries—We are a leading supplier of paperboard packaging to the European
confectioneries industry. A key feature of this market is the demand for innovative packaging
designs for year-end holiday and Easter products. Our competitive strengths in this market
include internationally recognized creative and structural design resources and process controls
designed to prevent taint and odor problems that could affect confectionery products. Our
principal confectioneries customers include operating units of Nestlé S.A.; Storck KG; Mars,
Incorporated; Cadbury Schweppes plc; and Chocoladefabriken Lindt & Springli AG, for their
brands which include Afier Eight®, Mars® Celebrations®, Merci® and Cadbury’s® Milk Tray®.
These products are distributed by our customers primarily to European retail markets and, more
recently, in the United States.

. Tobacco Products—We are also a supplier of paperboard packaging for the tobacco industry,
including offset and gravure cartons, carton outers, printed paper and film, and inner frame board.
Our customers, including operating units of JT International S.A.; Imperial Tobacco Group ple;
British American Tobacco plc; and Altadis, S.A., use our packaging for brands that are marketed
globally. Our competitive strengths include in-line high speed gravure printing, embossing and
gold leaf processes. Chesapeake can supply the full range of tobacco printed packaging as well as
an innovative approach to design and service. Brands which use our packaging include Benson &
Hedges® , Silk Cut®, Embassy® and Fortuna®. Product packaging has become one of the
leading promotional vehicles for tobacco products because of stringent limitations on other forms
of marketing tobacco products in many countries.

Product Design, Manufacturing and Distribution

QOur Paperboard Packaging segment generally manufactures packaging from specifications, artwork or film
supplied by customers. However, we also design, develop and manufacture new packaging concepts and structures
when requested by customers. Many of the cartons we manufacture incorporate sophisticated construction
techniques and include high graphic content, and special finishes and effects. We believe our commitment to
technological leadership in structural and graphic design and its integration with manufacturing processes is a
significant competitive strength.

We work closely with customers to develop new packaging and to refine existing packaging designs. This
involves working with external design agencies employed by customers and using our in-house technical and design
capabilities. Our packaging design centers are also used by our customers to develop and test innovative packaging
designs and graphics. Elements of the design are usually retained electronically and updated as required, enabling
design work to be undertaken at the factory and subsequently reviewed at the customer’s location. We have also
established an electronic network for design data interchange between our factories and with certain customers. The
availability of sophisticated in-house design services enhances our high quality image and improves our response
time to customer requests, particularly for new product launches.



Our manufacturing facilities are equipped with multi-color sheet and/or web-fed printing presses which,
depending on the needs of the specific plant, may include gravure, lithographic, flexographic and digital printing, In
addition, we utilize digital pre-press processes, including direct-to-plate graphic work, which eliminate the need for
film in the printing process. This facilitates the transmission of graphics throughout all of our locations to better
serve our multinational customers. Other equipment includes plate making equipment, gold blocking machines,
diecutters/embossers, folders and gluers.

The principal elements of the production process, following design, are:

Plate making: Computer-aided design systems directly produce metal print plates for lithographic printing
and produce digital files for engraving of gravure cylinders.

Die making: A computer-generated carton profile guides iasers which cut slots in wooden forms. Metal
strips are then inserted in the grooves as required, which cut and crease the cartons.

Printing: We use three primary printing techniques: lithographic, in-line flexographic and gravure.
Lithographic printing on sheet-fed paperboard is used for most printing requirements, except for high volume runs
or where certain specialty finishes or deep solid colors are required, Gravure printing is used to produce high
quality cartons which require exact print register, solid color saturation, fine line work and embossing. Gravure
printing takes place predominantly on reel-fed machines capable of handling high volumes. In-line flexographic
printing with ultraviolet drying offers a cheaper processing alternative to gravure, particularly for specialty finishes
and solid colors. We utilize smaller format printing machinery to complement larger format presses, which enables
us to undertake shorter production runs in a cost-effective manner.

Cutting and creasing: Printed sheets are fed through cut and crease machines where dies are used to cut
and crease the paperboard to form a carton.

Gluing and packing: The production process culminates, if necessary, with the application of glue to, and
the folding of, cartons, and the delivery of the finished cartons to our customers, Many customers receive cartons
unfolded and unglued, and use their own in-house machinery, sometimes on lines designed and supplied by us, to
apply glue to and fold the cartons, whiie others use their machinery to erect and fill pre-folded, pre-glued cartons.
Some customers require cartons to be delivered fully assembled, an operation which is perfermed manually.

Cartons generally are produced only to order and delivered on an agreed schedule. Delivery to customers
usually takes place immediately following completion of the production process.

Meeting customers’ increasingly complex requirements and technical specifications requires a strong
commitment to quality and attention to detail. We use statistical process control techniques to identify key areas for
improvement, including the reduction of waste and down time.

We believe we are a leader in European manufacturing practices and working disciplines. Our plants
conform to standards specific to their country and market sectors, such as PS9000, Good Manufacturing Practices
and Royal Society of Food Hygiene accreditation, A majority of our pharmaceutical packaging facilities operate to
ISO 9000 Series quality standards.

Sales and Marketing

Qur Paperboard Packaging segment’s sales result primarily from direct solicitation of existing and
prospective customers. Local management and sales personnel at each manufacturing facility are responsible for
sales and customer relationships and, where appropriate, are supported by head office sales and marketing
initiatives,

QOur marketing and sales efforts emphasize our ability to print high quality specialized packaging in a
timely manner by utilizing advanced manufacturing systems. Our packaging design staff is frequently consulted by
customers for assistance in developing new and alternative packaging concepts. We also assist our customers in the
development and acquisition of automated packaging equipment for their manufacturing facilities, which can use
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our packaging products. We actively support our sales effort by researching market trends as well as by developing
promotional materials that highlight our capabilities within specific end-use markets. Our ability to meet the rapid
delivery requirements and variable demand patterns of our customers has enhanced our competitive position with
multinational branded products companies.

We have longstanding trading relationships with many of our larger paperboard packaging customers but,
as is typical in our industry, we generally do not enter into long-term fixed-quantity supply agreements. Instead, we
have agreements or letters of intent in place with many of our larger customers, with terms of up to five years, that
specify the terms of trade and service requirements for the period of the arrangement, some of which award sole or
majority supply for specific classes of packaging products for the customer, but only to the extent the customer
requires such products. These supply arrangements are generally awarded by the larger packaging customers
through a tender process in which the customer solicits bids from several potential suppliers and selects the winning
bid based on several factors, including price and service. Typically, major packaging customers centralize their
purchasing on a global or pan-European basis and seck to obtain their packaging requirements from a limited
number of sources to maximize their efficiency. We regularly submit bids for new business or renewal of existing
business.

Raw Materials

We use a variety of raw materials in our Paperboard Packaging segment, such as paperboard, paper, inks,
foil, films and adhesives. The primary raw material for our Paperboard Packaging segment is paperboard, which is
converted to make the walls of the packaging unit. The primary paperboard grade we use is virgin folding
boxboard.

Most of our raw materials are readily available from various suppliers at competitive market prices. Raw
material prices are generally negotiated centrally, but individual factories can enter into further negotiations and
sometimes achieve better prices on specific contracts. This strategy is designed to strengthen our overall purchasing
power, while enabling each factory to retain a sufficient degree of autonomy in its purchasing decisions to take
advantage of better spot pricing offered by suppliers. We endeavor to have our customer contracts include
provisions for passing through increased raw materials costs by associating pricing increases with a raw materials
index. In 2006 we launched an initiative, known as Agile Material Sourcing, which offers our customers more
flexibility in the way they order cartons. The approach aims to improve supply chain performance for our customers
by reducing lead-times and removing risk and volatility from the carton supply process.

Plastic Packaging
Industry Overview

The plastic packaging industry manufactures and sells plastic bottles, preforms, containers, closures, films
and sheets. We compete in the plastic bottles, preforms, containers and closures segments of the industry.

Plastic bottles, containers and closures are used to store, transport, preserve and dispense a wide variety of
food, beverage and other consumer and industrial products. Manufacturers consider a number of vanables in
evaluating whether plastic containers should be used for a particular packaging application. These include cost,
compatibility with the intended contents, shelf life, flexibility of size, handling characteristics, filling and closing
speeds, processing reactions, impermeability, dent and tamper resistance and consumer preferences. Plastic’s
penetration of traditional glass, paperboard and metal packaging applications is driven by its advantages, such as
clarity, weight, strength, shatter resistance, barrier properties and ease of opening and dispensing.

Non-durable goods industries consume the majority of plastic packaging products, with beverages and food
being the largest markets. Other important packaging markets include pharmaceutical and healthcare products,
personal care items and chemical products. Factors which influence plastic packaging demand include consumer
spending, population growth, technological advancements in packaging materials, environmental and regulatory
concerns, international trade patterns and packaging product development. The popularity of smatler sized bottles in
markets ranging from soft drinks to healthcare products has also generated volume growth.
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We manufacture products from HDPE and PET resins. HDPE is heavily used for milk, .chilled juice,
closures and specialty chemical packaging because of the resin’s processing ease, moderate cost and suitable barrier
properties. PET dominates soft drink and mineral water applications because of its clarity, barrier characteristics,
availability in multiple sizes, design flexibility, competitive pricing and ability to be resealed. PET is also used for
smaller sized agrochemical bottles. Markets for HDPE bottles and containers are relatively mature, with the
products having already supplanted most competing packaging materials in applicable consumer applications. PET
bottles are expected to continue to supplant glass bottles and aluminum cans in soft drink and water markets,
especially in developing markets. As a result, PET is expected to exhibit faster growth based on the above-average
growth prospects for the various applications in which the resin is used. The primary manufacturing process is blow
molding.

Plastic containers are generally produced close to their source of demand. Suppliers range from large
multinational and multi-product companies to small manufacturers operating in a single market or geographic niche.

Products and Markets
We specialize in the design and manufacture of plastic containers, bottles, and preforms. Our markets are:
. agrochemicals and other specialty chemicals; and
. food and beverages.

Agrochemicals and Other Specialty Chemicals. We design and manufacture HDPE conventional and
fluorinated barrier containers for niche agrochemicals and other specialty chemicals markets, such as food
flavorings, beverage concentrates and industrial solvents, primarily in Europe and China. Within the speciaity
chemical markets, approximately 44% of our sales are generated by products that wtilize our proprietary in-mold
fluorinated blow-molding process. This process improves the barrier characteristics of a container by adding a
protective coating to the interior wall that shields the plastic from the effects of corrosive fluids. We believe that our
technical expertise and experience in using the fluorinated blow-molding process is an important competitive
strength in this market. Additionally, we design and manufacture PET bottles for the agrochemicals market. The
HDPE products of our agrochemicals and other specialty chemicals division are manufactured at three plants located
in three countries, and are distributed throughout Europe and Asia to the manufacturing plants of our customers, for
ultimate sale around the world. Our HDPE plant in mainland China is a joint venture with Canada Rotam
International Company Limited, in which we own a 50% interest. Our new plant in Peremarton-gyartelep, Hungary,
of which we own 51%, is a joint venture with Chemark Termeld és Kereskedd Kft.. Qur principal customers for
agrochemicals and other specialty chemicals packaging include operating units of Syngenta AG and Dow
AgroSciences LLC.

Food and Beverages. We are a leading supplier of plastic beverage packaging in Ireland and South Africa.
We design and manufacture blow molded PET plastic bottles and preforms for soft drink and mineral water plants in
sub-Saharan Africa and the Indian Ocean Region. We are a leading supplier of PET soft drink bottles in South
Africa and have recently installed capacity to produce the first multilayer PET barrier preforms in sub-Saharan
Africa. We are also the leading supplier of HDPE milk bottles in Ireland. We expect that the market for plastic
beverage containers will continue to grow, as: dairies continue to shift from glass and paper to HDPE packaging for
mitk products; beverage manufacturers shift from glass bottles and aluminum cans to PET plastic bottles for soft
drinks and water; and consumption of those beverages increases. Qur principal beverage customers are operating
units of The Coca-Cola Company; PepsiCo Inc.; Ekhamanzi Springs (Pty) Ltd; Glanbia plc and Dale Farm Ltd.

We also design and manufacture HDPE plastic bottles for the pharmaceutical and healthcare market,
primarily at our plants in Cavan, Ireland and Kunshan, China. We work closely with our customers to design
innovative packaging solutions that enhance manufacturing efficiency while also improving brand identity. We
emphasize our ability to provide plastic packaging, together with folding cartons, leaflets and labels manufactured
by our Paperboard Packaging segment, to deliver supply-chain synergies to our pharmaceutical and healthcare
customers, Qur principal pharmaceutical and healthcare customers for our Plastic Packaging segment include
operating units of General Electric Company; GlaxoSmithKline ple; Millipore and Stiefel Laboratories, Inc.
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Product Design, Manufacturing and Distribution

Our Plastic Packaging segment produces containers, bottles and preforms designed in-house or from
designs supplied by customers.

We continually seek process improvements and opportunities for further automation to reduce costs and
improve our profitability and competitive position. Our efforts focus on increasing line speeds, reducing energy
consumption and shortening turnaround times. Our materials research stresses lowering product cost through the
development of lighter weight bottles and improving container characteristics such as barrier properties, strength and
moisture resistance.

Bottle design capabilities also are available at our individual plants, supported by computer aided design
and testing of in-house developments carried out in our ISO 9000 Series certified laboratories. New developments
and improvements are shared between the plants.

Our plastic containers are made primarily from PET and HDPE, and serve a wide variety of markets. The
PET containers are used predominantly for soft drinks, still and sparkling waters and agrochemicals. The HDPE
containers are used for agrochemicals, other specialty chemicals, and healthcare and dairy products.

The quality and technical properties of PET enable it to be blown into containers with high barrier
properties, which limits the loss of carbon dioxide from soft drinks and the ingress of oxygen and other substances
that can affect product quality. In recent years, we have developed process capabilities to offer our PET customers
lighter weight bottles, improved barrier performance and preforms which reheat faster resulting in lower energy
consumption during the blowing process.

PET conversion from raw plastic resin is carried out in our plants in South Africa, France, Mauritius and
China. PET is injection molded to create preforms that are subsequently blow molded into bottles, either in our
manufacturing facilities or at our customers’ plants. PET granules are heated and then forced into a mold that forms
the preform to the required shape. Preforms are then stored before being converted to boitles.

Conversion of the preforms into bottles takes place at our plants in South Africa, France, the United
Kingdom and China. Preforms are loaded into the blow-molding machine and heated individually using infra-red
lamps. Precise control of these lamps enables the wall thickness in the bottle to be accurately controlled. Heated
preforms are placed into a blow mold and simultaneously blown with high-pressure air and stretched with a
mechanical rod to create the desired bottle.

For specialty chemicals and agrochemicals that include aggressive constituents, we manufacture HDPE
bottles and containers using fluorinated blow-molding to enhance the barrier characteristics of the container wall.

Extrusion blow-molding of HDPE containers takes place at our plants in the United Kingdom, France,
Ireland, China and Hungary, with fluorinated barrier containers produced at all these locations except Ireland. Raw
HDPE granules are heated and extruded. For fluorinated containers, each extrusion is then blown into the mold with
a fluorine and nitrogen gas mixture. For conventional containers, the extrusions are blown into the mold with air.
Containers are then leak tested before delivery to customers. Containers produced in our specialty chemicals plastic
packaging facilities are also certified by the United Nations and other industry groups for transporting and storing
hazardous materials.

Plastic containers generally are produced to order and delivered pursuant to an agreed schedule. Delivery to
customers usually takes place immediately following completion of the production process. As a result, order
backlog is not substantial.

Sales and Marketing

Our Plastic Packaging segment’s sales result primarity from direct customer contacts by plant managing
directors and a dedicated sales force,
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Our marketing and sales efforts emphasize our ability to react quickly to changing customer demand
patterns and to supply products manufactured to the highest industry standards of quality and performance. Our
design and packaging development staff work closely with customers to improve product performance and reduce
product costs. This includes reductions in product weight while maintaining agreed performance criteria. We
actively support our sales effort with market research to identify potential opportunities and market trends across our
businesses, as well as developing promotional materials that highlight our capabilities within specific end-use
markets.

We have longstanding trading relationships with many of our larger plastic packaging customers but, as is
typical in this industry, we generally do not enter into long-term fixed-quantity supply agreements. Instead, we have
agreements or letters of intent in place with many of our larger customers that specify the terms of trade and service
requirements for the period of the arrangement, some of which award sole or majority supply for specific classes of
packaging products for the customer, but only to the extent the customer requires such products. These supply
arrangements are generally awarded by the larger packaging customers through a tender process in which the
customer solicits bids from several potential suppliers and selects the winning bid based on several factors, including
price and service. We regularly submit bids for new business or renewal of existing business.

Raw Materials

We use a variety of raw materials in our Plastic Packaging segment, including raw PET and HDPE plastic
resins. Raw materials for our Plastic Packaging segment are readily available from various suppliers at competitive
market prices. We believe that we maintain a supply chain that is adequate to meet our inventory demands, but
there is no assurance that this will be true in the future. Our gross profit may be affected by fluctuations in resin
prices. However, negotiations with customers can generally permit changes in resin prices to be passed through to
most of our customers through appropriate changes in product pricing. We endeavor to have our customer contracts
include provisions for passing through increased raw materials costs by associating pricing increases with a raw
materials index.

Competition

Competition is intense in the markets served by our Paperboard Packaging and Plastic Packaging segments,
both from large companies and from local and regional producers. We compete by differentiating ourselves through
product design, process capabilities, operational competence and exceptional customer service. See “~—Competitive
Strengths.”

Major paperboard packaging competitors include operating units of Akerlund & Rausing; Algroup; Amcor
Limited; Mayr-Melnhof Karton AG; Nampak Ltd.; Van Genechten Packaging; Catalent Pharma Solutions; and
MeadWestvaco Corporation. In addition, in response to customer demand for pan-European sources of supply in
pharmaceutical and healthcare markets, some smaller producers have also entered into pan-European trading
alliances. Examples of such alliances include Copapharm Europe (an alliance of British, German, Spanish, French,
Italian and Swiss carton manufacturers which supplies folding cartons to the European pharmaceutical industry) and
Pharmapact (an alliance of British, German, French and italian multi-product manufacturers which supplies folding
cartons, microflute corrugated board, labels, leaflets and specialized systems to the European pharmaceutical

industry).

Major plastic packaging competitors include operating units of Huhtamaki Van Leer; Nampak Ltd.; RPC
Group plc; Amcor Limited; and Promens.

Custemers

We have many customers that buy our products and we are not dependent on any single customer, or group
of customers, in any of our business segments. No single customer represents more than 10% of our total net sales.
Longstanding relationships exist with many customers who place orders on a continuing basis, and we regularly
submit bids to customers for new business or renewal of existing business. The loss of business or the award of new
business from our larger customers may have a significant impact on our results of operations. Because of the
nature of our businesses, order backlogs are not large.




Employees

During 2007 we employed an average of 5,461 employees, and at December 30, 2007, we had 5,427
employees. Some of our employees are represented by various trade unions or workers’ councils in each of the
countries in which we operate. We believe that our relations with our employees are generally good.

Seasonality

Our Paperboard Packaging segment competes in several end-use markets, such as alcoholic drinks and
confectioneries, that are seasonal in nature. As a result, our Paperboard Packaging segment earnings stream is
seasonal, with peak operational activity during the third and fourth quarters of the year. Our Plastic Packaging
segment’s markets include beverage and agrochemical markets in the southern hemisphere, and agrochemical
markets in the northern hemisphere, that are seasonal in nature. As a result, our Plastic Packaging segment earnings
stream is also seasonal, with peak operational activity during the first and fourth quarters of the year.

Research and Development

We conduct continuing technical research and development projects relating to new products and
improvements of existing products and processes. Expenditures for research and development activities are not
material.

Trademarks and Intellectual Property

We believe that our success depends, in part, on maintaining and enhancing our proprietary technical
expertise. As a standard practice, we obtain legal protections we believe are appropriate for our intellectual
property, but legally protected intellectual property rights are not material for our business. We are not aware of any
legal proceedings that have been brought against us for infringement of a patent or trademark.

Compliance with Environmental Regulations

The subsidiary that comprised our former Tissue segment has been identified by the U.S. federal
government and the State of Wisconsin as a potentially responsible party with respect to possible natural resource
damages and remediation and restoration liability in the Fox River and Green Bay System in Wisconsin. In
connection with the disposition of the assets of that subsidiary, we retained liability for, and the third party
indemnity rights associated with, discharges of polychlorinatedbiphenyls (commonly referred to as “PCBs”) and
other hazardous materials in the Fox River and Green Bay System. We and other potentially responsible parties are
currently engaged in the investigation and remediation of this location. Given the many uncertainties associated
with the nature and scope of the remediation effort that will ultimately be required, and uncertainties associated with
the possible recovery of the cost of such efforts from third parties, we cannot assure you that the ultimate costs
related to this site will not have a material adverse affect on our results. (See “Notel4 — Commitments and
Contingencies” of [tem 8, incorporated herein by reference.)

Availability of Reports, Certain Committee Charters and Other Information

Our website address is www.chesapeakecorp.com. We make available on this website, free of charge,
access to our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and
amendments to those reports, as well as other documents that we file with or furnish to the Securities and Exchange
Commission (the “SEC”) pursuant to Sections 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended,
as soon as reasonably practicable after such documents are filed with, or furnished to, the SEC. The information on
our website is not, and shall not be deemed to be, a part of this report or incorporated into any other filings we make
with the SEC.

Our Corporate Governance Concepts and Policies, including the charters for the Executive, Audit,

Executive Compensation, and Corporate Governance and Nominating Committees, as well as the Code of Ethics for
the Corporation’s Chief Executive Officer and Senior Financial Officers, are available on our website at
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www.chesapeakecorp.com. We will also provide printed copies of these materials to any stockholder, upon request
to Chesapeake Corporation, P.O. Box 2350, Richmond, Virginia, 23218-2350, Attention: Corporate Secretary.

Because our common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange ("NYSE"), our chief executive
officer is required to make, and has made, an annual certification to the NYSE stating that he was not aware of any
violation by us of the corporate governance listing standards of the NYSE. Our chief executive officer made his
annual certification to that effect to the NYSE as of May 14, 2007 and an interim written affirmation was filed on
December 14, 2007. In addition, we have filed, as exhibits to this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the certifications of
our principal executive officer and principal financial officer required under Sections 906 and 302 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002 regarding the quality of our public disclosure.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

You should consider the following risk factors in evaluating us and our business. Any of the following
risks, as well as other risks and uncertainties, could harm our business and financial results and cause the value of
our securities to decline. The risks below are not the only ones facing our company. Additional risks not currently
known to us or that we currently deem immaterial also may impair our business.

Risks Related to Our Substantial Indebtedness and Our Common Stock i

Our substantial indebtedness could adversely affect our cash flow and our ability to fulfill our obligations under our
indebtedness.

We and our subsidiaries have a substantial amount of indebtedness. Our substantial leverage could have
significant consequences to you, For example, it could:

» make it more difficult for us to generate sufficient cash to satisfy our obligations with respect to our
indebtedness;

* increase our vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions;
+ limit our ability to obtain additional financing or to refinance our senior credit facility;

* require us to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to payments on our
indebtedness, reducing the amount of our cash flow available for other purposes, including capital
expenditures, acquisitions and other general corporate purposes;

+ require us to sell debt or equity securities or to sell some of our core assets, possibly on less than favorable
terms, to meet debt payment obligations;

* restrict us from making strategic acquisitions or exploiting business opportunities;
+ limit our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and our industry;
» place us at a competitive disadvantage compared to our competitors that have less debt; and

* expose us to risks that are inherent in interest rate fluctuations because a part of our indebtedness bears
variable rates of interest.

Ta service our indebtedness, we will require a significant amount of cash. Qur ability to generate cash depends on
many factors beyond our control.,

Our ability to make payments on, and to refinance, our indebtedness and to fund working capital needs and
planned capital expenditures will depend on our ability to generate cash in the future. Our ability to generate cash,
to a certain extent, is subject to general economic, financial, competitive, legislative, regulatory and other factors
that are beyond our control.

We cannot assure you that our business will generate sufficient cash flow from operations, that currently
anticipated cost savings and operating improvements will be realized on schedule or that future borrowings will be
available to us in amounts sufficient to enable us to pay our indebtedness or to fund our other liquidity needs.
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Restrictive covenants in our senior credit fucility and our other indebtedness could adversely affect our business by
limiting our operating and strategic flexibility.

Our senior credit facility contains restrictive covenants that include limits on our ability to prepay our other
indebtedness, limits on liens and limits on mergers and asset sales. Our senior credit facility also requires us to
maintain specified financial ratios. Our ability to meet those financial ratios can be affected by a deterioration in our
operating results, as well as by events beyond our control, including economic conditions, and we cannot assure you
that we will meet those ratios. A breach of any of these covenants, ratios or restrictions could result in an event of
default under our senior credit facility and any of our other indebtedness that may be cross-defaulted to our senior
credit facility. Upon the occurrence of an event of default under the senior credit facility or such other indebtedness,
the lenders could terminate their commitment to lend and elect to declare all amounts outstanding under such
indebtedness, together with accrued interest, to be immediately due and payable. If these lenders accelerate the
payment of that indebtedness or foreclose on the collateral, we cannot assure you that our assets would be sufficient
to repay in full that indebtedness and our other debt.

The indentures for our indebtedness, including our senior subordinated notes, contain restrictive covenants
that limit our ability to:

« incur additional indebtedness;

« pay dividends or make distributions in respect of capital stock;
« purchase or redeem capital stock;

« make investments or certain other restricted payments;

« create liens;

* sell assets;

= issue or sell stock of restricted subsidiaries;

« enter into transactions with shareholders or affiliates; and

+ effect a consolidation or merger.

These covenants could have an adverse effect on our business by limiting our ability to take advantage of financing,
mergers and acquisitions or other corporate opportunities.

We are a holding company and are dependent upon interest income and loans from our subsidiaries to meet our
debt service obligations and pay dividends, if declared, on our common stock.

We are a United States holding company and conduct all of our operations through our subsidiaries, most
of which are located in other countries. Our ability to meet our debt service obligations and pay dividends, if
declared, on our common stock will therefore be dependent on receipt of interest income and loans or repayment of
loans from our direct and indirect subsidiaries. Subject to the restrictions contained in the indentures governing our
senior subordinated notes, future borrowings by our subsidiaries may contain restrictions or prohibitions on the
payment of interest income and loans or repayment of loans by our subsidiaries to us. In particular, there are
significant tax and other legal restrictions on the ability of non-U.S. subsidiaries to remit money to us. As a result,
our subsidiaries may not be able to pay interest income and loans or repayment of loans to us. If they do not, we may
not be able to make debt service payments or pay dividends, if declared, on our common stock.

Risks Related to Our Business
Our business and financial performance may be harmed by future increases in raw material costs.

The primary raw material for our Paperboard Packaging segment is paperboard, which is converted to
make the walls of the packaging unit. The primary raw materials for our Plastic Packaging segment are raw PET and
HDPE plastic resins, which are converted to form plastic preforms, bottles, and containers. The primary raw
materials used in our business are commeodities that are subject to cyclical price fluctuations, which could harm our
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business. The cyclical nature of paperboard, HDPE and PET pricing presents a potential risk to our profit margins
because we may not be able to immediately pass through price increases to our customers. Moreover, an increase in
the selling prices for the products we produce resulting from a pass-through of increased raw materials costs could
reduce the volume of units we sell and decrease our revenues.

Competition in specialty packaging markets could harm our financial condition and results of operations.

Competition is intense in the paperboard and plastic packaging markets that we serve, both from large
companies and from local and regional producers and converters. Some of these competitors have substantially
greater resources than we do. This competition from existing paperboard and plastic packaging suppliers could harm
our financial condition and results of operations.

Additionally, we face the threat of increased competition in the future from new entrants from outside the
packaging industry, as well as from existing packaging suppliers, because there are limited barriers to entry for
supplying paperboard and plastic packaging to many of the end-use markets that we serve. Capital costs are low, and
there are only moderate intellectual property and technological barriers. As a result, it can be difficult for us to
increase prices because, if we increase prices above a competitive level, customers can change to a new supplier.

Our Paperboard Packaging and Plastic Packaging segments also face competition from producers of
packaging made from other matertals that are suitable for packaging. Qur Paperboard Packaging segment faces
competition from producers of packaging using metals, foils, glass and plastics, and our Plastic Packaging segment
faces competition from producers of packaging using paperboard, foils, glass and metals. The prices that we can
charge for paperboard and plastic packaging are therefore constrained by the availability of substitutes such as metal
and glass packaging. With increased competition, we may be required to lower prices, which may reduce our
margins and profitability.

Our business and financial performance may be adversely affected by the relocation of our customers’ plants and
manufacturing capacity.

Packaging plants are typically located in reasonable proximity to customers’ manufacturing facilities to
reduce transportation costs and facilitate on-time delivery of the packaging. Our packaging plants are concentrated
in Western Europe, geographically located near the manufacturing facilities of our major customers. For various
reasons, including shifts in market demand and the ability to reduce labor costs, some of our major customers may
relocate all or a portion of their manufacturing capacity. Such relocation may adversely affect our ability to
competitively supply our customers. Additionally, a reduction in customer demand may create additional
competitive pressures from local industry over-capacity.

Our business and financial performance may be adversely affected by our inability to effectively implement
restructuring and cost saving initiatives.

In November 2005, we announced plans for a global cost savings program targeting pre-tax savings of $25
million on an annualized basis. The program included the closure or consolidation of several facilities, broad-based
workforce and overhead reductions, as well as cost savings from improvements to operating processes. This
program was completed during 2007 and additional restructuring and cost savings actions are being considered for
2008. Projected costs and savings associated with these initiatives are subject to a variety of risks, including:

+ costs to effect initiatives contemplated may exceed estimates;

*+ initiatives we are contemplating may require consultation with various works councils, employee
representatives or regulators, and such consultations may influence the timing, costs and extent of expected
savings;

* initiatives will also require close coordination with customers with respect to the transfer of existing
business to other company locations, and certain business may not ultimately be retained as a result of
possible closures or consolidations of facilities;

* we may lose skilled employees in connection with the initiatives; and
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»  projected savings, including proceeds from sales of related real estate and other assets, contemplated under
this program may fall short of targets.

If we are unable to effectively implement further restructuring and cost savings initiatives, our revenues, financial
position and profitability will be adversely affected.

Our business may suffer from risks related to potential fitture acquisitions.

The operations of our company have substantially changed over the last several years through the
divestiture of our commodity paper products, forest products and corrugated packaging businesses and the
acquisition of our existing specialty packaging operations. Substantiatly all of our existing specialty packaging
operations were acquired through a series of acquisitions. As part of our business strategy, over the next few years,
we may expand our network of packaging facilities, which is now located primarily in Europe, through acquisitions,
new facilities, joint ventures or alliances involving complementary business in both developed and emerging
markets. We cannot assure you that we will be able to successfully integrate any future acquisitions, which could
adversely impact our long-term competitiveness and profitability.

Any future acquisitions will involve a number of risks that could harm our financial condition, results of
operations and competitive position. In particular:

« The integration process could disrupt the activities of the businesses that are being combined. The
combination of the businesses or plants may require, among other things, coordination of administrative and
other functions and consolidation of production capacity. Plant consolidation may strain our ability to
deliver products of acceptable quality in a timely manner from consolidated facilities. We may experience
attrition among the skilled labor force at the companies acquired in reaction to being acquired and in
reaction to our consolidation of plants.

+ The execution of our integration plans may divert the attention of our management from operating our
business.

»  We may assume known and unanticipated liabilities and contingencies.

»  Future acquisitions could cause a reduction of our reported earnings per share because of the issuance of
additional securities or debt, increased interest costs, goodwill write-offs and increased income tax rates.

With respect to our strategic plan to grow in part through acquisitions, we cannot assure you that we will be
able to identify suitable acquisitions at acceptable prices or that we will have access to sufficient capital to take
advantage of desirable acquisitions. We cannot assure you that our future acquisitions will have revenues, profits or
productivity comparable to those of our past acquisitions. Future acquisitions may require substantial capital.
Although we expect to use borrowings under our senior credit facility to pursue these opportunities, we cannot
assure you that such borrowings will be available in sufficient amounts or that other financing will be available in
amounts and on terms that we deem acceptable, In addition, our senior credit facility and indentures governing the
senior subordinated notes impose, and our future indebtedness may impose, limitations on our ability to enter into
acquisitions, alliances or joint ventures. Our financial performance and the condition of the capital markets will
affect the value of our common stock, which could make it a less attractive form of consideration for making
acquisitions. If we cannot identify suitable acquisitions or if we cannot access sufficient capital to take advantage of
such acquisitions, we may have to curtail our strategic plan for growth through acquisitions, which could limit our
ability to achieve our targeted competitive strategic position and have a material adverse impact on our long-term
success.

If we fail to maintain satisfactory relationships with our larger packaging customers, our business may be harmed.

We generally do not enter into long-term fixed quantity supply agreements with our main customers. Many
of our larger packaging customers are multinational companies that purchase large quantities of packaging materials.
Typically, major packaging customers centralize their purchasing on a pan-European basis and seek to obtain their
packaging requirements from a limited number of sources to achieve maximum efficiency. Many of these
companies are sophisticated purchasers with centralized procurement departments. They generally enter into supply
arrangements through a tender process that solicits bids from several potential suppliers and selects the winning bid
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based on several attributes, including price and service. Generally the supply arrangements (usually for terms of one
to five years) specify the terms of trade and service requirements for the period of the arrangement and some award
sole or preferred supply for specific classes of packaging products for the customer, but only to the extent the
customer requires such products. The significant negotiating leverage possessed by many of our customers and
potential customers limits our ability to negotiate supply arrangements with favorable terms and creates pricing
pressure, reducing margins industry wide. We regularly submit bids for new business or renewal of existing
business. The loss of one or more of our larger customers, or reduced orders by any of our larger customers, could
harm our business and results of operations. Moreover, our customers may vary their order levels significantly from
period to period, and customers may not continue to place orders with us in the future at the same levels as in prior
periods. Because of the nature of our business, order backlogs are not large. In the event we lose any of our larger
customers, we may not be able to rapidly replace that revenue source, which could harm our financial results.

Our business and financial performance may be adversely affected by downturns in the target markets that we serve.

Demand for our specialty packaging products in the principal end-use markets we serve is primarily driven
by consumer consumption of the products sold in the packages we produce, which is often affected by general
cconomic conditions. The primary end-use markets for our Paperboard Packaging segment are pharmaceutical and
healthcare and branded products (such as alcoholic drinks, confectioneries, foods and tobacco), while the primary
end-use markets for our Plastic Packaging segment are agrochemicals and other specialty chemicals, and food and
beverages. Downturns in these sectors could result in decreased demand for our products. In particular, our business
may be adversely affected during periods of economic weakness by the general sofiness in these consumer markets.
Our resuits could be adversely affected if economic conditions weaken. These conditions are beyond our ability to
control and have had, and may continue to have, a significant impact on our sales and results of operations,

We may be adversely affected by seasonal sales cycles.

Demand for goods in several of our target end-use markets, especially alcoholic drinks and confectioneries
is typically strongest during the first and fourth fiscal quarters due to the increase in orders placed in preparation for
the year-end holiday and Easter shopping seasons. Demand for our paperboard packaging products from customers
in these end-use markets is therefore typically strongest during our third and fourth fiscal quarters. We generally
ship a majority of our paperboard packaging products to customers in these end-use markets in the third and fourth
fiscal quarters. If these customers anticipate soft year-end holiday or Easter sales, this may result in reduced sales of
our paperboard packaging products, which could have an adverse effect on our results of operations for that year.
Our borrowing needs are greatest in the first and second fiscal quarters due to reduced seasonal cash flow from our
business. We typically generate nearly all of our cash from operating activities in the second half of our fiscal year,
and use cash in operating activities during the first half of the year as a result of our working capital needs.

We conduct the majority of our operations in non-U.S. countries, and our aperating results are highly dependent on
our non-U.S. sales and operations, which exposes us to various risks.

We conduct the majority of our operations in non-U.S. countries, which exposes us to risks from changes in
the political, economic and financial environments in those countries. Sales to customers cutside North America
accounted for over 90% of our net revenues during each of the last three years. In addition, one of our strategies for
increasing our revenues depends on expansion into additional non-U.S. markets. Our non-U.S. sales and operations
are subject to a variety of risks, including:

* fluctuations in currency exchange rates or imposition of currency exchange controls;
» difficulties in staffing and managing non-U.S. operations;
« inflexible local labor markets and work rules;

* costs (such as labor, raw materials and equipment costs) that fluctuate in the countries in which we do
business because such costs are denominated in non-U.S. currencies;

* issues relating to uncertainties of laws and enforcement relating to pensions and the protection of intellectual
property;
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+ changes in trading policies and regulatory requirements, including export license requirements, trade
barriers, tariffs and tax laws;

« language and cultural differences;
» general political and economic conditions and trends in non-U.S. markets;

+ expropriation of assets, including bank accounts, intellectual property and physical assets, by nen-U.S.
governments;

» greater risk of uncollectible accounts; and

» longer collection cycles.

Accordingly, we may not be able to successfully execute our business plan in non-U.S. markets. If we are
unable to achieve anticipated levels of revenues from our non-U.S. operations, our revenues and profitability will
decline.

We are subject to many environmental laws and regulations that require significant expenditures for compliance
and remediation efforts, and changes in the law could increase those expenses and adversely affect our operations.

Compliance with the environmental and the health and safety requirements of non-U.S. and U.S. federal,
state and local govemments significantly affects our business. Among other things, these requirements regulate the
discharge of materials into the water, air and land and govern the use and disposal of hazardous substances. Under
certain environmental laws, we can be held strictly liable for hazardous substance contamination of any real property
we have ever owned, operated or used as a disposal site or for natural resource damages associated with such
contamination. We have a policy of assessing real property for environmental risks prior to purchase. We regularly
make capital and operating expenditures to stay in compliance with environmental laws. We are also required to
maintain various environmental permits and licenses, many of which require periedic modification and renewal.
Despite these compliance efforts, the risk of environmental liability, including the possible imposition of fines and
penalties stemming from non-compliance with environmental laws, permits or licenses, is part of the nature of our
business. We cannot assure you that environmental liabilities, including compliance and remediation costs, will not
have a material adverse effect on us in the future. In addition, future events may lead to additional compliance or
other costs that could have a material adverse effect on our business. Such future events could include changes in, or
new interpretations of, existing laws, regulations or enforcement policies; additional information or facts surfacing
with respect to existing investigations or the identification of as yet unknown contamination; further investigation of
the potential health hazards of certain products or business activities; or the adoption of new laws, regulations or
permitting requirements.

The subsidiary that comprised our former Tissue segment has been identified by the U.S. federal
government and the State of Wisconsin as a potentially responsible party with respect to possible natural resource
damages and remediation and restoration liabitity in the Fox River and Green Bay System in Wisconsin. In
connection with the disposition of the assets of that subsidiary, we retained liability for, and the third party
indemnity rights associated with, discharges of PCBs and other hazardous materials in the Fox River and Green Bay
System. We and other potentially responsible parties are currently engaged in the investigation and remediation of
this location. Given the many uncertainties associated with the nature and scope of the remediation effort that will
ultimately be required, and uncertainties associated with the possible recovery of the cost of such efforts from third
parties, we cannot assure you that the ultimate costs related to this site will not have a material adverse effect on our
results. See “Note 14—Commitments and Contingencies” of Item 8, incorporated herein by reference.

We depend on certain key personnel, and the loss of any key personnel may seriously harm our business.

Our future success depends in large part on the continued service of our key technical and management
personnel and on our ability to continue to attract and retain qualifted employees, particularly those highly skilled
employees involved in the design and manufacture of existing products and the development of new products and
processes. The competition for such personnel is intense, and the loss of key employees could harm our business.
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Future government regulations and judicial decisions affecting the packaging we produce or the products shipped in
the packaging we produce could significantly reduce demand for our packaging products.

Government regulations and judicial decisions that affect the packaging we produce or the products
shipped in the packaging we produce could significantly reduce demand for our packaging products. Future
legislation could also limit the use of secondary packaging, such as limiting the sale of bottles of alcoholic drinks in
paperboard boxes. If such legislation becomes law, it could significantly reduce demand for many of our paperboard
packaging products and adversely affect our sales.

Anti-takeover provisions under Virginia law and in our articles of incorporation and our bylaws may negatively
affect the price of our common stock.

The Virginia Stock Corporation Act, our articles of incorporation and our bylaws contain various
provisions that may make it more difficult for a third party to acquire, or may discourage acquisition bids for, our
company. Among other things, these provisions:

¢ divide our board of directors into three classes of directors serving staggered three-year terms;

e provide that directors may be removed only by the affirmative vote of the holders of at lcast 80% of the
outstanding shares of our common stock (which required vote may only be changed by the affirmative vote
of a majority of our continuing directors and the holders of two-thirds of our outstanding common stock);

e require the affirmative vote of holders of at least 80% of our outstanding shares of common stock to
approve certain business combinations; and

e require approval of material acquisition transactions (such as mergers, share exchanges, and material
dispositions of corporate assets not in the ordinary course of business) between our company and any
holder of more than 10 percent of any class of our outstanding voting shares by the holders of at least two-
thirds of the remaining voting shares of ocur company.,

These provisions could have the effect of discouraging a potential acquirer from making a tender offer or
otherwise attempting to obtain control of our company and could limit the price that investors would be willing to
pay in the future for shares of our common stock.

The ultimate resolution of the Internal Revenue Service’s proposed adjustments relating to our tax treatment of our
disposition of assets of Wisconsin Tissue Mills Inc. could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition
or results of operations.

The Internal Revenue Service (“IRS™) has proposed Federal income tax adjustments relating to a transfer of
assets in 1999 by our subsidiary, Wisconsin Tissue Mills, Inc., now WTM 1 Company, to a joint venture with
Georgia-Pacific Corporation. The IRS issued a Notice of Deficiency based on those adjustments on May 25, 2006.
Taking into account corretative adjustments to the Corporation’s tax liability in other years, the amount in dispute,
including interest through December 30, 2007, is approximately $35 million.

We intend to defend our position vigorously with respect to the asserted deficiency. We have estimated our
maximum potential exposure with respect to the matter to be approximately $35 million; however, we continue to
believe that our tax treatment of the transaction was appropriate and that we should prevail in this dispute with the
IRS. We do not expect that the ultimate resolution of this matter will have a material adverse effect on our financial
condition or results of operation.

We have pension and postretirement plans that require annual actuarial valuations, and changes to the assumptions
used in the actuarial valuations could adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.

We have significant pension and postretirement benefit costs that are developed from actuarial valuations.
The actuarial valuations employ key assumptions that are particularly important when determining our projected
liabilities for pension and other postretirement benefits. Discount rates are used to determine the present value of
future payments. In general, our liability increases as the discount rate decreases and vice versa. A lower expected
return on plan assets increases the amount of pension expense and vice versa. Decreases in the level of actual plan
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assets will also serve to increase the amount of pension expense. Pension expense and liabilities would be higher
with a higher compensation increase. Discount rates are determined from analyses provided by the actuary of Aa
rated bonds for U.S. plans and other relative bond indices for non-U.S, Management develops assumptions with the
assistance of independent actuaries. In addition, changes in our pension and postretirement plans funded status may
impact required levels of future employer contributions.

The information presented in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results
of Operations—Risk Management” of Item 7, “Note 8—Financial Instruments and Risk Concentration™ of Item &,
and “Note 14—Commitments and Contingencies” of Item 8 are incorporated herein by reference.

Item 1B.  Unresolved Staff Comments

None.
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Ttem 2. Properties

We believe that our production facilities are well maintained, in good operating condition and utilized at
practical capacities that vary in accordance with product mixes, market conditions and machine configurations.
From time to time, we also lease additional warehouse space and sales offices on an as-needed basis. A summary of
our primary locations is presented below.

Paperboard Packaging
Belgium: Bornem, Brussels, Gent |

England: Bourne, Bradford, Bristol*, Greenford*, Leicester, Loughborough*, Newcastle, Nottingham,
Portsmouth*, Tewkesbury*, Thatcham*

France: Angouléme, Lisses, St. Pierre des Corps, Ussel

Germany: Diiren, Hiddenhausen*, Melle, Neu-Isenburg, Stuttgart

Nethertands: Oss

Northern Ireland: Belfast

People’s Republic of China: Kunshan*

Republic of Ireland: Dublin*, Limerick, Westport

Scotland: East Kilbride, Hamilton*, Hillington*

Spain: Madrid* \

United States: Lake Success, NY*; Lexington, NC; Raleigh, NC*

Wales: Wrexham*

Plastic Packaging
England: Crewe

France: St Etienne

Hungary: Peremarton-gyartelep***
Mauritius: Port Louis*

People’s Republic of China: Kunshan**
Republic of Ireland: Cavan

South Africa: Cape Town*, Harrismith*

Corporate Offices
England: Amersham****

United States: Richmond, VA*
* Leased facility.
**  Facility owned by a joint venture in which we own a 50% interest.
***  Facility owned by a joint venture in which we own a 51% interest.
*+++ Two buildings, one of which is leased.
Item 3. Legal Proceedings
We are a party to various legal actions, which are ordinary and incidental to our business. While the
outcome of legal actions cannot be predicted with certainty, we believe the outcome of any of these proceedings, or
all of them combined, will not have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position or results of

operations.

In addition, the information presented in “Note 14 — Commitments and Contingencies” of Item 8 is
incorporated herein by reference.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

None.
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Item X, Executive Officers of the Registrant

The name and age of each executive officer of the Company as of February 29, 2008, together with a brief
description of the principal occupation or employment of each such person during the past five years, is set forth
below. Executive officers serve at the pleasure of the board of directors and are generally elected at each annual
organizational meeting of the board of directors.

Andrew J. Kohut (49)
President & Chief Executive Officer since November 2005
President (January 2005-November 2005)
Executive Vice President & Chief Financial Officer (2001-2004)

J. P. Causey Jr. (64)
Executive Vice President, Secretary & General Counsel since 2001

Joel K. Mostrom (51}
Executive Vice President & Chief Financial Officer since July 2007
Senior Vice President & Chief Financial Officer (2005 — July 2007)
Vice President & Treasurer (2002-2004)

Michael Cheetham (50)
Vice President — Pharmaceutical & Healthcare Packaging since July 2007
Divisional Director — International and Branded Products (2006 — July 2007)
Divisional Director — International, Branded and Beverage Products (June 2005 — December 2005)
Divisional Director — Food and Household {April 2003 — June 2005)
Director ~ Food and Household {2002 — April 2003)

Timothy D. Whitfield (44)
Vice President — Branded Products Packaging since July 2007
Divisional Director — Plastics and Tobacco (2006 — July 2007)
Divisional Director — Tobacco (August 2004 — 2005)
Managing Director — France and Benelux (September 2003 — August 2004)
Managing Director — Labels GB (2002 — September 2003)

Vincent W. Hockett (45)
Vice President ~ Plastic Packaging & Business Development since July 2007
Managing Director — Strategic Business Development (2005 — July 2007)
President & Chicf Executive Officer, Invesprint Corporation, a Canadian manufacturer of labels (2003-
2004)

PARTII

Item 5, Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of
Equity Securities :

Our common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “CSK”. As of February
29, 2008, there were 4,019 holders of record of the Company’s common stock. The following table sets forth the
high and low closing prices per share for our common stock and dividend per share information for the last two
years:
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Market Price

Dividends
High Low Declared
2007
First quarter $18.68 $13.55 $0.22
Second quarter 16.07 12.14 —
Third quarter 13.21 8.32 —
Fourth quarter 9.20 4.81 —
2006
First quarter $17.27 $13.08 $0.22
Second quarter 16.48 13.13 022
Third quarter 16.78 12.94 —
Fourth quarter 17.50 13.72 0.44

On May |, 2007 the Board of Directors suspended the payment of dividends subsequent to the cash
dividend paid on May 15, 2007 in light of the incremental cash requirements of our growth initiatives and the
additional investment required to continue to improve our cost structure. The payment of future dividends, and the
amount thereof, will depend upon our future earnings, financial condition, capital needs and other factors deemed
relevant by our Board of Directors and will be subject to restrictions and limitations contained in our indentures.
See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Liquidity and

Capital Resources” of Item 7.

The following table provides information regarding equity compensation to our employees, officers,
directors and other persons under our equity compensation plans as of December 30, 2007.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

Number of securities to

be issued upon exercise

of outstanding options,
warrants and rights

Plan category (a)

Weighted-average

outstanding options,
warrants and rights

Number of securities
remaining available for
future issuance under equity
compensation plans
{excluding securities
reflected in column (a))

(®) ©

exercise price of

Equity compensation
plans approved by
security holders

Equity compensation
plans not approved by
security hotders

1,306,230

$25.83 4,974,517

Total 1,306,230

$25.83 4,974,517

See “Note 12 — Stock Option and Award Plans” of Item 8, incorporated herein by reference, for

information regarding the material features of the above plans.
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[tem 6. Selected Financial Data

The table below summarizes selected financial information. For further information, refer to the

Consolidated Financial Statements and the Notes thereto of Item 8 and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations” of Item 7, which are incorporated herein by reference,

(dollar amounts in millions, except per share data) 2007 2006 2005 2004% 2003%
Operating Results
Net sales $1,0659.6 $995.4 $1,009.2 $ 9979 $ B50.4
(Loss) income from continuing operations (13.8) (32.4) (306.7) 16.2 241
Discontinued operations {1.7) (71.2) (7.6) (4.5) 28
Net (loss) income (15.5) (39.6) (314.3) 11.7 26.9
Cash dividends dectared on common stock 4.1 17.3 17.1 17.0 13.4
Net cash provided by operating activities 24.1 217 44.6 93.1 20.0
Common Stock
Number of stockholders of record at year-end 4,041 4,304 4,422 4,553 4,744
Shares outstanding at year-end (in millions} 19.9 19.8 19.6 19.6 153
Per share
Basic earnings from continuing operations $(0.71) $ (1.67) $ (15.81) $ 088 $ 159
Basic earnings (0.80) (2.04) (16.20) 0.63 1.77
Diluted eamings from continuing operations 0.71) (1.67} (15.81) 0.88 1.59
Diluted earmings (0.80) (2.04) (16.20) 0.63 1.77
Dividends declared 0.22 0.88 0.88 0.88 0.88
Year-end stockholders’ equity 14.13 11.80 15.07 36.34 37.26
Financial Position at Year-end
Working capital $93.9 $ 319 $ 88 § 213 $ 629
Property, plant and equipment, net 358.7 354.1 3720 427.2 431.6
Total assets 1,213.7 1,114.8 1,123.0 1,557.0 1,492.8
Debt 5153 467.8 4329 428.9 486.9
Stockholders’ equity 281.2 2337 2953 712.2 570.1
Total capital 796.5 701.5 728.2 1,141.1 1,057.0
Percent of debt
To total capital 64.7% 66.7% 59.4% 37.6% 46.1%
To stockholders’ equity 183.3 200.2 146.6 60.2 85.4
Additicnal Data
Number of employees at year-end 5,427 5,553 6,129 5,988 5875

Five-Year Comparative Record

Notes to Five-Year Comparative Record:

M

2)

&)

4
(5)

Continuing operations included after-tax restructuring charges of $13.4 million; an after-tax gain on
divestitures of $1.5 million; an income tax benefit $3.8 million related to the resolution of income tax
contingencies; and an income tax benefit of $1.2 million resulting from a re-evaluation of our deferred taxes
for changes in UK. tax law and changes in statutory tax rates for the U.K. and Germany.

Continuing operations included an after-tax goodwill impairment charge of $14.3 million; after-tax
restructuring charges of $27.4 million; an after-tax gain on divestitures of $2.9 million; and an after-tax loss on
extinguishment of debt of $0.6 million. Continuing operations also included an income tax benefit of $5.7
million as a result of management’s reassessment of the Company’s deferred tax assets in France following the
sale of CLP and the favorable settlements of income tax contingencies with income tax authorities.

Continuing operations included an after-tax goodwill impairment charge of $311.7 million; after-tax
restructuring charges of $8.7 million; an after-tax loss on divestitures of $2.8 million; an after-tax loss on
extinguishment of debt of $0.5 million; and an income tax benefit of $1.9 million related to the resotution of
income tax contingencies.

Continuing operations included an after-tax loss on extinguishment of debt of $6.2 million and a $3.3 million
tax benefit related to favorable settlements of U.S. and U.K. tax return audits,

Continuing operations included an after-tax gain on the settlement of environmental indemnity obligations of
$7.7 million.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Overview of Business

Chesapeake is a leading European supplier of specialty paperboard packaging products and a leading
international supplier of plastic packaging products to niche end-use markets. We focus on specific end-use
packaging markets, where customers demand creative designs, technical expertise and production capabilities that
include broad geographic coverage and appropriate supply chain offerings.

Chesapeake has two reportable business segments, Paperboard Packaging and Plastic Packaging. In July
2007 we announced a reorganization that included the realignment of our operating segments. As of September 30,
2007 we conduct our business in three operating segments: Plastic Packaging, Pharmaceutical and Healthcare
Packaging ("Pharma"), and Branded Products Packaging ("Branded Products"). The Branded Products operating
segment now includes our former Tobacco operating segment. The Pharma and Branded Products operating
segments are aggregated into the Paperboard Packaging reportable segment.

Paperboard Packaging

The Paperboard Packaging segment designs and manufactures folding cartons, spirally wound composite
tubes, leaflets, labels and other paper and paperboard packaging products. Our primary end-use markets are
pharmaceutical and healthcare and branded products (such as alcoholic drinks, confectioneries, foods and tobacco).

Plastic Packaging

The Plastic Packaging segment designs and manufactures plastic containers, bottles, and preforms. The
primary end-use markets are agrochemicals and other specialty chemicals, and food and beverages.

Summary of 2007

Our operating income for fiscal 2007 was $26.7 million, and included gains or losses on divestitures and
restructuring expenses, asset impairments and other exit costs of $14.3 million. Our operating income for fiscal
2006 was $0.3 million, and included goodwill impairments, gains or losses on divestitures and restructuring
expenses, asset impairments and other exit costs of $44.6 million.

Compared to fiscal 2006, operating income in fiscal 2007 decreased due to the decreased sales of tobacco
packaging, start-up problems with the multi-shaped tubes for UK. drinks packaging, and reduced operating margins
in pharmaceutical and healthcare packaging. This was partially offset by increased sales of specialty chemicals
packaging, reduced pension expense and favorable effects of changes in foreign currency exchange rates.

During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2005, we announced plans for a two-year global cost savings program
which targeted combined pre-tax savings of $25 million on an annualized basis. The scope of this program was
extensive, and the cost of these initiatives was expected to range from $30 million to $40 million on a pre-tax basis,
with the cash flow impact being less due to the sale of related real estate and assets. Under this program, we have
closed three locations and sold two operations. We have also implemented broad-based workforce reductions and
general overhead cost savings initiatives throughout the company. We have now completed the $25-million cost
savings program and over the course of fiscal years 2006 and 2007 we achieved cost savings in excess of our $25-
million goal. However, these savings have been masked in 2007 due to the loss of tobacco volumes, start up costs
associated with the multi-shaped tube products, and pricing pressures primarily in the Paperboard Packaging
segment. We are now evaluating potential additional restructuring and cost savings actions.

Review of Consolidated Results of Operations
The following consolidated resuits from continuing operations highlight major year-to-year changes in our

consolidated statements of operations. More detail regarding these changes is found under the caption “—Review of
Segment Results” and information regarding discontinued operations is found under the caption “—Discontinued
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Operations,” All per share amounts included in this Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations are presented on a diluted basis.

The consolidated financial statements were prepared in conformity with United States generally accepted
accounting principles (“GAAP”) and require management to make extensive use of estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts and disclosures (see discussion of Critical Accounting Policies). Actual results could
differ from these estimates.

The consolidated statement of operations for fiscal 2007 includes adjustments from prior periods that were
recorded in the first quarter and fourth quarter of fiscal 2007. The net impact of the adjustments recorded in the first
quarter of fiscal 2007 reduced net income from continuing operations before taxes by $0.1 million, income from
continuing operations by $0.7 million and net income by $0.5 million. These adjustments included (1) an
understatement of taxable income in a non-U.S. tax jurisdiction related to shared expenses of subsidiaries and (2)
balance sheet adjustments on central ledgers related to assets that had been previously disposed of or impaired. The
net impact of the adjustment recorded in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2007 reduced net income from continuing
operations before taxes, income from continuing operations, and net income by $0.3 million. This adjustment was
related to depreciation of assets that were acquired in September 2005 with the purchase of CPHPNA. These
adjustments from prior periods that were recorded in the first quarter and fourth quarter of fiscal 2007 were deemed
immaterial to the current and prior periods.

Qur 52--53 week fiscal year ends on the Sunday nearest to December 31. Fiscal years 2007, 2006 and 2005
each contain 52 weeks.

Segment operating income excludes any goodwill impairment charges, restructuring cxpenses, asset
impairments and other exit costs and gains (losses) on divestitures. Excluding these amounts from our calculation of
segment operating income is consistent with how our management reviews segment performance and, we believe,
affords the reader consistent measures of our operating performance. Segment operating income is not, however,
intended as an alternative measure of operating results as determined in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Qur definition
of segment operating income is not necessarily comparable to similarly titled measures for other companies,

2007 vs. 2006

Net sales: Chesapeake’s fiscal 2007 net sales of $1,059.6 million were up $64.2 million, or 6.4 percent,
compared to net sales in fiscal 2006 of $995.4 million. Reduced sales volumes, especially of tobacco products
packaging, were more than offset by the positive effects of changes in foreign currency exchange rates which
increased net sales by $72.7 million.

Gross margin: Gross margin, which is defined as net sales less cost of products sold, was $179.2 million
in fiscat 2007, compared to $175.3 million in fiscal 2006. Gross margin as a percentage of net sales for fiscal 2007
decreased from 17.6 percent in fiscal 2006 to 16.9 percent in fiscal 2007, primarily due to pricing pressure especially
within the Paperboard Packaging segment.

Selling, general and administrative (“SG&A”™) expenses: SG&A expenses as a percentage of net sales
were 13.4 percent in fiscal 2007 compared to 13.5 percent in fiscal 2006. Decreases in pension costs as well as cost
savings under the Company’s global cost savings program were offset by costs incurred in connection with strategic
initiatives.

Goodwill impairment charge: In fiscal 2006, we recorded a non-cash charge of $14.3 million ($14.3
million after tax), or $0.74 per share, related to impairment of goodwill in our former tobacco reporting unit of the
Paperboard Packaging segment. The impairment resulted from an expectation of a significant decline in tobacco
packaging sales.

Restructuring expenses, asset impairments and other exit costs: In fiscal 2007, we recorded losses of
$15.8 million ($13.4 million after tax) for restructuring expenses, asset impairments and other exit costs. These
charges were primarily related to general workforce reductions across our operations as part of our $25-million
global cost savings program, as well as the closure of our tobacco manufacturing facility in Bremen, Germany. In
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fiscal 2006, we recorded losses of $33.4 million ($27.4 million after tax) for restructuring expenses, asset
impairments and other exit costs. This included an asset impairment charge of $24.9 million ($21.1 million after
tax) related to our former tobacco reporting unit of the Paperboard Packaging segment. The remaining expenses of
$8.5 million ($6.3 million after tax) related to our $25-million global cost savings program. The charges related to
our cost savings program included the closure of our facilities in Birmingham, England in 2005 and Bedford,
England in 2006, as well as other employee-related expenses for workforce reductions in both years. More detail
regarding these charges is found under the caption “—Chesapeake’s $25-Million Cost Savings Program.”

Gains/Losses on divestitures: In fiscal 2007 we recorded a net gain on divestiture of $1.5 million ($1.5
million after tax) resulting from the reversal of a provision against a loan note received in connection with our sale
of our plastic packaging operation in Northern Ireland in 2006. 1In fiscal 2006, we recorded a net gain on
divestitures of $3.1 million ($2.9 million after tax) also resulting from the sale of this plastic packaging operation in
Northern Ireland.

Other income, net: Other income, net was $4.2 million for fiscal 2007 compared to $3.7 million for fiscal
2006, and includes gain/loss on sale of fixed assets and foreign currency transtation gain/loss.

Operating income (loss): Operating income was $26.7 million for fiscal 2007 compared 1o operating
income of $0.3 million for fiscal 2006. The increase in operating income in fiscal 2007 was primarily due to the net
impact of the goodwill impairment charges, losses on divestitures, and restructuring expenses, asset impairments and
other exit costs discussed above. Changes in foreign currency exchange rates increased operating income for fiscal
2007 by $2.8 million compared to fiscal 2006. More detail regarding segment operating income is found under the
caption “—Review of Segment Results.”

Interest expense, net: Net interest expense for fiscal 2007 was $44.6 million, compared to net interest
expense of $39.8 million for fiscal 2006. The increase in net interest expense in fiscal 2007 was primarily due to
increased borrowing levels during fiscal 2007 as well as higher average interest rates on borrowings under our lines
of credit during fiscal 2007. Our borrowings include amounts denominated in the local currencies of the countries in
which we conduct substantial business, and serve as a partial natural hedge against currency fluctuations affecting
our earnings. Changes in foreign currency exchange rates increased net interest expense in fiscal 2007 by $2.3
million.

Loss on extinguishment of debt: In fiscal 2006, we recorded a pre-tax and after-tax loss of $0.6 million
on the early redemption of £5.0 million principal amount of our 10.375% senior subordinated notes due 2011.

Tax expense: The effective income tax rate from continuing operations for fiscal 2007 was 22.9 percent
compared to an effective income tax rate of approximately 19.2 percent in fiscal 2006. The comparability of our
effective tax rate is affected by the goodwill impairment charges, substantially all of which are not deductible for
income tax purposes, the inability to fully recognize a benefit from our U.S. tax losses and the inability to recognize
the benefit of losses in certain non-U.S. tax jurisdictions. Additionally, the tax rate is influenced by management’s
expectations as to the recovery of our U.S. and certain non-U.S. jurisdiction deferred income tax assets and any
settlements of income tax contingencies with UK. tax authorities. We recorded income tax benefits of
approximately $3.8 million in fiscal 2007 and $3.4 million in fiscal 2006 related to the resolution of income tax
contingencies. In fiscal 2007 we also recorded an income tax benefit of $1.2 million resulting from a re-evaluation
of our deferred taxes for changes in U.K. tax law and changes in statutory tax rates for the U.K. and Germany.

Loss from continuing operations: The loss from continuing operations for fiscal 2007 was $13.8 million,
or $0.71 per diluted share, while the loss from continuing operations for fiscal 2006 was $32.4 million, or $1.67 per
dituted share.
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2006 vs, 2005

Net sales: Chesapeake’s fiscal 2006 net sales of $995.4 million were down $13.8 million, or 1.4 percent, |
compared to net sales in fiscal 2005 of $1,009.2 million. Changes in foreign currency exchange rates increased net !
sales by $4.1 million. The decrease in sales was primarily due to a decrease in sales in the Plastic Packaging
segment resulting from the sale of our plastic packaging operation in Northern Ireland in the first quarter of fiscal
2006. Sales in the Paperboard Packaging segment increased over fiscal 2005 as a result of our acquisition of
CPHPNA in the third quarter of 2005. That increase in sales was largely offset by lower sales of tobacco and
' branded products packaging.

Gross margin: Gross margin, which is defined as net sales less cost of products sold, was $175.3 million
in fiscal 2006, compared to $181.4 million in fiscal 2005. Gross margin as a percentage of net sales for fiscal 2006
decreased from 18.0 percent in fiscal 2005 to 17.6 percent in fiscal 2008,

Selling, general and administrative (“SG&A™) expenses: SG&A expenses as a percentage of net sales
were 13.5 percent in fiscal 2006 compared to 13.4 percent in fiscal 2005, Increased pension expenses were partially
offset by cost savings initiatives undertaken as part of our $25-million global cost savings program.

Goodwill impairment charge: In fiscal 2006, we recorded a non-cash charge of $14.3 million ($14.3
million after tax), or $0.74 per share, related to impairment of goodwill in our former tobacco reporting unit of the
Paperboard Packaging segment. In fiscal 2005, as a result of competitive economic conditions affecting the
paperboard packaging markets and changes in our profile relative to market capitalization and risks associated with
the extent and timing of savings anticipated under our $25-million global cost savings program, we recorded a non-
cash charge of $312.0 million ($311.7 million after tax) related to the impairment of goodwill within the reporting
units of our Paperboard Packaging segment.

Restructuring expenses, asset impairments and other exit costs; In fiscal 2006, we recorded losses of
$33.4 million ($27.4 million afier tax) for restructuring expenses, asset impairments and other exit costs. This
included an asset impairment charge of $24.9 million ($21.1 million after tax) related to our former tobacco
reporting unit of the Paperboard Packaging segment. The remaining expenses of $8.5 million ($6.3 million after
tax) related to our $25-million global cost savings program. In fiscal 2003, we recorded losses of $10.7 miilion
($8.7 million after tax) for restructuring expenses and other exit costs primarily related to our costs savings program.
The charges related to our cost savings program included the closure of our facilities in Birmingham, England in
' 2005 and Bedford, England in 2006, as well as other employee-related expenses for workforce reductions in both

years. More detail regarding these charges is found under the caption “—Chesapeake’s $25-Million Cost Savings
Program.”

Gains/Losses on divestitures: In fiscal 2006, we recorded a net gain on divestitures of $3.1 million ($2.9
million after tax) resulting from the sale of our plastic packaging operation in Northern Ireland. In fiscal 2005, we
recorded a net loss of $2.8 million ($2.8 million after tax) related to the write-down and subsequent settlement of
promissory notes received in connection with the 2001 divestiture of Consumer Promotions International, Inc.
("CPI"), a component of our former Merchandising and Specialty Packaging segment resulting from a change in our
estimate as to the recovery of these notes.

Other income, net: Other income, net was $3.7 million for fiscal 2006 compared to $1.5 million for fiscal
2005, and primarily includes gain/loss on sale of fixed assets.

Operating income (loss): Operating income was $0.3 million for fiscal 2006 compared to an operating
loss of $277.8 million for fiscal 2005. The increase in operating income in fiscal 2006 was primarily due to the net
impact of the goodwill impairment charges, losses on divestitures, and restructuring expenses, asset impairments and
other exit costs discussed above. Changes in foreign currency exchange rates did not have a significant effect on
operating income for fiscal 2006. More detail regarding segment operating income is found under the caption “—
Review of Segment Results.”

Interest expense, net: Net interest expense for fiscal 2006 was $39.8 million, compared to net interest
expense of $32.8 million for fiscal 2005. The increase in net interest expense in fiscal 2006 was primarily due to
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higher residual borrowing levels during fiscal 2006 resulting from the funding of the CPHPNA acquisition in the
latter part of 2005, as well as higher average interest rates on borrowings under lines of credit during fiscal 2006.
Qur borrowings include amounts denominated in the local currencies of the countries in which we conduct
substantial business, and serve as a partial natural hedge against currency fluctuations affecting our eamings.
Changes in foreign currency exchange rates did not have a significant impact on net interest expense in fiscal 2006.

Loss on extinguishment of debt: In fiscal 2006, we recorded a pre-tax and after-tax loss of $0.6 million
on the early redemption of £5.0 million principal amount of our 10.375% senior subordinated notes due 2011. In
fiscal 2005, we recorded a pre-tax and after-tax loss of $0.5 million on the early redemption of £2.9 million
principal amount of our 10.375% senior subordinated notes due 2011.

Tax expense: The effective income tax rate from continuing operations for fiscal 2006 was 19.2 percent
compared to an effective income tax rate of approximately 1.4 percent in fiscal 2005. The comparability of our
effective tax rate is affected by the goodwill impairment charges, substantially all of which are not deductible for
income tax purposes, the inability to fully recognize a benefit from our U.S. tax losses and the inability to recognize
the benefit of losses in certain non-U.S, tax jurisdictions. Additionally, the tax rate is influenced by management’s
expectations as to the recovery of our U.S. and certain non-U.S. jurisdiction deferred income tax assets and any
settlements of income tax contingencies with U.K. tax authorities. The fiscal 2005 results included additional
benefits related to deferred income tax asset valuation allowances of $2.9 million when compared to fiscal 2006
results. We also recorded income tax benefits of approximately $3.4 million in fiscal 2006 and $1.9 million in fiscal
2005 related to the resolution of income tax contingencies.

Loss from continuing operations: The loss from continuing operations for fiscal 2006 was $32.4 million,
or $1.67 per diluted share, while the loss from continuing operations for fiscal 2005 was $306.7 million, or $15.81

per diluted share.

Review of Segment Results

Paperboard Packaging
(dollars in millions) 2007 2006 2005
Net sales $879.7 $840.4 $827.4
Operating income 369 429 49.8
Operating income margin % 4.2% 5.1% 6.0%

2007 vs. 2006: Net sales for fiscal 2007 were $879.7 million, an increase of $39.3 million, or 4.7
percent, over fiscal 2006. The increase in net sales for the year was primarily attributable to changes in foreign
currency exchange rates which increased net sales by $66.2 million in fiscal 2007 partially offset by lower sales of
tobacco and other branded products packaging as well as lower sales of pharmaceutical and healthcare packaging.

Operating income for fiscal 2007 was $36.9 million versus $42.9 million for fiscal 2006, a decrease of 14.0
percent, Changes in foreign currency exchange rates increased operating income by $3.3 million. The decrease in
operating income was primarily due to reduced sales of tobacco packaging and start up problems with the multi-
shaped tubes for U.K. drinks packaging. The remaining decline in operating earnings was primarily due to costs
associated with recent process improvement initiatives and reduced operating margins in pharmaceutical and
healthcare packaging.

2006 vs. 2005: Net sales for fiscal 2006 were $840.4 million, an increase of $13.0 million, or 1.6
percent, over fiscal 2005. Changes in foreign currency exchange rates increased net sales by $8.3 million in fiscal
2006. The increase in net sales for the year was primarily attributabie to increased pharmaceutical and healthcare
sales resulting from the CPHPNA acquisition, largely offset by lower sales of tobacco and branded products
packaging.
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Operating income for fiscal 2006 was $42.9 million versus $49.8 million for fiscal 2005, a decrease of 13.9
percent. Changes in foreign currency exchange rates increased operating income by $0.6 million. The decrease in
operating income was primarily due to increased pension and energy costs and reduced sales of tobacco packaging,
partly offset by improved results in pharmaceutical and healthcare packaging.

Plastic Packaging
tdollars in millions) 2007 2006 2005 .
Net sales $179.9 $155.0 $181.8
QOperating income 204 17.9 15.0
Operating income margin % 11.3% 11.5% 8.3%

2007 vs. 2006: Net sales for fiscal 2007 were $179.9 million, an increase of $24.9 million, or 16.1 percent,
over fiscal 2006. Changes in foreign currency exchange rates increased net sales by $6.5 million in fiscal 2007, The
remaining increase in net sales was due to increased sales volume, especially within the specialty chemical and
South African beverage operations and the partial pass through of higher raw material costs.

Operating income was $20.4 mitlion for fiscal 2007, up $2.5 million compared to fiscal 2006, an increase
of 14.0 percent. Changes in foreign currency exchange rates increased operating income by $1.2 million. The
increase in operating income was primarily due to strong demand and improved results related to specialty chemical
packaging.

2006 vs. 2005: Net sales for fiscal 2006 were $155.0 million, a decrease of $26.8 million, or 14.7 percent,
over fiscal 2005. Changes in foreign currency exchange rates decreased net sales by $4.2 million in fiscal 2006. The
decrease in net sales primarily resulted from the sale of our plastic packaging operation in Northern Ireland in the
first quarter of fiscal 2006, partly offset by increased sales prices throughout the segment resulting from the partial
pass-through of higher raw material costs and increased volume.

Operating income was $17.9 million for fiscal 2006, up $2.9 million compared to fiscal 2005, an increase
of 19.3 percent. Changes in foreign currency exchange rates decreased operating income by $0.4 million. The
increase in operating income was primarily due to strong demand and improved results in the specialty chemical
packaging market and the Irish dairy market, partly offset by lower operating earnings as a result of volume declines
in South Affica.

Chesapeake’s $25-Million Cost Savings Program

During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2005, we announced plans for a twe-year global cost savings program
which targeted combined pre-tax savings of $25 million on an annualized basis. While we routinely evaluate our
operations for improvement and rationalization opportunities, we believed that the development of this
comprehensive program would significantly improve our competitive position and enhance value for our
shareholders by focusing on three goals:

s increasing our focus on business operations that are aligned with our global strategic vision and that
possess what we believe are the dnving forces that will enable us to achieve improved performance in the
market;

e improving our operational processes; and

¢ reducing our overall company-wide cost structure.

The scope of our restructuring program was extensive, and the cost of these initiatives was expected to range from

$30 million to $40 million on a pre-tax basis, with the cash flow impact being less due to the sale of related real
estate and assets. Full implementation of this program was expected by the end of 2007.

33




Under this program, we have closed three locations and sold two operations. We have also implemented
broad-based workforce reductions and general overhead cost savings initiatives throughout the Company. Since the
program’s inception, we have recorded net charges for divestitures and restructuring, asset impairments and other
exit costs of approximately $32.7 million ($7.7 million of which are included in discontinued operations) and made
cash payments related to program initiatives of approximately $32.0 million. In addition, we have recovered
approximately $26.7 million in cash sale proceeds on sales of operations, land and other assets under this program.
We have now completed the $25-million cost savings program and over the course of fiscal years 2006 and 2007 we
achieved cost savings in excess of our $25-million goal. However, these savings have been masked in 2007 due to
the loss of tobacco volumes, start up costs associated with the multi-shaped tube products, and pricing pressures
primarily in the Paperboard Packaging segment. We are now evaluating potential additional restructuring and cost
savings actions.

Other Restructuring Expenses, Asset Impairments and Exit Costs

During fiscal 2006 we recorded an asset impairment charge of $24.9 ($21.1 mitlion after tax) related to the
fixed assets of our former tobacco reporting unit of the Paperboard Packaging segment. This impairment was
recorded as a result of information provided by one of our major tobacco packaging customers, British American
Tobacco (“BAT”). BAT informed Chesapeake that they planned to implement a supplier rationalization program
that would substantially reduce the role of Chesapeake as a packaging supplier to BAT. Also as a result of reduced
sales of tobacco packaging, during fiscal 2007 we recorded restructuring costs related to the sale of our tobacco
packaging manufacturing facility in Bremen, Germany and other workforce reductions of approximately $5.9
million. During fiscal 2007 we made cash payments related to these activities of approximately $1.3 million.

Discontinued Operations

On July 31, 2006, we completed the sale of our French luxury packaging business which was previously
included in our Paperboard Packaging segment. In addition, discontinued operations includes amounts related to our
former Land Development segment which was liquidated as of the end of the first quarter of 2004 and our former
Merchandising and Specialty Packaging segment that was divested in 2001. The impact of discontinued operations
on reported income (loss) is as follows:

2007 2006 2005
(in millions, except per share data) _Amount  Per Share Amount Per Share Amount Per Share

Discontinued operations:
Income (loss) from discontinued

operations $0.3 $0.01 $(4.4) $(0.23) $(5.2) $(0.27)
Loss on disposal of discontinued
operations $(2.0) $(0.10) $(2.8) $(0.14) $(2.4) $(0.12)

During fiscal 2007 we recorded approximately $2.4 million of expense related to the tax treatment of the
disposition of assets of Wisconsin Tissue Mills Inc. in 1999,

The loss from discontinued operations in fiscal 2006 included a pre-tax and after-tax charge of $3.0 million
related to an asset impairment charge for the remaining long-lived assets of our French luxury packaging business,
as well as $1.0 million for restructuring expenses and other exit costs related to our French luxury packaging
business, including the closure of our rigid box operation at Ezy-sur-Eure, France. The loss from discontinued
operations in fiscal 2005 included $2.4 million of restructuring expenses and other exit costs related to the closure of
Ezy-sur-Eure.

In fiscat 2005 we recorded a pre-tax and after-tax loss of $3.0 million on the sale of the assets of our French

wine and spirits label operation at Bourgeot Etigso Lesbats. In fiscal 2006 we recorded a pre-tax and after-tax loss
of $1.5 million on the sale of our remaining French luxury packaging business.
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Summarized results of discontinued operations are shown separately in the accompanying consolidated
financial statements, except for the consolidated statements of cash flows, which summarize the activities of
continued and discontinued operations together. Net sales from discontinued operations were $16.7 million in fiscal
2006 and $32.9 million in fiscal 2005.

Seasonality

Our Paperboard Packaging segment competes in several end-use markets, such as alcoholic drinks and
confectioneries, that are seasonal in nature. As a result, our Paperboard Packaging segment earnings stream is
seasonal, with peak operational activity during the third and fourth quarters of the year. Our Plastic Packaging
segment’s markets include beverage and agrochemical markets in the southern hemisphere, and agrochemical
markets in the northern hemisphere, that are seasonal in nature. As a result, our Plastic Packaging segment earnings
stream is also seasonal, with peak operational activity during the first and fourth quarters of the year.

Liguidity and Capital Resources

Management assesses Chesapeake’s liquidity in terms of our overall ability to generate cash to fund our
operating and investing activities. Significant factors affecting the management of liquidity are cash flows from
operating activities, capital expenditures, access to bank lines of credit and our ability to attract tong-term capital
with satisfactory terms. Chesapeake uses financial markets worldwide for its financing needs. We are a party to
public and private long-term debt agreements, including various bank credit facilities (see “Note 7 — Long Term
Debt” of Item 8, incorporated herein by reference). Chesapeake has no material “off-balance sheet” liabilities or
variable interest entittes.

The following tables summarize our contractual obligations and other commercial commitments as of
December 30, 2007:

Conrractual Obligations

Payments Due by Period”

Less Than 1 After
(in millions) Total Year 1-3 Years 3-5 Years S Years
Long-term debt® $512.4 $7.0 $172.1 $136.2 $197.1
Interest™ 164.9 28.0 55.0 40.8 41.1
Operating leases 26.3 6.7 8.9 52 55
Other commitments*” 16.5 15.5 0.6 04 -
Total contractual cash obligations $720.1 $57.2 $236.6 $182.6 $£243.7

" Cash requirements related to current liabilities reflected on the balance sheet, such as accounts payable,

income taxes payable, dividends payable and accrued expenses, are payable within one year and are not
included in this table.

Amounts exclude non-cash amortizing premiums or discounts classified in our balance sheet as long-term debt,
Borrowings under the senior credit facility are classified as due at the facility’s maturity in 2009. Borrowings
under uncommitted lines of credit are classified as due in less than 1 year.

Contractual interest payments are calculated using outstanding debt balances, interest rates and foreign
exchange rates in effect at December 30, 2007. Estimates do not include the effects of any potential early
redemptions or refinancings. Interest on amounts owed under lines of credit is not included.

Amounts exclude required employer contributions which are expected to approximate $21.1 million. This
includes required supplementary employer pension contributions under a pension recovery plan, which are
expected to approximate at least $12 million per year under current valuations and will continue for an
undetermined time period. Furthermore, future supplementary employer pension contributions as provided
under the pension recovery plan may need to be materially increased if the funding level of one of our UK.
pension plans is not at least 90% by April 5, 2008. In addition, amounts exclude $28.5 million of unrecognized
tax benefits related to uncertain tax positions. The timing of settlement of these uncertain tax positions is not
estimable.

@)

3)

4)
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Other Commercial Commitments

. Total Amounts Less Than
fin millions) Committed 1 Year 1-3 Years 3-5 Years
Committed lines of credit'" $250.0 $— $250.0 $—
Uncommitted lines of credit® 11.8 11.8 — —
Standby letters of credit® 1.6 1.6 — —
Total commercial commitments $263.4 $13.4 $250.0 $—

@) Borrowings of $165.9 million under these lines of credit were included in long-term debt at December 30,
2007. Amounts available to be borrowed under the lines of credit are limited by the amount currently
borrowed, the amounts of outstanding letters of credit ($31.5 million at December 30, 2007) and any debt
covenant restrictions.

@ Borrowings of $4.5 million under uncommitted lines of credit, were included in long-term debt at December
30, 2007.

®  Includes $0.1 million of back-up letters of credit.

Financing

In December 2003 Chesapeake filed a universal shelf registration statement with the SEC which permitted
us to offer and sell, from time to time, various types of securitics, including debt securities, preferred stock,
depository shares, common stock, warrants, stock purchase contracts and stock purchase units, having an aggregate
offering price of up to $300 million, or the equivalent amount in one or more non-U.S. currencies. We completed
both a common stock and debt security offering under this shelf registration statement during 2004. In June 2005
$68.5 million of remaining availability under the shelf registration statement filed December 2003 was carried
forward into a new aggregate $300 million universal shelf registration filed with the SEC, having terms and
conditions substantially similar to the previous universal shelf registration. No offerings have been made under the
current shelf registration statement.

In March 2004 we completed a public offering of approximately 4.05 million shares of our common stock.
Our net proceeds from the sale of these shares, after deducting discounts, commissions and expenses, were
approximately $92 million. In April 2004 we used a portion of the net proceeds to redeem £40 million principal
amount of our outstanding 10.375% senior subordinated notes due 2011 at a redemption price of 110.375% of the
principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest to the redemption date, or an aggregate redemption price of
approximately $82.6 million. The redemption resulted in a loss on extinguishment of debt of $8.4 million, or §5.4
million net of income taxes. The remaining net proceeds of approximately $9.0 million from the offering of our
common stock were used to repay outstanding borrowings under our senior bank credit facility.

In December 2004 we completed a public offering of €100 million principal amount of 7% senior
subordinated notes due 2014. Our net proceeds from the sale of these notes, after deducting discounts, commissions
and expenses, were approximately $130.8 million (using an exchange rate of €1 to $1.342), The notes were offered
to the public at par. The net proceeds from the sale of these notes were used to retire $66.8 million principal amount
of our outstanding $85.0 million aggregate principal amount of 7.2% notes due March 2005. The retirement of these
notes was accomplished through a tender offer and consent solicitation. Including fees, expenses, interest and
premiums, the redemption cost $69.1 million and resulted in a loss on extinguishment of debt of $1.2 million, or
$0.8 million net of income taxes. The remaining net proceeds of approximately $61.7 million were used to repay
outstanding borrowings under our senior bank credit facility and for general corporate purposes.

In February 2005 we paid $38.8 million principal amount of loan note maturities and we redeemed, at par,
the remaining $18.2 million principal amount of the 7.2% notes which also matured during the first quarter of fiscal
2005. In August 2005, we redeemed £2.9 million principal amount of our 10.375% senior subordinated notes due
2011 at a premium and recognized a loss of $0.5 million associated with the debt extinguishment. In March 2006
we redeemed £5.0 million principal amount of our 10.375% senior subordinated notes due 2011 at a premium and
recognized a loss of $0.6 million associated with the debt extinguishment.
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In February 2004 our senior credit facility, under which we can guarantee loan note balances and borrow
up to $250 million, was amended and restated, and its maturity extended to February 2009, Amounts available to be
borrowed under our senior credit facility are limited by the amount currently borrowed and the amounts of
outstanding letters of credit ($1.5 million at December 30, 2007). Nominal facility fees are paid on the unutilized
credit line capacity, and interest is charged primarily at LIBOR plus a margin based on our leverage ratio. We are
required to pay a fee, which varies based on our leverage ratio, on the outstanding balance of certain loan notes and
letters of credit. Subject to the terms of the agreement, a portion of the borrowing capacity of the revolving credit
facility and net proceeds of the term debt component of the facility may be used to finance acquisitions and to
refinance other debt. The senior credit facility is collateralized by a pledge of the inventory, receivables, intangible
assets and other assets of Chesapeake Corporation and certain U.S. subsidiaries. The facility is guaranteed by
Chesapeake Corporation, each material U.S. subsidiary and each United Kingdom (U.K.} subsidiary borrower,
although most U.K. subsidiary borrowers only guarantee borrowings made by U.K. subsidiaries. Obligations of our
U.K. subsidiary borrowers under the facility are collateralized by a pledge of the stock of our material U.K.
subsidiaries.

In February 2006, the senior credit facility was amended to make certain technical comrections and
amendments, add provisions to accommodate strategic initiatives of the Company and adjust certain financial
maintenance covenants during 2006 and 2007. Subsequent amendments to the agreement were made effective in
June and December 2007 to further adjust certain financial maintenance covenants through the end of 2007 and,
among other things, to limit our ability to fund acquisitions, repay subordinated debt or to pay dividends. On March
5, 2008, the Company obtained agreement from its senior credit facility lenders to amend the facility through the
end of fiscal 2008. The amendment affects financial maintenance covenants in all four quarters of fiscal 2008,
providing an increase in the total leverage ratios and a decrease in the interest coverage ratios. In addition, interest
rate margins were increased to 450 basis points over LIBOR and basket limitations were imposed for acquisitions,
dispositions, and other indebtedness, among other changes. In the event that the senior credit facility is not fully
refinanced prior to March 31, 2008, the Company has agreed to provide a security interest in substantially all of its
tangible European assets. Outstanding borrowings under the senior credit facility as of December 30, 2007 totaled
$165.9 million. Other lines of credit totaling $11.8 million are maintained with several banks on an uncommitted
basis, under which $4.5 million was cutstanding as of December 30, 2007.

Certain of our loan agreements include provisions permitting the holder of the debt to require us to
repurchase all or a portion of such debt outstanding upon the occurrence of specified events involving a change of
control or ownership. In addition, the loan agreements contain customary restrictive covenants, including covenants
restricting, among other things, our ability, and our subsidiaries’ ability, to create liens, merge or consolidate,
dispose of assets, incur indebtedness and guarantees, repurchase or redeem capital stock and indebtedness, pay
dividends, make capital expenditures, make certain investments or acquisitions, enter into certain transactions with
affiliates or change the nature of our business. The senior credit facility also contains several financial maintenance
covenants, including covenants establishing a maximum leverage ratio, maximum senior leverage ratio and a
minimum interest coverage ratio. Noncompliance with any material provision of our debt agreements could have a
material adverse effect on our liquidity, financial position and results of operations. After obtaining an amendment
to our senior credit facility eftective December 28, 2007, which increased the total leverage ratio and decreased the
interest coverage ratio for the fourth quarter of 2007, we were in compliance with all of our debt covenants as of the
end of fiscal 2007. The senior subordinated notes contain provisions allowing for early redemptions, under certain
circumstances, at premiums of up to 3.5 percent in addition to outstanding principal and interest.

At December 30, 2007, Chesapeake’s corporate family rating from Moody’s Investors Service was Bl.
Our corporate credit rating from Standard & Poor’s was BB-. Both agencies have the Company under review for
possible rating downgrade.

Guarantees and Indemnifications

We have entered into agreements for the sale of assets or businesses that contain provisions in which we
agree to indemnify the buyers or third parties involved in the sale for certain liabilities or risks related to the sale. In
these sale agreements, we typically agree to indemnify the buyers or other involved third parties against a broadly-
defined range of potential “losses™ (typically including, but not limited to, claims, costs, damages, judgments,
liabilities, fines or penalties, and attorneys’ fees) arising from: (i) a breach of our representations or warranties in
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the sale agreement or ancillary documents; (ii) our failure to perform any of the covenants or obligations of the sale
agreement or ancillary documents; and (iii) other liabilities expressly retained or assumed by us related to the sale.
Most of our indemnity obligations under these sale agreements are: (i) limited to a maximum dollar value
significantly less than the final purchase price; (ii} limited by time within which indemnification claims must be
asserted (often between one and three years); and (iii) subject to a deductible or “basket.” Many of the potential
indemnification liabilities under these sale agreements are unknown, remote or highly contingent, and most are
unlikely to ever require an indemnity payment. Furthermore, even in the event that an indemnification claim is
asserted, liability for indemnification is subject to determination under the terms of the applicable sale agreement,
and any payments may be limited or barred by a monetary cap, a time limitation, or a deductible or basket. For
these reasons, we arc unable to estimate the maximum potential amount of the potential future liability under the
indemnity provisions of the sale agreements. However, we accrue for any potentially indemnifiable liability or risk
under these sale agreements for which we believe a future payment is probable and a range of loss can be reasonably
estimated. Such matters are discussed in “Note 14 — Commitments and Contingencies” of Item 8, incorporated
herein by reference.

In the ordinary course of our business, we may enter into agreements for the supply of goods or services to
customers that provide warranties to the customer on one or more of the following: (i} the quality of the goods and
services supplied by us; (ii) the performance of the goods supplied by us; and (iii) our compliance with certain
specifications and applicable laws and regulations in supplying the goods and services. Liability under such
warranties is ofien limited to a maximum amount, by the nature of the claim or by the time period within which a
claim must be asserted. As of December 30, 2007, we believe our liability under such warranties was immaterial.

In the ordinary course of our business, we may enter into service agreements with service providers in
which we agree to indemnify the service provider against certain losses and liabilities arising from the service
provider's performance of the agreement. Generally, such indemnification obligations do not apply in situations in
which the service provider is grossly negligent, engages in willful misconduct or acts in bad faith. As of December
30, 2007, we believe our liability under such service agreements was immaterial.

In the ordinary course of our business, we may enter into supply agreements (such as those discussed
above), service agreements (such as those discussed above), purchase agreements, leases, and other types of
agreements in which we agree to indemnify the party or parties with whom we are contracting against certain losses
and liabilities arising from, among other things: (i) our breach of the agreement or representations or warranties
under the agreement; (ii) our failure to perform any of our obligations under the agreement; (iii) certain defined
actions or omissions by us; and (iv) our failure to comply with certain laws, regulations, rules, policies, or
specifications. As of December 30, 2007, we believe our liability under these agreements was immaterial.

Cash Flows

Operating activities: Net cash provided by operating activities in fiscal 2007 was $24.1 million compared
to $21.7 million in fiscal 2006 and $44.6 million in fiscal 2005. Increased working capital requirements and
additional spending related to strategic initiatives in fiscal 2007 compared to fiscal 2006 were more than offset by
decreased spending associated with our global cost savings program of $4.9 million, as well as decreased cash
contributions to our defined benefit pension plans of $4.6 million. The decrease in net cash provided by operating
activities for fiscal 2006 compared to fiscal 2005 primarily reflected an increase in spending associated with our
global cost savings program of $10.7 million, as well as an increase in working capital usage.

Investing activities: Net cash used in investing activities in fiscal 2007 was $45.5 million compared to
$6.7 million in fiscal 2006 and $110.6 million in fiscal 2005, Cash used in fiscal 2007 primarily represented capital
spending of $49.6 million. Cash used in fiscal 2006 reflected capital spending of $35.8 million, largely offset by
cash proceeds of $29.1 million from divestitures and sales of property, plant and equipment. Of those proceeds,
$26.7 million related to operations and other assets divested under our cost savings program. Cash used in fiscal
2005 was primarily for acquisitions of $78.4 million and capita! spending of $38.3 million. Acquisition spending
related to our September 2005 acquisition of CPHPNA and our December 2005 acquisition of the outstanding
minority interest of our South African Plastic Packaging operation. These expenditures were partially offset by $5.6
million of proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment.

38




Capital projects in fiscat 2008 are expected to support our strategy of growing the Paperboard Packaging
and Plastic Packaging segments and reducing costs, focusing on projects that are in the aggregate expected to
generate a long-term return on investment that exceeds our cost of capital.

Financing activities: Net cash provided by financing activities was $22.9 million in fiscal 2007, compared
to net cash used in financing activities of $15.4 million in fiscal 2006 and net cash provided by financing activities
of $21.4 million in fiscal 2005. Cash provided by financing activities in fiscal 2007 primarily reflected borrowings
on our revolving lines of credit to fund capital spending and spending associated with strategic initiatives. Cash
used in financing activities in fiscal 2006 primarily reflected dividend payments. Cash provided by financing
activities in fiscal 2005 reflected borrowings on our revolving lines of credit of $116.5 million, primarily due to the
acquisition of CPHPNA, partially offset by net debt payments of $77.9 million, including the redemption of £2.9
million principal amount of our 10.375% senior subordinated notes due 2011. More information regarding our
financing activities is found under the caption “—Financing.” We paid cash dividends of $0.44 per share in fiscal
2007 and $0.88 per share in fiscal 2006 and fiscal 2005, resulting in the use of cash of $8.5 million in fiscal 2007
and $17.1 million in fiscal 2006 and fiscal 2005.

Qur anticipated cash requirements during 2008 are primarily to fund capital expenditures and fund
supplementary pension contributions. We expect to fund our cash requirements in 2008 with cash generated from
operations, and by utilizing the borrowing capacity available under the senior credit facility.

Capital Structure

Our tota] capitalization (consisting of debt and stockholders’ equity) was $796.5 million at the end of fiscal
2007, compared to $701.5 million at the end of fiscal 2006. The year-end ratio of debt to total capital was 64.7
percent for fiscal 2007, compared to 66.7 percent for fiscal 2006.

At the end of 2007, we had 19.9 million shares of commen stock outstanding. (See “Note 11 —
Stockholders’ Equity” of Item 8, incorporated herein by reference for more details on capital stock.) Stockholders’
equity at December 30, 2007 was $281.2 million, or $14.13 per share, up $2.33 per share compared to year-end
2006.

The market price for our common stock ranged from a low of $4.81 per share to a high of $18.68 per share
in 2007, with a year-end price of $5.53 per share.

Risk Management

Because we currently conduct a significant amount of our business internationally, fluctuations in currency
exchange rates or changes in economic conditions in foreign markets may have a significant impact on our financial
statements. Currency fluctuations have much less effect on local operating results because we mostly sell our
products in the same currency used to pay local operating costs. Our currency exposures are cash, debt and foreign
currency transactions denominated primarily in the British pound, the euro and the South African rand. We manage
our foreign currency exposures primarily by funding certain foreign currency denominated assets with liabilities in
the same currency and, as such, certain exposures are naturally offset. The €100 million senior notes issued in
December of 2004 have been designated as a hedge of our net investment in euro functional currency subsidiaries.
At December 30, 2007, a debit of $15.2 million related to the revaluation of the debt from euro to U.S. dollars was
included as a cumulative translation adjustment. As part of managing our foreign currency exposures, we may enter
into foreign currency forward exchange contracts for transactions that are not denominated in the local currency.
The use of these agreements allows us to reduce our overall exposure to exchange rate fluctuations, as the gains and
losses on the agreements substantially offset the gains and losses on the transactions being hedged. Forward
exchange agreements are viewed as risk management tools, involve little complexity and, in accordance with
company policy, are not used for trading or speculative purposes. In 2003, we entered into a foreign currency
forward exchange contract in a notional principal amount of £50 million and having a fair market value liability of
$13.2 million at December 30, 2007. The contract matures in 2011. Chesapeake is not a party to any leveraged
derivatives.
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From time to time, we have entered into interest rate swaps to convert variable interest rate debt to fixed
interest rate debt and vice versa and to obtain an acceptable level of interest rate risk. Amounts currently due to, or
from, interest swap counterparties are recorded in interest expense in the period they accrue. The related amounts
payable to, or receivable from, the counterparties are included in other accrued liabilities. At December 30, 2007
and January 1, 2006, there were no interest rate swap agreements outstanding. In January 2004, we terminated an
interest rate swap and received a cash settlement from the counterparty of $7.3 million. Of this amount,
approximately $6.3 million is being recognized as an interest rate yield adjustment over the remaining life of the
underlying debt.

At December 30, 2007, 34 percent of our debt portfolio consisted of variable rate debt. A sensitivity
analysis to measure potential changes in the interest expense from a change in interest rates indicated that a one
percentage point increase or decrease in interest rates would have changed our annual interest expense by $1.7
million for fiscal 2007 and $1.4 miilion for fiscal 2006.

Qur cash position includes amounts denominated in foreign currencies. We manage our worldwide cash
requirements considering available funds held by our subsidiaries and the cost effectiveness with which these funds
can be accessed. The repatriation of cash balances from some of our subsidiaries could have adverse tax
consequences. We examined the potential impact of the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 and determined it did
not provide a tax advantage to us,

We continually evaluate risk retention and insurance levels for product liability, property damage and other
potential exposures to risk. We devote significant effort to maintaining and improving safety and internal control
programs, which are intended to reduce our exposure to certain risks. Management determines the amount of
insurance coverage to purchase and the appropriate amount of risk to retain based on the cost and availability of
insurance and the likelihood of a loss. Management believes that the current levels of risk retention are consistent
with those of comparable companies in the industries in which we operate. There can be no assurance that we will
not incur losses beyond the limits, or outside the coverage, of our insurance. However, our liquidity, financial
position and profitability are not expected to be materially affected by the levels of risk retention that we accept.

Critical Accounting Policies

We describe the significant accounting policies employed in the Consolidated Financial Statements and the
notes thereto within the footnotes. Chesapeake’s Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared by
management in accordance with GAAP. GAAP sometimes permits more than one method of accounting to be used.
In additicn, the preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets
and liabilities, and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses. Judgments and assessments of uncertainties are
required in applying our accounting policies in many areas. Reported results could have been materially different
under a different set of assumptions and estimates.

The following summary provides further information about the critical accounting policies and should be
read in conjunction with the notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. We believe that the consistent
application of our policies provides readers of Chesapeake’s financial statements with useful and reliable
information about our operating results and financial condition.

We have discussed the application of these critical accounting policies with our Board of Directors and
Audit Committee.

Goodwill and Other Long-Lived Asset Valuations

Management uses its judgment to assess whether current events or circumstances indicate that the carrying
value of goodwill and other long-lived assets to be held and used may not be recoverable. Management performs
impairment tests that require estimates of factors such as sales volume, pricing, inflation, discount rates, exchange
rates, asset remaining lives and capital spending. These projections are necessarily dependent upon assumptions
about our performance and the economy in general and could change significantly from period to period.
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Assumptions used are consistent with our internal planning. If assumptions and estimates change, it could result in
non-cash charges that could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial position.

In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 142, Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets (“SFAS 142”), management reviews the recorded value of our goodwill annually, or sooner if
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may exceed fair value. With the assistance of
a third-party valuation firm, fair value of our reporting units is determined using a discounted cash flow model and
confirmed using a guideline public companies mode] which uses peer group metrics to value a company. We
performed our annual evaluation of goodwill for our reporting units as of December 1, 2007. Based on our analysis,
we concluded that the carrying amount of our goodwiil was realizable.

The carrying value of long-lived assets other than goodwill is evaluated when certain events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Asset groupings are considered to be
impaired if their carrying value is not recoverable from the estimated undiscounted cash flows associated with the
assets. If we determine an asset grouping is impaired, an impairment is recognized in the amount by which the
carrying value exceeds fair market value based on estimated present vatue of its future cash flows.

Environmental and Other Contingencies

In accordance with GAAP, management recognizes a liability for environmental remediation and litigation
costs when it believes it is probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount can be reasonably estimated.
Due to the wide range of possible outcomes of any environmental obligation, significant management judgment is
required to determine the amount of the environmental accrual. Management must make estimates on items such as
the remediation and restoration costs based on the estimated contamination levels. Future expenditures for
environmental obligations are not discounted unless the aggregate amount of the obligations, and the amount and
timing of the cash payments, are fixed and readily determinable. The accrual is not reduced for any possible future
insurance or indemnification recoverics. We periodically review the status of all significant existing or potential
environmental issues and adjust our accrual as necessary. In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2007, we reviewed, and
increased, our estimate of our reasonably probable environmental costs based on remediation activities to date and
other developments. If any of the estimates or their related assumptions change in the future, or if actual outcomes
are different than our estimates, we may be required to record material adjustments to the accrual. (See “Note 14 ~
Commitments and Contingencies” of Item 8, incorporated herein by reference.)

Pension and Other Postretirement Employee Benefits

We have significant pension and postretirement benefit costs and credits that are developed from actuarial
valuations. The actuarial valuations employ key assumptions that are particularly important when determining our
projected liabilities for pension and other postretirement employee benefits. Payments made by Chesapeake related
to these benefits will be made over a lengthy period and the projected liability will be affected by assumptions
regarding inflation, investment returns and market interest rates, changes in the numbers of plan participants and
changes in the benefit obligations and laws and regulations covering the benefit obligation. We have taken several
steps to minimize our exposure to the longer-term risks of defined benefit pension arrangements. Specifically,
during the fourth quarter of 2006 we merged our U.S. pension plans for hourly and salaried employees and froze
certain benefits under our supplemental executive retirement plan. During fiscal 2005, we froze benefits under
certain of our U.S. defined benefit plans and closed our principal UK. defined benefit plans to new entrants. The
U.S. curtailment cost was not significant and was recorded in fiscal 2006 as the plan closure occurred following the
measurement date in fiscal 2005. The key assumptions used in developing our fiscal 2007 balances are detailed in
“Note 10 — Employee Retirement and Postretirement Benefits” of Item 8, incorporated herein by reference.

Discount rates are used to determine the present value of future payments. In general, our liability
increases as the discount rate decreases and vice versa. A lower expected return on plan assets increases the amount
of pension expense and vice versa. Decreases in the level of actual plan assets will also serve to increase the amount
of pension expense. Pension expense and liabilities would be higher with a higher compensation increase.
Management develops assumptions with the assistance of independent actuaries. Discount rates are determined
from analyses provided by the actuary of Aa rated bonds for U.S. plans and other relative bond indices for non-U.S.
plans with cash flows matching the expected payments to be made under the plans. If the discount rate used in the
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2007 valuation were decreased by 25 basis points, our projected benefit obligation would have increased by
approximately $23.0 million at December 30, 2067, and the 2008 pension expense would increase by $2.2 million.
If the discount rate were increased by 25 basis points, our projected benefit obligation would have decreased by
approximately $21.6 million at December 30, 2007, and the 2008 pension expense would decrease by $ 2.0 million.

The amortization of previously unrecognized actuarial losses is also a significant element of our net
periodic pension expense. Our unrecognized actuarial losses result principally from historical declines in our
discount rates as well as the underperformance of plan assets relative to expected returns. Unrecognized actuarial
losses are amortized on a straight line basis over the average remaining service lives of active participants (generally
11-17 years) or over the average remaining life expectancy for plans where substantially all participants are inactive.
As a result of permanently freezing benefits available under our principal U.S. defined benefit plans, we changed the
amortization period for unrecognized actuarial losses for our U.S. plans to the average remaining life expectancy of
inactive participants effective January 2, 2006.

We currently have a recovery plan in effect for one of our UK. pension plans that stipulates supplementary
employer cash contributions of at least $12.0 million per year above required levels in order to achieve a funding
level of 100 percent by July, 2014. In addition, the recovery plan requires an increase in future supplementary
annual contributions if an interim funding level of 90 percent is not achieved by April 8, 2008. The funded level is
dependent upon certain actuarial assumptions as prescribed in the recovery plan and approved by the U.K. pension
regulators. Changes to these assumptions could have a significant impact on the calculation of the funded level.
This could result in annual supplementary employer cash contributions to be materially in excess of $12.0 million
per year.

To improve the funded status of our pension plans, we made supplementary employer cash contributions of
$12.6 million in fiscal 2005, $15.1 million in fiscal 2006, and $12.2 million in fiscal 2007 over the required
contributions, and we anticipate fiscal 2008 supplementary funding to be at least $12.0 million above required
levels. We also expect pension expense in fiscal 2008 to decrease by approximately $7.1 million over fiscal 2007
levels based on the estimated aggregate funded status of our pension and postretirement plans. On December 31,
2006 the Company adopted SFAS No. 158, “Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other
Postretirement Plans — an amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106, and 132(R)” (“SFAS 158”), which
requires an employer to recognize the over-funded or under-funded status of a defined benefit postretirement plan
{other than a multiemployer plan) as an asset or liability in its statement of financial position and to recognize the
changes in that funded status in the year in which the changes occur through comprehensive income. This Statement
also requires an employer to measure the funded status of a plan as of the date of its year-end statement of financial
position, with limited exceptions. The measurement date provisions are effective for fiscal years ending after
December 15, 2008. For the 2007, 2006 and 2005 fiscal years, the Company used a September 30 measurement
date.

We annually re-evaluate our assumptions used in projecting pension and other postretirement liabilities and
associated expense. Had we used different assumptions in calculating the liabilities, the carrying value of the
liabilities and the impact on net eamings may have been different.

Income Taxes

Many deductions for tax return purposes cannot be taken until the expenses are actually paid, rather than
when the expenses are accrued under GAAP. Similarly, certain items of income are not subject to tax when accrued
for book purposes. In addition, certain tax credits and tax loss carryforwards cannot be used until future periods,
and then only if sufficient taxable income is generated. Companies accrue deferred tax assets and liabilities for
these temporary differences between income determined under GAAP and income determined in accordance with
applicable tax law. When a company has accrued deferred tax assets, GAAP requires an assessment based on the
judgment of management as to whether, it is “more likely than not” that the company wiil generate sufficient future
taxable income in order to realize the benefit of those deferred tax assets. On a quarterly basis, management reviews
its judgment regarding the likelihood that the benefits of the deferred tax assets will be realized. During the periodic
reviews, management must consider a variety of factors, including the nature, timing and amount of the expected
items of taxable income and expense, current tax statutes with respect to applicable carryforward expiration periods
and the company’s projected future earnings. If management determines it is no longer “more likely than not” that a
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deferred tax asset will be utilized, an offsetting valuation allowance would be recorded to reduce the asset to its net
realizable value with a corresponding charge to income tax expense in that peried.

Our accounting for U.S. deferred income taxes is further complicated by our U.S. tax loss position. Our
ability to project the recovery of U.S. deferred income tax assets is heavily dependent on the assumptions related to
the extent and timing of reversals of taxable temporary differences (deferred income tax liabilities).

Uncertain Tax Positions are recorded under the guidance of FASB 48 Interpretation No. 48 (“FIN 438™),
FIN 48 prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and
measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return, The Interpretation requires that we
recognize in the financial statements, the impact of a tax position, if that position is more likely than not of being
sustained on audit, based on the technical merits for the position. FIN 48 also provides guidance on derecognizing
and classification of income tax related liabilities, interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods and
disclosure. The Company has adopted a policy to recognize interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax
benefits in income tax expense. Uncertain tax positions are recorded and classified in other current liabilities (if
payment is due within twelve months) and in other long term liabilities (if payment is expected in more than twelve
months). See “Nate 9 — Income Taxes” of Item 8, incorporated herein by reference.See "Note 9 - Income Taxes" of
Item 8, incorporated herein by reference.

Restructuring and Other Exit Costs

In connection with our $25-million cost savings program initiated in 2005 and other restructuring activities,
we have accrued liabilities associated with costs of employee terminations and the consolidation of facilities, and
have written off assets that will no longer be used in operations. Restructuring-related costs have been and will be
recorded in accordance with SFAS No. 112, Employers' Accounting for Postemployment Benefits (“SFAS 1127) or
SFAS No. 146, Accounting for the Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities (“SFAS 1467), as appropriate.
SFAS 112 applies to post-employment benefits provided to employees under ongoing benefit arrangements,
determinable from either the Company’s postemployment policies or from past practices. In accordance with SFAS
112, the Company records such charges when the termination benefits are probable, capable of estimation, the
benefits are attributable to services already rendered and the obligation relates to rights that vest or accumulate. For
termination benefits not otherwise provided under ongoing benefit arrangements, SFAS 146 requires recognition of
costs associated with an exit or disposal activity when the liability is incurred and can be measured at fair value.
The recognition of these charges requires management to make certain judgments regarding the nature, timing and
amount associated with the planned restructuring activities. At the end of each reporting period, the Company
evaluates the appropriateness of the remaining accrued balances. Any change of estimates will be recognized as an
adjustment to the accrued liabilities in the period of change.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2006 the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Value
Measurements (“SFAS 157”), which defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in
accordance with GAAP and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. The provisions of SFAS 157 are
effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007, and interim periods
within those fiscal years. In February 2008 the FASB decided to partially defer the implementation of SFAS 157 for
certain nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities for one year and to remove certain leasing transactions from
the scope of SFAS 157. We are currently evaluating the impact that SFAS 157 will have on our financial
statements.

In February 2007 the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities—including an amendment of FAS 115 (“SFAS 159”). SFAS 159 allows companies to choose,
at specified election dates, to measure at fair value eligible financial assets and liabilities that are not otherwise
required to be measured at fair value. Unrealized pains and losses shall be reported at each subsequent reporting date
on items for which the fair value option has been elected in carnings. SFAS 159 also establishes presentation and
disclosure requirements. SFAS 159 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007 and will be
applied prospectively. We do not intend to exercise the fair value option available under SFAS 159, and therefore
do not expect that SFAS 159 will have a significant impact on our financial statements.
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In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141R, Business Combinations ("SFAS 141R"). SFAS 141R
amends SFAS 141 and provides revised guidance for recognizing and measuring identifiable assets and goodwill
acquired, liabilities assumed, and any noncontrolling interest in the acquiree. It also provides disclosure
requirements to enable users of the financial statements to evaluate the nature and financial effects of the business
combination. It is effective for fiscal years beginning on or after December 15, 2008 and will be applied
prospectively. We are currently evaluating the impact that SFAS 141R will have on our financial statements.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial
Statements — an amendment of ARB No. 51 ("SFAS 160"). SFAS 160 requires that ownership interests in
subsidiaries held by parties other than the parent, and the amount of consolidated net income, be clearly identified,
labeled, and presented in the consolidated financial statements. It also requires that once a subsidiary is
deconsolidated, any retained noncontrolling equity investment in the former subsidiary be initially measured at fair
value. Sufficient disclosures are required to clearly identify and distinguish between the interests of the parent and
the interests of the noncontrolling owners. It is effective for fiscal years beginning on or afier December 15, 2008
and requires retroactive adoption of the presentation and disclosure requirements for existing minority interests. All
other requirements shall be applied prospectively. We are currently evaluating the impact that SFAS 160 will have
on our financial statements.

Forward-Looking Statements

Forward-looking statements in the foregoing Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations include statements that are identified by the use of words or phrases including,
but not limited to, the following: “will likely result,” “expected to,” “will continue,” “is anticipated,” “estimated,”
“project,” “‘believe,” “expect” and words or phrases of similar import. Changes in the following important factors,
among others, could cause Chesapeake’s actual results to differ materially from those expressed in any such
forward-looking statements: our inability to realize the full extent of the expected savings or benefits from
restructuring or cost savings initiatives, and to complete such activities in accordance with their planned timetables
and within the cost ranges; the effects of competitive products and pricing; changes in production costs, particularly
for raw materials such as folding carton and plastics materials, and our ability to pass through increases in raw
material costs to our customers; fluctuations in demand; possible recessionary trends in U.S. and global economies;
changes in governmental policies and regulations; changes in interest rates and credit availability; changes in
actuarial assumptions related to our pension and postretirement benefits plans; our ability to remain in compliance
with our current debt covenants and to refinance our senior credit facility; fluctuations in foreign currency exchange
rates; changes in our liabilities and cash funding obligations associated with our defined benefit pension plans; and
other risks that are detailed from time to time in reports filed by Chesapeake with the Securities and Exchange
Commission.

Item 7A.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

The information presented under the caption “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations — Risk Management” of [tem 7 is incorporated herein by reference.
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CHESAPEAKE CORPORATION
Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 30, December 31,
2007 2006
(in mitlions)
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 100 $ 78
Accounts receivable (less allowance of $3.6 and $3.9) 163.6 146.7
Inventories 1214 109.4
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 29.9 20.4
Income taxes receivable 6.3 2.6
Total current assets 331.2 286.9
Property, plant and equipment:
Plant sites and buildings 188.8 188.2
Machinery and equipment 388.6 402.5
Construction in progress 12.8 7.5
590.2 598.2
Less accumulated depreciation 2315 244]
Net property, plant and equipment 358.7 354.1
Goodwill 387.4 381.2
Other assets 136.4 92.6
Total assets 51,213.7 $l,l 14.8
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 1472 8 13638
Accrued expenses 814 83.9
Income taxes payable 1.8 18.1
Current portion of long-term debt 6.9 1.8
Dividends payable — 44
Total current liabilities 2373 255.0
Long-term debt 508.4 456.0
Environmental liabilities 58.9 43.6
Pensions and postretirement benefits 38.5 102.7
Deferred income taxes 43.8 9.6
Long-term income taxes payable 28.5 —
Other long-term liabilities 7.1 14.2
Total liabilities 932.5 881.1
Stockholders’ equity:
Common stock, $1 par value; authorized, 60 million shares; outstanding,

19.9 million shares and 19.8 million shares respectively 19.9 19.8
Additional paid-in capital 94.2 93.6
Accumulated other comprehensive income {loss) 47.9 (16.7)
Retained earnings 119.2 137.0

Total stockhelders’® equity 281.2 233.7
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $1,213.7 $1,114.8

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of the financial statements.
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CHESAPEAKE CORPORATION
Consolidated Statements of Operations

For the fiscal years ended:
(in millions, except per share data)

Operations:
Net sales
Cost of products sold
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Goodwill impairment charge
Restructuring expenses, asset impairments and other
exit costs
(Gain) loss on divestitures
Other income, net
Operating income (loss)
Interest expense, net
Loss on extinguishment of debt
Loss from continuing operations before taxes
Income tax benefit
Loss from continuing operations
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of
income tax expense of $0.1, $0.0 and $0.1
Loss on disposal of discontinued operations, net
of income tax expense of $1.6, $0.0 and $0.0
Net loss

Basic eamnings per share:
Loss from continuing operations
Discontinued operations, net of income taxes

Basic loss per share

Diluted earnings per share:
Loss from continuing operations
Discontinued operations, net of income taxes

Diluted loss per share

Comprehensive income:
Net loss

Other comprehensive income:

Pension and other postretirement benefit
adjustments (net of deferred taxes of $17.1,
$15.6 and $1.4)

Foreign currency translation

Change in fair market value of derivatives

Comprehensive income (loss)

December 30, December 31, January 1,
2007 2006 2006
$1,059.6 $ 9954 $1,009.2
880.4 820.1 827.8
142.4 134.1 135.2
- 14.3 312.0
15.8 334 10.7
(1.5) (3G.1) 2.8
42 37 1.5
26.7 0.3 (277.8)
44.6 398 328
- 0.6 0.5
17.9) 40.1) (311.1)
4.1) (1.7) (4.4)
(13.8) (32.4) (306.7)
0.3 - (4.4) {5.2)
(2.0} (2.8) (2.9)
$ (15.5) $ (39.6) $(314.3)
$ (0.71) $ (1.67) $ (15.81)
(0.09) {0.37) {0.39)
$ (0.80) 5 (2.04) $ (16.20)
$ (0.71) £ (1.67) $ (15.81)
(0.09) (037 (0.39)
$ (0.80) $ (209 $ (16.20)
$ (15.5) $ (39.6) $(314.3)
51.0 271 3.1
12.1 40.2 (76.9)
LS 4.8 (5.8)
$§ 491 $ 325 $(400.1)

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of the financial statements.
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CHESAPEAKE CORPORATION
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

For the fiscal years ended: December 30, December 31, January 1,
(in millions, except per share data) 2007 2006 2006

Operating activities:
Net loss $(15.5) 5(39.6) $(314.3)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash
provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 534 56.6 59.2
Goodwill impairment charge — 14.3 312.0
Asset impairment charge — 279 —
Deferred income taxes (6.2) (7.9 (11.4)
Loss on extinguishment of debt — 0.6 0.5
Loss (gain) on sale of property, plant and :
equipment 4.1 2.9 {1.3)
(Gain) loss on divestitures (1.5) .n 5.8
Non-cash pension expense 15.3 20.6 13.6
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net
of acquisitions and dispositions:
Accounts receivable, net 0.6 (10.6) 08
Inventories (5.5) 0.7 (6.1)
Other assets 2.3) 32 0.6
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (12.8) 9.9) 4.5
Income taxes payable 6.1 (7.4) 2.1
Premium paid for early extinguishment of
debt — {0.5) 0.4)
Contributions to defined benefit pension
plans {19.2) (23.8) (21.4)
Other 1.6 2.1 04
Net cash provided by operating activities 24.1 21.7 44.6
Investing activities:
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (49.6) (35.8) (38.3)
Acquisitions — — (78.4)
Divestitures — 19.2 —
Proceeds from sales of property, plant and
equipment 4.1 9.9 5.6
Other — — 0.5
Net cash used in investing activities (45.5) 6.7 (110.6)
Financing activities:
Net borrowings on credit lines 334 225 116.5
Payments on long-term debt 2.2) (23.5) (8L.2)
Proceeds from long-term debt — 36 13
Debt issuance costs 0.3) {0.9) —_
Dividends paid (8.5) (17.1) (17.1)
Other 0.5 —_ 0.1}
Net cash provided by (used in) financing
activities 22.9 (15.4) 214
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on
cash and cash equivalents 0.7 (0.5) (1.0
Increase (decrease} in cash and cash
equivalents 2.2 0.9} (45.6)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 7.8 8.7 54.3
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 10.0 $78 $ 87

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of the financial statements.
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CHESAPEAKE CORPORATION
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity

For the fiscal years ended: December 30, December 31, January 1,
{in millions) 2007 2006 2006
Common stock:

Balance, beginning of year 5198 $19.6 $19.6
Issuance from public stock offering — — _
Issuance for employee stock plans 0.1 0.2 —

Balance, end of year 19.9 19.8 19.6

Additional paid-in capital:

Balance, beginning of year 93.6 96.6 96.1
Issuance for employee stock plans, net of

forfeitures 0.3 0.2 0.5
Elimination of uneamed compensation upon

adoption of SFAS 123(R) — 3.9 —
Compensation expense 0.3 0.7 —

Balance, end of year 94.2 93.6 96.6

Unearned compensation:

Balance, beginning of year — (3.9 3.7
Compensation expense — — 0.1
Issuance for employee stock plans, net of

forfeitures — — {0.3)
Elimination of unearned compensation upon

adoption of SFAS 123(R) — 3.9 —

Balance, end of year — — (3.9

Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income:

Balance, beginning of year (16.7) (10.9) 74.9
Foreign currency translation 12.1 40.2 (76.9)
Pension and other postretirement benefits

adjustments 51.0 27.1 (3.1)
Change in fair market value of derivatives 1.5 4.8 (5.8)
Adoption of FASB Statement No. 158 — (77.9) —

Balance, end of year 479 (16.7) (10.9)

Retained earnings:

Balance, beginning of year 137.0 193.9 5253
Net loss (15.5) (39.6) (314.3)
Cash dividends declared (4.1) {(17.3) {17.1)
Adoption of FIN 48 1.8 — —

Balance, end of year 119.2 137.0 193.9

Stockholders’ equity, end of year $281.2 $233.7 $295.3

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of the financial statements.
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CHESAPEAKE CORPORATION
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Financial Statement Presentation

The Consclidated Financial Statements include the accounts and operations of Chesapeake Corporation and
all of its subsidiaries (“Chesapeake™). In 2001, we sold our principal businesses included in the former
Merchandising and Specialty Packaging segment and our 5 percent equity interest in Georgia-Pacific Tissue, LLC,
which comprised our former Tissue segment. The remainder of the Land Development segment was liquidated as of
the end of the first quarter of 2004. In 2006, we completed the sale of our French luxury packaging business
(“CLP”). These former businesses are accounted for as discontinued operations (see “Note 2 — Discontinued
Operations”). Chesapeake now reports two segments — Paperboard Packaging and Plastic Packaging. All
significant inter-company accounts and transactions have been eliminated.

The consolidated statement of operation for the fiscal year ended December 30, 2007 includes adjustments
from prior periods that were recorded in the first quarter and fourth quarter of fiscal 2007. The net impact of the
adjustments recorded in the first quarter of fiscal 2007 increased loss from continuing operations before taxes by
$0.1 million, loss from continuing operations by $0.7 million and net loss by $0.5 million. These adjustments
included (1) an understatement of taxable income in a non-U.S. tax jurisdiction related to shared expenses of
subsidiaries and (2} balance sheet adjustments on central ledgers related to assets that had been previously disposed
of or impaired. The net impact of the adjustment recorded in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2007 increased loss from
continuing operations before taxes, loss from continuing operations, and net loss by $0.3 million. This adjustment
was related to depreciation of assets that were acquired in September 2005 with the purchase of CPHPNA. These
adjustments from prior periods that were recorded in the first quarter and fourth quarter of fiscal 2007 were deemed
immaterial to the current and prior periods.

Our 52-53 week fiscal year ends on the Sunday nearest to December 31. Fiscal years 2005, 2006 and 2007
each contain 52 weeks.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with United States generally accepted
accounting principtes (“GAAP”) requires management to make extensive use of estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts and disclosures. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue from our packaging businesses in accordance with Staff Accounting Builetin No.
104. Revenue from the sale of products is recognized upon passage of title to the customer, which is at the time of
product acceptance by the customer provided that: there are no uncertainties regarding customer acceptance;
persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists; the sales price is fixed and determinable; and collectibility is deemed
probable. Sales are reported net of actual returns received, estimated rebates and an amount established for
anticipated returns,

Foreign Currency Transiation

Our Consolidated Financial Statements are reported in U.S, dollars. Assets and liabilities of foreign
subsidiaries are translated using rates of exchange at the balance sheet date, and related revenues and expenses are
translated at average rates of exchange in effect during the yvear. Resulting cumulative translation adjustments have
been recorded as a separate component within accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) of stockholders’
equity. Realized gains and losses resulting from foreign currency transactions are included in other income.

Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market, determined principally by the average cost method.

Unless specific circumstances warrant different treatment, the cost bases of inventories six to twelve months old are
reduced 50 percent while the cost bases of inventories older than twelve months are reduced to zero.
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CHESAPEAKE CORPORATION
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Accounts Receivable

Trade accounts receivable do not bear interest. An allowance for doubtful accounts is recorded for
estimated losses resulting from the inability of our customers to make required payments. We review the allowance
for doubtful accounts monthly. Any balances more than six months old are fully reserved unless specific
circumstances warrant different treatment. An additional reserve is made for the potential impact of credit notes
issued after the period end. This reserve is based on the historic level of credit notes experienced, and any known
problems with delivered product.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation. The costs of major rebuilds
and replacements of plant and equipment are capitalized, and the costs of ordinary maintenance and repairs are
charged to expense as incurred. Certain costs of software developed or obtained for internal use are capitalized.
When property, plant and equipment is sold or retired, the costs and the related accumulated depreciation are
removed from the accounts and the gains or losses are reflected in other income. Depreciation for financial
reporting purposes is computed principally by the straight-line method over the estimated useful asset lives, which
range from 10 to 50 years for buildings and improvements and 5 to 20 years for machinery and equipment.
Depreciation expense from continuing operations was $51.7 million in fiscal 2007, $54.7 million in fiscal 2006 and
$57.8 million in fiscal 2005.

The carrying value of long-lived assets other than goodwill is evaluated when certain events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Asset groupings are considered to be
impaired if their carrying value is not recoverable from the estimated undiscounted cash flows associated with the
assets. If we determine an asset grouping is impaired, an impairment is recognized in the amount by which the
carrying value exceeds fair market value based on estimated present value of its future cash flows. In the fourth
quarter of fiscal 2006 we recorded an asset impairment charge in the amount of $24.9 million related to the fixed
assets within the tobacco reporting unit of the Paperboard Packaging reporting segment. See “Note 5 —
Restructuring Charges” for more information.

Goodwill

Management reviews the recorded value of our goodwill annually on December 1, or sooner if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of our reporting units may exceed their fair values. With
the assistance of a third-party valuation firm, fair value of our reporting units is determined using a discounted cash
flow model and confirmed using a guideline public companies model which uses peer group metrics to value a
company. For the discounted cash flow model, management projects future cash flows produced by the reporting
units. The projections of future cash flows are necessarily dependent upon assumptions about our operating
performance and the economy in general. During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2006, we recorded an impairment
charge of $14.3 million in the tobacco packaging reporting unit. Based on our annual analysis as of December 1,
2005, we recorded an impairment charge of $312.0 million. See “Note 4 — Goodwill and Intangible Assets” for
more information.

Financial Instruments

Cash and cash equivalents include highly liquid, temporary cash investments with original maturities of
three months or less. The carrying amounts of temporary cash investments, trade receivables and trade payables
approximate fair value because of the short maturities of the instruments.

Financial instruments that potentially subject us to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of
temporary cash investments and trade receivables. We place temporary cash investments in high-quality financial
instruments and, by policy, limit the amount of credit exposure related to any one instrument. Concentrations of
credit risk with regard to trade receivables are limited due to the large number of customers and their dispersion
across different industries and countries.
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CHESAPEAKE CORPORATION
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Chesapeake uses derivative instruments to manage exposures to foreign currency and interest rate risks.
We principally use forward exchange contracts and interest rate swaps to hedge against these exposures. Derivative
instruments are recorded on the balance sheet as assets or liabilities and measured at fair market value. Derivatives
that are not designated as hedges are adjusted to fair value through other income, If the derivative is a hedge,
depending on the nature of the hedge, changes in the fair value of the derivative are either offset against the change
in fair value of the hedged assets, liabilities or firm commitments through eamings in the same financial statement
line item as the impact of the hedged item or recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income until the
hedged item is recognized in earnings. !f a derivative is used as a hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation,
changes in fair value, to the extent effective as a hedge, are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income.
The ineffective portion of any derivative’s change in fair value is immediately recognized in other income. Cash
flows resulting from the settlement of derivatives used as hedging instruments are included in net cash flows from
operating activities. The contracts that have been designated as hedges of anticipated future cash flows will be
marked-to-market through accumulated other comprehensive income (balance sheet adjustments) until such time as
the related forecasted transactions affect eamnings. The fair value estimates are based on relevant market
information, including current market rates and prices. Fair value estimates for derivative instruments are provided
to Chesapeake by banks known to be high-volume participants in this market.

Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for in accordance with SFAS No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes, which
requires us to recognize deferred tax assets and liabilities for the future tax consequences of events that have been
included in the Consolidated Financial Statements. Deferred tax liabilities and assets are determined based on the
differences between the book values and the tax basis of particular assets and liabilities, using tax rates in effect for
the years in which the differences are expected to reverse. Valuation allowances are recorded to reduce deferred tax
assets when it is “more likely than not” that a tax benefit will not be realized. When a company has accrued
deferred tax assets, GAAP requires an assessment based on the judgment of management as to whether it is “more
likely than not” that the company will generate sufficient future taxable income in order to realize the benefit of
those deferred tax assets. On a quarterly basis, management reviews its judgment regarding the likelihood the
henefits of the deferred tax assets will be realized. During the periodic reviews, management must consider a
variety of factors, including the nature, timing and amount of the expected items of taxable income and expense,
current tax statutes with respect to applicable carryforward expiration periods and the company’s projected future
earnings. If management determines it is no longer “more likely than not” that a deferred tax asset will be utilized,
an offsetting valuation allowance would be recorded to reduce the asset to its net realizable value with a
corresponding charge to income tax expense in that period. Uncertain Tax Positions are recorded under the guidance
of FASB 48 Interpretation No. 48 (“FIN 48”). FIN 48 prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute
for the financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax
return. The Interpretation requires that we recognize in the financial statements, the impact of a tax position, if that
position is more likely than not of being sustained on audit, based on the technical merits for the position. FIN 48
also provides guidance on derecognizing and classification of income tax related liabilities, interest and penalties,
accounting in interim periods and disclosure. The Company has adopted a policy to recoghize interest and penalties
related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense. Uncertain tax positions are recorded and classified in
other current liabilities (if payment is due within twelve months) and in other long term liabilities (if payment is
expected in more than twelve months).

Share-Based Compensation

On January 2, 2006 we adopted SFAS No. 123 {revised 2004), Share-Based Payment ("SFAS 123(R)").
We elected to use the modified prospective transition method, which requires the application of the accounting
standard as of January 2, 2006, the first day of our fiscal year ending December 31, 2006. Under this transition
method prior period results were not restated. Prior to January 2, 2006 we accounted for share-based compensation
plans in accordance with the provisions of Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock
Issued to Employees, and Related Interpretations (“APB 25”) as permitted by SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-
Based Compensation (“SFAS No. 123”). We elected to use the intrinsic value method of accounting for employee
and director share-based compensation expense for our noncompensatory employee and director stock option
awards and did not recognize compensation expense for the issuance of options with an exercise price equal to or
greater than the market price of the underlying common stock at the date of grant.

52




CHESAPEAKE CORPORATION
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

SFAS 123(R) requires the measurement and recognition of compensation expense for all share-based
payment awards made to employees and directors, including employee stock options and restricted stock awards,
based on estimated fair values. Under the modified prospective transition method, the share-based compensation
cost recognized beginning January 2, 2006 includes compensation cost for (i) all share-based payments granted prior
to, but not vested as of, January 2, 2006 based on the grant date fair value originally estimated in accordance with
the provisions of SFAS No. 123, and (ii) all share-based payments granted subsequent to January 1, 2006 based on
the grant date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions of SFAS 123(R). In March 2005 the SEC
issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107 ("SAB 107") relating to SFAS 123(R). We have applied the provisions of
SAB 107 in our adoption of SFAS 123(R).

Prior to the adoption of SFAS 123(R) we presented the cash flow benefits for income tax deductions
resulting from the exercise of stock options as operating cash flows in the statement of cash flows. Effective with
the adoption of SFAS 123(R) we changed our cash flow presentation such that tax benefits ansing from tax
deductions in excess of tax benefits recorded on the compensation costs recognized for such options (excess tax
benefits) are now classified as financing cash flows. Also, effective with the adoption of SFAS 123(R), the amount
previously classified within equity as "Unearned compensation” was charged to "Additional paid-in-capital." As
permitted by SFAS 123(R) we elected to use the short cut method to calculate windfall tax benefits available as of
the adoption date of SFAS 123(R).

See “Note 12 — Stock Option and Award Plans” for more information regarding our stock-based
compensation plans.

Environmental Liabilities

It is our policy to accrue estimated future expenditures for environmental obligations when it is probable
such costs will be incurred and when a range of loss can be reasonably estimated. Future expenditures for
environmental obligations are not discounted unless the aggregate amount of the obligations and the amount and
timing of the cash payments are fixed and readily determinable. We periodically review the status of ali significant
existing or potential environmental issues and adjust our accrual as necessary. The accrual does not reflect any
possible future insurance or indemnification recoveries,

Accruals Relared to Restructuring Activities

Restructuring-related costs have been and will be recorded in accordance with SFAS No. 112, Employers’
Accounting for Postemployment Benefits (“SFAS 1127) or SFAS No. 146, Accounting for the Costs Associated with
Exit or Disposal Activities (“SFAS 146™), as appropriate. SFAS 112 applies to post-employment benefits provided
to employees under ongoing benefit arrangements, determinable from either our post employment policies or from
past practices. In accordance with SFAS 112, we record such charges when the termination benefits are probable,
capable of estimation and attributable to services already rendered and the obligation relates to rights that vest or
accumulate. For termination benefits not otherwise provided under ongoing benefit arrangements SFAS 146
requires recognition of costs associated with an exit or disposal activity when the liability is incurred and can be
measured at fair value, The recognition of restructuring charges requires management to make certain judgments
regarding the nature, timing and amount associated with the planned restructuring activities. At the end of each
reporting period, we evaluate the appropriateness of the remaining accrued balances. Any change of estimates will
be recognized as an adjustment to the accrued liabilities in the period of change.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2006 the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Value
Measurements (“SFAS 157”), which defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in
accordance with GAAP and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. The provisions of SFAS 157 are
effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007, and interim periods
within those fiscal years. In February 2008 the FASB decided to partially defer the implementation of SFAS 157 for
certain nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities for one year and to remove certain leasing transactions from
the scope of SFAS 157. We are currently evaluating the impact that SFAS 157 will have on our financial
statements.
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In February 2007 the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and
' Financial Liabilities—including an amendment of FAS 115 (“SFAS 159”). SFAS 159 allows companies to choose,
at specified election dates, to measure at fair value eligible financial assets and liabilities that are not otherwise
required to be measured at fair value. Unrealized gains and losses shall be reported at each subsequent reporting date
on items for which the fair value option has been elected in earnings. SFAS 159 also establishes presentation and
disclosure requirements. SFAS 159 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007 and will be
applied prospectively. We do not intend to exercise the fair value option available under SFAS 159, and therefore
do not expect that SFAS 159 will have a significant impact on our financial statements.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141R, Business Combinations ("SFAS 141R"). SFAS 141R
amends SFAS 141 and provides revised guidance for recognizing and measuring identifiable assets and goodwill
acquired, liabilities assumed, and any noncontrolling interest in the acquirce, It also provides disclosure
requirements to enable users of the financial statements to evaluate the nature and financial effects of the business
combination. It is effective for fiscal years beginning on or after December 15, 2008 and will be applied
prospectively. We are currently evaluating the impact that SFAS 14 1R will have on our financial statements.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, Noncontroliing Interests in Consolidated Financial
Statements — an amendment of ARB No. 51 ("SFAS 160"). SFAS 160 requires that ownership interests in
substdiarics held by parties other than the parent, and the amount of consolidated net income, be clearly identified,
labeled, and presented in the consolidated financial statements. It also requires that once a subsidiary is
deconsolidated, any retained noncontrolling equity investment in the former subsidiary be initially measured at fair
value. Sufficient disclosures are required to clearly identify and distinguish between the interests of the parent and
the interests of the noncontrolling owners. It is effective for fiscal years beginning on or afier December 15, 2008
and requires retroactive adoption of the presentation and disclosure requirements for existing minority interests. All
other requirements shall be applied prospectively. We are currently evaluating the impact that SFAS 160 will have
on our financial statements.

2 Discontinued Operations

Summarized results of discontinued operations are shown separately in the accompanying consolidated
financial statements, except for the consolidated statements of cash flows, which summarize the activity of
continued and discontinued operations together. Results for the prior periods have been restated for this
presentation.

Discontinued operations includes amounts related to our former French luxury packaging operation, as well
as former Land Development, Tissue and Merchandising and Specialty Packaging segments.

On July 31, 2006 we completed the sale of our French luxury packaging business (“CLP”) to Sofavie. CLP
was included in our Paperboard Packaging segment. The sale price was €0.5 million (approximately $0.6 million at
the sale date). The sale resulted in a pre-tax and after-tax foss of $1.5 million in the third quarter of fiscal 2006,
which is included in "Loss on disposal of discontinued operations” in the accompanying consolidated statements of
operations. The financial position of the CLP business was not material to our consolidated financial position on
July 31, 2006. “Loss on disposal of discontinued operations” also includes the loss on sale of our French wine and
spirits label operation, Bourgeot Etigso Lesbats (“Bourgeot™) in fiscal 2005, which was part of CLP. On April 18,
2005, Chesapeake completed the sale of the assets of Bourgeot to Autajon Group. The sale price was €1.16 million
(approximately $1.5 million at the sale date}). We incurred a pre-tax and after-tax loss on the sale of $3.0 million in
the second quarter of fiscal 2005. The transaction was a sale of substantially all of the assets of the operation,
including machinery, equipment and inventory, and an assignment by Chesapeake of the rights, and an assumption
by the buyer of the obligations, under certain contracts related to the Bourgeot operation, including a lease for the
plant building and substantially all of the post-closing employee obligations and contracts. We retained the pre-
closing trade accounts receivable and trade accounts payable of Bourgeot, as well as employee obligations
pertaining to the operations of Bourgeot prior to the sale date. CLP's historical operating results have been
reclassified and presented within "income (loss) from discontinued operations” in the accompanying consolidated
statements of operations, as follows:
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(in millions) 12 Months Ended

2007 2006 2005
Revenue N/A $16.7 $£32.9
Pre-tax loss N/A $(4.4) $(5.2)

In accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force ("EITF") Issue No. 87-24, interest has been allocated to
CLP for all fiscal years presented. Interest allocated did not have a significant impact on our results from continuing
operations for any of these years.

Qur former Land Development segment owned real estate that we retained when we sold the timberland
associated with our former pulp and paper operations. The real estate was marketed to third parties for residential
and commercial development, real estate investment and land conservation. As of the end of the first quarter of
2004, the remainder of the Land Development segment was liquidated and, as a result, this segment is accounted for
as a discontinued operation.

In the fourth quarter of 2000 we decided to sell the principal businesses that were included in our former
Merchandising and Specialty Packaging segment and the remaining interest in our former Tissue segment, a 5
percent equity interest in Georgia-Pacific Tissue, LLC (the “Tissue JV”). These segments are accounted for as
discontinued operations. We completed the sales of all the components of these segments in 2001. In fiscal 2007
and fiscal 2006 we recognized a pre- and after-tax charge related to an increase in the accrued liability associated
with the disposition of assets of Wisconsin Tissue Mills Inc. in 1999 of $2.4 million and $1.1 million, respectively.
In fiscal 2005 we recognized a pre and after-tax benefit of $0.7 million related to the reduction of the liability for
contractual obligations in our former Merchandising and Specialty Packaging segment.

3 (Gain) Loss on Divestitures

On March 23, 2006 we completed the sale of our plastic packaging operation in Lurgan, Northern Ireland
("Lurgan") to a group led by existing management ("Buyer"). The cash proceeds on sale, net of transaction costs,
approximated $15 million. We also received a subordinated loan note of £1.25 million (approximately $2.2 million
at the sale date}. At the time of sale, the loan note was fully reserved given our subordinated position and the extent
of other acquisition indebtedness of the Buyer, The purchase and sale agreement included customary warranties and
indemnities related to our operation of the business prior to the transaction closing date. The purchase and sale
agreement also provided for an arrangement whereby we received additional proceeds from the Buyer upon the
subsequent sale of certain real property conveyed with the operation which occurred in the third quarter of fiscal
2006. In fiscal 2006 the divestiture resulted in a pre-tax net gain of $3.1 million ($2.9 million after tax). The net
gain of $3.1 million included a pre-tax loss of $1.0 million on the sale recorded in the first quarter, and a pre-tax
gain of $4.1 million due to the receipt of additional proceeds of $3.2 million and recovery of a portion of the
subordinated loan note of $0.9 million recorded in the third quarter. Also during fiscal 2006, in connection with the
divestiture, we made a contribution of approximately $5.9 million to the non-U.S. defined benefit pension plan
which covered the employees of the Lurgan facility. During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2007 we re-evaluated the
collectibility of the subordinated loan note, and based on this evaluation we reversed the provision against it. The
reversal of the provision resulted in a pre and after tax gain of $1.5 million.

In connection with the 2001 divestiture of Consumer Promotions International, Inc. ("CPI"), a component
of our former Merchandising and Specialty Packaging segment, Chesapeake provided seller financing for a portion
of the purchase price through receipt of subordinated promissory notes. Included in the promissory notes were term
notes of approximately $5.0 million, which were recorded at fair value on the date of sale and, under the terms of the
notes, were adjusted to reflect accrued interest through December 31, 2003. CPI paid interest on the term notes on a
timely basis during 2004 and through the first quarter of 2005. In July 2005, CPI informed us of its inability to
continue interest payments under the term notes,  Also, CPI provided us with updated financial information that
indicated a significant deterioration in the operating results of CPI. These factors resulted in a change in our
estimate as to the recovery of these notes. Due to the subordinated nature of our position as a creditor and the risks
associated with pursuing recovery, the notes were written down from $3.4 million to zero in the second quarter of
fiscal 2005. During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2005, we reached a settlement with CPI in the amount of $0.6
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million for the balance of the outstanding notes. The second quarter charge and fourth quarter recovery have been
classified as "(gain} loss on divestitures” in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

4 Goodwill and Intangible Assets

The following table sets forth the details of our goodwill balance:

(éin millions) Paperboard Plastic
Packaging Packaging Total
Balance January 1, 2006 $283.1 $70.9 $£354.0
Goodwill purchase price adjustment (0.7} — 0.7
Divestiture — (5.6) (5.6)
Impairment loss (14.3) — {14.3)
Foreign currency translation 385 9.3 47.8
Balance December 31, 2006 306.6 74.6 381.2
Foreign currency translation 49 1.3 6.2
Balance December 30, 2007 $311.5 $75.9 $387.4

In connection with our March 2006 divestiture of Lurgan, $5.6 million of goodwill was allocated to Lurgan
based on the relative fair value of the divested business to the Plastic Packaging segment taken as a whole.

In connection with our September 2005 acquisition of CPHPNA, a portion of the purchase price was
ascribed to certain finite-lived intangible assets, primarily customer relationships. The cost and accumulated
amortization of customer relationships as of December 30, 2007 were $16.2 million and $3.7 million, respectively.
The cost and accumulated amortization of customer relationships as of December 31, 2006 were $16.2 million and
$2.1 million, respectively. Amortization expense recorded during fiscal 2007 and fiscal 2006 for customer
relationships was $1.6 million. Amortization expense recorded during fiscal 2005 for customer relationships was
$0.5 million.

Amortization expense of our intangible assets for the next five fiscal years is estimated as follows (in
millions):

2008 $1.6
2009 1.6
2010 1.6
2011 1.6
2012 l.e

The reporting units within our Paperboard Packaging and Plastic Packaging segments are tested for
impairment annually on December 1, or sooner if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount of our reporting units may exceed their fair values. As a result of a change in our expectation of a further
decline in tobacco packaging sales, we recorded an impairment charge of $14.3 million in the tobacco packaging
reporting unit during the fourth quarter of fiscat 2006. As a result of competitive economic conditions affecting the
paperboard packaging markets and changes in our profile relative to market capitalization and risks associated with
the extent and timing of savings anticipated under our $25-million cost savings program, we recorded an impairment
charge of $312.0 million during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2005. The fair values of the reporting units within the
Paperboard Packaging segment were determined using the discounted cash flow model and confirmed using the
guideline public companies model, which uses peer group metrics to value a company.

5 Restructuring Charges

During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2005 Chesapeake announced plans for a two-year global cost savings
program. The scope of this program was extensive and involved a number of locations being either sold, closed or
downsized. The program also involved broad-based workforce reductions and a general reduction in overhead costs
throughout the Company. Additionally, we targeted specific improvements in operating processes. The cost of
these initiatives during the two-year program was ¢xpected to range from $30 million to $40 million on a pre-tax
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basis, with the cash flow impact being less due to the sale of related real estate and assets. Full implementation of
this program was expected by the end of fiscal 2007, The ultimate costs and timing of this program were dependent
on consultation and, in certain circumstances, negotiation with European works councils or other employee
representatives.  Costs associated with the program have been recorded in "restructuring expenses, asset
impairments and other exit costs” and “discontinued operations" in the accompanying consolidated statements of
operations. The Company has now completed the $25-million cost savings program and over the course of fiscal
years 2006 and 2007 cost savings in excess of the $25-million goal was achieved. The Company is now evaluating
potential additional restructuring and cost savings actions.

In addition to charges related to the global cost savings program, in fiscal 2006 we recorded an asset
impairment charge of $24.9 million related to the fixed assets of our tobacco reporting unit of the Paperboard
Packaging reporting segment, which is also recorded in “restructuring expenses, asset impairments and other exit
costs” in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. This impairment was recorded as a result of
information provided by British American Tobacco {(“BAT”), a major customer for Chesapeake’s tobacco packaging
products. BAT informed Chesapeake that it was implementing a supplier rationalization program which would
substantially reduce the role of Chesapeake as a packaging supplier to BAT. In the first quarter of 2007 we recorded
a correction to reduce this impairment charge by $0.5 million (see Note 1 — “Adjustments for Items Related to Prior
Periods™), which is also recorded in “restructuring expenses, asset impairments and other exit costs” in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

Charges recorded during fiscal years 2006 and 2007 were primarily within the Paperboard Packaging
segment. Charges recorded during fiscal 2005 were primarily recorded within the Paperboard Packaging and
Corporate segments, These charges are summarized as follows:

12 Months Ended

(in millions) Dec. 30,2007 Dec. 31,2006  Jan. 1, 2006
Employee-related costs $10.3 $9.8 $12.2
Asset impairment 0.3 279 —
Loss on asset sales, redeployment costs, and other exit

costs 5.0 (0.3) 0.9
Total restructuring expenses, asset impairment and

other exit costs 15.6 374 13.1
Less: Restructuring expenses, asset impairments and

other exit costs attributed to discontinued operations (0.2) 4.0 24
Restructuring expenses, asset impairments and other

exit costs attributed to continuing operations $15.8 $33.4 $10.7

During the third quarter of fiscal 2005, Chesapeake initiated a manufacturing reorganization within our
branded products sector of the Paperboard Packaging segment that included the closure of our carton operation at
Oldbury, West Midlands, in the United Kingdom {the “Birmingham” site). The closure was substantially completed
during the first quarter of fiscal 2006. The closure resulted in the termination of 190 employees. In connection with
the closure, the Company recorded expenses of $4.3 million, primarily related to employee severance costs of
approximately $3.4 million during fiscal 2005. During fiscal 2006, we incurred an additional $0.4 million of
employee-related costs and a gain of $0.5 million related to plant asset sales, redeployment and disposal costs,
which included the sale of the facility for approximately $4.7 million in October 2006.

During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2005, Chesapeake began negotiations related to the closure of our rigid
box operation at Ezy-sur-Eure, France (the "Ezy” site). Under this reorganization, production of the products
manufactured at the Ezy facility were transferred to other Company sites in Europe. The closure, which took place
over the first 6 months of 2006, resulted in the termination or relocation of 59 employees. We recorded expenses of
$2.4 million in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2005 of employee-related costs, including severance and other termination
costs, and an additional $0.3 miltion in fiscal 2006. In addition, we recorded approximately $0.2 million in
additional expenses during fiscat 2006, primarily related to asset redeployment and other exit costs. In fiscal 2007,
we released approximately $0.2 million of accrued employee-related costs, Prior to its closure, the Ezy facility
formed part of the CLP operation. We completed the sale of CLP on July 31, 2006. The historical operating results
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of Ezy, including restructuring activities associated with Ezy, have been reflected as discontinued operations. See
“Note 2 — Discontinued Operations.”

During the first quarter of fiscal 2006 we initiated the closure of our paperboard packaging carton operation
at Bedford in the United Kingdom. Under the closure plan, production of products manufactured at the Bedford
facility was transferred to other Company sites in the United Kingdom. The closure, which was completed in the
third quarter of fiscal 2006, resulted in 89 employee terminations. We recognized approximately $2.2 million in
employee-related costs during fiscal 2006 associated with this closure. In addition, we incurred costs of
approximately $0.1 million related to Bedford asset disposals and redeployments. During fiscal 2007 we incurred
approximately $0.7 million of additional asset related restructuring expenses associated with this facility. We expect
to complete the sale of the facility during fiscal 2008,

During the second quarter of fiscal 2006 we recorded an asset impairment charge related to the fixed assets
of CLP in the amount of $3.0 million and employee severance costs of $0.5 million. We completed the sale of CLP
on July 31, 2006. The historical operating results of CLP, including restructuring activities associated with CLP,
have been reflected as discontinued operations. Sece “Note 2 — Discontinued Operations.”

During the second quarter of fiscal 2007, as a result of the reduced sales volume in our former tobacco
operating segment within our Paperboard Packaging segment, we began negotiations related to the closure of our
operation in Bremen, Germany (the “Bremen” site) as well as negotiations of workforce reductions at other
operations within the former operating segment. The reduction in sales volumes was primarily as a result of the
previously announced supplier rationalization program by BAT. During fiscal 2007, we recorded approximately
$1.2 million of employee-related costs related to workforce reductions within this former operating segment.
During the third quarter of fiscal 2007 we reached agreement with a third party for the sale of the land, building and
certain equipment at Bremen for approximately €6.4 million. In addition, this agreement included the assumption of
the workforce and associated employee-related liabilities by the third party. This transaction closed during
December 2007, and resulted in cash proceeds of €1.0 million in fiscal 2007 and the remaining cash proceeds were
received in January 2008. Restructuring charges of approximately $4.7 million were recorded during fiscal 2007
associated with the sale of Bremen.

In addition to the initiatives described above, we have recorded other employee-related restructuring costs
of $9.3 million during fiscal 2007, $6.4 million during fiscal 2006 and $6.4 million during fiscal 2005 for broad-
based workforce and overhead reductions.

The following table displays the activity and balances of the restructuring charges, asset impairments and
other exit costs for fiscal years 2007 and 2006.

(in mitlions) Employee-

related Asset Other Exit

Costs Impairments Costs Total
Balance January 1, 2006 $69 $— F— $69

Restructuring charges, asset impairments and
other exit costs (benefits), continuing

operations 9.0 249 (0.5) 334
Restructuring charges, asset impairments and
other exit costs, discontinued operations 0.8 3.0 0.2 40
Cash payments (14.7) — (1.6) 16.3)
Asset impairments — {27.9) — 27.9)
Gain on asset sales —_ — 2.4 24
Other items — non cash 0.5 _ — 0.5
Balance December 31, 2006 2.5 — 0.5 3.0
Restructuring charges, asset impairments and
other exit costs, continuing operations 10.5 0.3 5.0 15.8
Restructuring charges, asset impairments and
other exit benefits, discontinued operations {0.2) — — (0.2}
Cash payments (10.3) — (LD (11.4)
Asset impairments — (0.3) — 0.3)
{Loss) on asset sales — — 4.7 4.7
QOther items — non cash 0.2 — 0.4 0.6
Balance December 30, 2007 $ 2.7 5— $0.1 $ 28
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6 Inventories

Year-end inventories consist of®

(in millions) 2007 2006

Finished goods $704 $59.5

Work-in-process 17.1 213

Materials and supplies 339 28.6

Total $121.4 $109.4
7 Long-Term Debt

Long-term debt at year-end consists of:

(in millions) 2007 2006
Notes payable — banks:

Credit lines $170.4 $138.6
Unsecured notes:

10.375% Senior Subordinated Notes, due 2011 133.7 1314

7% Senior Subordinated Notes, due 2014 147.1 132.0

IDA notes, average interest 6.3%, due 2019 50.0 50.0

Other debt, average interest 5.2% 14.1 15.8
Total debt 5153 467.8
Less current portion 6.9 11.8
Total long-term debt $508.4 $456.0

As of December 30, 2007, principal payments on debt for the next five years were: 2008, $7.0 million;
2009, $168.5 million: 2010, $3.5 million: 2011, $135.1 million, and 2012, $1.1 million.

In December 2003 Chesapeake filed a universal shelf registration statement with the SEC, which permitted
us to offer and sell, from time to time, various types of securities, including debt securities, preferred stock,
depository shares, commeon stock, warrants, stock purchase contracts and stock purchase units, having an aggregate
offering price of up to $300 million, or the equivalent amount in one or more non-U.S. currencies. We completed
both a common stock and debt security offering under this shelf registration statement during 2004. In June 2005,
$68.5 million of remaining availability under the shelf registration statement filed in December 2003 was carried
forward into a new aggregate $300 million universal shelf registration filed with the SEC, having terms and
conditions substantially similar to the previous universal shelf registration. No offerings have been made under the
current shelf registration statement.

In March 2004 we completed a public offering of 4.05 million shares of our common stock. Our net
proceeds from the sale of these shares, after deducting discounts, commissions and expenses, were approximately
$92 miltion. In April 2004 we used a portion of the net proceeds to redeem £40 million principal amount of our
outstanding 10.375% senior subordinated notes due 2011 at a redemption price of 110.375% of the principal
amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest to the redemption date, or an aggregate redemption price of approximately
$82.6 million. The redemption resulted in a loss on extinguishment of debt of $8.4 million, or $5.4 million net of
income taxes. The remaining net proceeds of approximately $9.0 million from the offering of our common stock
were used to repay outstanding borrowings under our senior bank credit facility.

In December 2004 we completed a public offering of €100 mullion principal amount of 7% senior
subordinated notes due 2014. Our net proceeds from the sale of these notes, after deducting discounts, commissions
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and expenses, were approximately $130.8 million (using an exchange rate of €1 to $1.342). The notes were offered
to the public at par. The net proceeds from the sale of these notes were used to retire $66.8 million principal amount
of our outstanding $85.0 million aggregate principal amount of 7.2% notes due March 2005. The retirement of these
notes was accomplished through a tender offer and consent solicitation. Including fees, expenses, interest and
premiums the redemption cost $69.1 million and resulted in a loss on the extinguishment of debt of $1.2 million, or
$0.8 million net of income taxes. The remaining net proceeds of approximately $61.7 million were used to repay
outstanding borrowings under our senior bank credit facility and for general corporate purposes.

In February 2005 we paid $38.8 million principal amount of loan note maturities and we redeemed, at par,
the remaining $18.2 million principal amount of the 7.2% notes which also matured during the first quarter of fiscal
2005. In August 2005 we redeemed £2.9 million principal amount of our 10.375% senior subordinated notes due
2011 at a premium and recognized a loss of $0.5 million associated with the debt extinguishment. In March 2006
we redeemed £5.0 million principal amount of our 10.375% senior subordinated notes due 2011 at a premium and
recognized a loss of $0.6 million associated with the debt extinguishment.

In February 2004 our senior credit facility, under which we can guarantee loan note balances and borrow
up to $250 million, was amended and restated and its maturity extended to February 2009. Amounts available to be
borrowed under our senior credit facility are limited by the amount currently borrowed and the amounts of
outstanding letters of credit ($1.5 million at December 30, 2007). Nominal facility fees are paid on the unutilized
credit line capacity and interest is charged primarily at LIBOR plus a margin based on our leverage ratio. We are
required to pay a fee, which varies based on our leverage ratio, on the outstanding balance of certain loan notes and
letters of credit. Subject to the terms of the agreement, a portion of the borrowing capacity of the revelving credit
facility and net proceeds of the term debt component of the facility may be used to finance acquisitions and to
refinance other debt. The senior credit facility is collateralized by a pledge of the inventory, receivables, intangible
assets and other assets of Chesapeake Corporation and certain U.S. subsidiaries, having a carrying value at
December 30, 2007 of approximately $585.7 million. The facility is guaranteed by Chesapeake Corporation, each
material U.S. subsidiary and each United Kingdom (“UJ.K.”) subsidiary borrower, although most U.K. subsidiary
borrowers only guarantee borrowings made by U.K. subsidiaries. Obligations of our U.K. subsidiary borrowers
under the facility are collateralized by a pledge of the stock of our material U.K. subsidiaries.

In February 2006 the senior credit facility was amended to make certain technical corrections and
amendments, add provisions to accommodate strategic initiatives of the Company and adjust certain financial
maintenance covenants during 2006 and 2007. Subsequent amendments to the agreement were made effective in
June and December 2007 to further adjust certain financial maintenance covenants through the end of 2007 and,
among other things, to limit our ability to fund acquisitions, repay subordinated debt or to pay dividends. On March
5, 2008, the Company obtained agreement from a majority of its senior credit facility lenders to amend the facility
through the end of fiscal 2008. The amendment affects financial maintenance covenants in all four quarters of fiscal
2008, providing an increase in the total leverage ratios and for a decrease in the interest coverage ratios. In addition,
interest rate margins were increased to 450 basis points over LIBOR and basket limitations were imposed for
acquisitions, dispositions, and other indebtedness, among other changes. In the event that the senior credit facility is
not fully refinanced prior to March 31, 2008, the Company has agreed to provide a security interest in substantially
all of its tangible European assets. Outstanding borrowings under the senior credit facility as of December 30, 2007
totaled $165.9 million. Other lines of credit totaling $11.8 million are maintained with several banks on an
uncommitted basis, under which, $4.5 million was outstanding as of December 30, 2007.

Certain of our loan agreements include provisions permitiing the holder of the debt to require us to
repurchase all or a portion of such debt outstanding upon the occurrence of specified events involving a change of
control or ownership. Our loan agreements also contain customary restrictive covenants, including covenants
restricting, among other things, our ability, and our subsidiaries’ ability, to create liens, merge or consolidate,
dispose of assets, incur indebtedness and guarantees, repurchase or redeem capital stock and indebtedness, pay
dividends, make capital expenditures, make certain investments or acquisitions, enter into certain transactions with
affiliates or change the nature of our business. The senior credit facility also contains several financial maintenance
covenants, including covenants establishing a maximum leverage ratio, maximum senior leverage ratio and a
minimum interest coverage ratio. After obtaining an amendment to our senior credit facility effective December 28,
2007, which increased the total leverage ratio and decreased the interest coverage ratio for the fourth quarter of
2007, we were in compliance with all of our debt covenants as of the end of 2007. The senior subordinated notes
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contain provisions allowing for early redemptions, under certain circumstances, at premiums of up to 3.5 percent in
addition to outstanding principal and interest.

We have estimated the fair value of long-term debt at December 30, 2007, and December 31, 2006, to be
$444.5 million and $467.2 million, respectively, compared to book values of $515.3 million and $467.8 million,
respectively. The fair value is based on the quoted market prices for similar issues or current rates offered for debt
of the same or similar maturities.

No interest expense was capitalized in fiscal years 2005, 2006, or 2007.
8 Financial Instruments and Risk Concentration

Chesapeake’s strategy is to optimize the ratio of our fixed- to variable-rate financing to maintain an
acceptable level of exposure to the risk of interest and foreign exchange rate fluctuation. From time to time,
Chesapeake has entered into interest rate swaps to convert variable interest rate debt to fixed interest rate debt and
vice versa and to obtain an acceptable level of interest rate risk. Amounts currently due to, or from, interest swap
counterparties are recorded in interest expense in the period they accrue. The related amounts payable to, or
receivable from, the counterparties are included in other accrued liabilities. At December 30, 2007 and January 1,
2006, there were no interest rate swap agreements outstanding. In January 2004, Chesapeake terminated an interest
rate swap and received a cash settlement from the counterparty of $7.3 million. Of this amount, approximately $6.3
million is being recognized as an interest rate yield adjustment over the remaining life of the underlying debt.

In 2003, Chesapeake entered into a foreign currency forward exchange contract, to hedge an intercompany
receivable, in a notional principal amount of £50 million and having a fair market value liability of $13.2 million at
December 30, 2007. The contract matures in 2011,

We manage our foreign currency exposure primarily by funding certain foreign currency denominated
assets with liabilities in the same currency and, as such, certain exposures are naturally offset. The €100 million
senior notes issued in December 2004 have been effectively designated as a hedge of our net investment in euro
functional currency subsidiaries. At December 30, 2007, $15.2 million related to the revaluation of the debt from
euro to U.S. dollars was included as a debit to cumulative translation adjustment. At December 31, 2006, $13.7
million related to the revaluation of the debt from euro to U.S. dollars was included as a debit to cumulative
translation adjustment.

9 Income Taxes

Income tax expense (benefit) from continuing operations consists of’

(in millions) 2007 2006 2005
Current (benefit} expense:
Federal $(3.5) $2.7) $(2.1)
State 0.1 — (0.8)
Foreign 55 29 9.9
Total current $2.1 $0.2 $7.0
Deferred expense (benefit): .
Federal $2.4 $2.8 $(2.8)
State 0.1 0.2) (0.4)
Foreign 8.7) (10.5) (8.2)
Total deferred $(6.2) $(7.9) 3(11.4)
Total income taxes $(4.1) $(7.7D $44
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Significant components of the year-end deferred income tax assets and liabilities are:

(in millions)

Pension accrual
Accrued liabilities
Tax credit and net operating loss carryforward benefits
Deferred income
Other
Total deferred tax assets
Valuation allowance
Net deferred tax assets

Accumulated depreciation/amortization
Other

Deferred tax liabilities

Net deferred tax liabilities

Balance sheet presentation:

Current deferred income tax assets (included within prepaid expenses
and other current assets)

Deferred income tax assets {(included within other assets)

Deferred income tax liabilities

2007 2006
$ 13 $ 27.7
7.3 8.4
52.1 347
1.1 14
0.2 0.4
62.0 726
(47.0) (42.6)
15.0 30.0
(32.4) (30.8)
0.1) (0.1)
(32.5) (30.9)
$(17.5) $(0.9)
$0.9 $ 04
25.4 8.3
(43.8) (9.6)

The valuation allowance relates to foreign income tax credit carryforwards that expire in 2009, to U.S. tax
losses that expire by 2027 and to deferred tax assets that are deemed not to be realizable due to the inability to
project future taxable income with reasonable certainty within the applicable tax loss carryforward periods. Our
valuation allowance increased by $4.4 million in fiscal 2007 ($2.5 million recognized in expense, $0.3 million in
discontinued operations and $1.6 million recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income}, $25.2 million in
fiscal 2006 ($15.1 million recognized in expense, $0.5 million in discontinued operations and $9.6 million
recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income as a result of adoption of SFAS 158 -~ See Note 10), and
$7.3 million in fiscal 2005, substantially as a result of charges to income tax expense.

A reconciliation of income tax expense using the statutory U.S. income tax rate compared with actual
income tax benefit follows:

2007 2006 2005
(in millions, except percentages)
Loss from continuing operations before income taxes $(17.9) $(40.1) $3311.1)
Tax benefit at U.S. statutory rate of 35% (6.3) (14.0) (108.9)
State income taxes, net of federal benefit (0.7) (1.0) (1.1)
Foreign income taxes rate differential (2.5) (3.5) (4.8)
Non-deductible goodwill — 5.0 105.0
Valuation allowances 2.5 15.1 7.5
Tax audit settlements and tax return adjustments 3.3 (3.5) 2.1)
Tax rate adjustments (L.1) — —
Tax/book basis differences 6.7 5.7 —
Other permanent items 0.6 (0.1) —
Total tax benefit $(4.1) 3(7.7) $(4.4)
Effective income tax rate 22.9% 19.2% 1.4%
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The components of loss from continuing operations before taxes are:

(in millions) 2007 2006 2005
Domestic $(17.8) $(16.0) $(36.0)
Foreign {0.1) (24.1) (275.1)
Loss from continuing operations before income taxes $(17.9) $(40.1) $31LL1)

Undistributed earnings of our foreign subsidiaries amounted to approximately $150.3 million as of
December 30, 2007, and our intention is to permanently reinvest these earnings. Accordingly, no provision has been
made for taxes that may be payable upon remittance of such earnings, nor is it practicable to determine the amount
of any Hability.

QOur domestic and foreign tax filings are subject to periodic reviews by the collecting agencies. We believe
any potential adjustments resulting from these examinations will not have a material effect on Chesapeake’s results
of operations or financial position. See “Note 14 — Commitments and Contingencies.”

The Company adopted the provisions of FASB Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in
Income Taxes-an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes, on January 1, 2007. Asa
result of the implementation of Interpretation 48, the Company recognized a decrease in liabilities of approximately
$1.8 million, which was accounted for as an increase to the January 1, 2007 balance of retained earnings. A
reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows:

(in millions)

Balance at January 1, 2007 $26.2

Gross increases — Current period 2.6

Gross decreases — Current period —

Decreases - Settlements —

Reductions — Statute of Limitations (0.3)
Unrecognized tax benefits — Ending Balance $28.5

The company has a total of $28.5 million of unrecognized tax benefits at December 30, 2007 of which
$17.1 million is for potential interest that could be due on unrecognized tax benefits. If these benefits of $28.5
million were recognized they would have a positive effect on the Company’s effective tax rate. The Company has
adopted a policy to recognize interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense. The
Company does not expect any of its unrecognized tax benefits to significantly increase or decrease within the next
twelve months.

The Company’s US federal income tax returns are open for audit for the years 1999 and 2004 to 2006, The
Company’s UK income tax returns remain open for audit for the years 2002 to 2006,

10 Employee Retirement and Postretirement Benefits

Chesapeake maintains noncontributory defined benefit retirement plans covering substantially all U.S.
employees. We also maintain several contributory and noncontributory defined benefit retirement plans covering
certain foreign employees. Pension benefits are based primarily on the employees’ compensation and/or years of
service. We have taken several steps to minimize our exposure to the longer-term risks of defined benefit pension
arrangements. Specifically, during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2006 we merged our U.S. pension plans for hourly
and salaried employees and froze certain benefits under our supplemental executive retirement plan.

We also provide certain healthcare and life insurance benefits to certain U.8. hourly and salaried employees
who retire under the provisions of our retirement plans. Healthcare benefits are contributory or noncontributory,
depending on retirement date, and life insurance benefits are noncontributory. In December 2003, Congress
approved the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modemization Act of 2003 (the “Act™). During 2007,
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the Company implemented changes to certain of its postretirement benefits other than pensions and as a result of
these changes, these benefits are no longer actuarially equivalent to Medicare Part D and are not eligible for a
federal subsidy. Despite not being eligible for a federal subsidy, the changes made during 2007 had a favorable
impact on net periodic postretirement benefit cost.

On December 31, 2006 the Company adopted SFAS No. 158, Employers ' Accounting for Defined Benefit
Pension and Other Postretirement Plans — an amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106, and 132(R} (“SFAS
158”), which requires an employer to recognize the over-funded or under-funded status of a defined benefit
postretirement plan (other than a multiemployer plan) as an asset or liability in its statement of financial position and
to recognize the changes in that funded status in the year in which the changes occur through comprehensive
income. This Statement also requires an employer to measure the funded status of a plan as of the date of its year-
end statement of financial position, with limited exceptions. The measurement date provisions are effective for
fiscal years ending after December 15, 2008, The Company will transition to a fiscal year- end measurement date
for its fiscal 2008 year end using the second approach or fifteen-month approach as described in SFAS 158, For the
2007, 2006 and 2005 fiscal years, the Company used a September 30 measurement date. The provisions of SFAS
158 require prospective application.

The foltowing schedule presents the incremental effects at December 31, 2006 of applying SFAS 158 to the
individual line items within our consolidated balance sheets:

SFAS 158
Pre-SFAS Adoption Post-SFAS

158 Adjustments 158
(in millions)
Assets
Prepaid expenses and other current assets $21.7 $(1.3) $20.4
Other assets 114.0 (21.4) 92.6
Liabilities -
Accrued expenses 82.9 1.0 83.9
Pension and postretirement benefits 25.1 77.6 102.7
Deferred income taxes 33.0 (23.4) 9.6
Stockholders’ Equity

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 61.2 (77.9) (16.7)

The amounts in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) that are expected to be recognized as
components of net periodic pension benefit {cost) during the next fiscal year are as follows:

Pension Postretirement Total
(in millions)
Prior service credit £(0.3) $(0.4) 5(0.7)
Net loss 4.8 0.9 57
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The following schedules present the changes in the plans’ benefit obligations and fair values of assets for

fiscal years 2007 and 2006:

Pension Benefits

Postretirement Benefits
Other Than Pensions

U.S. Plans Non U.S. Plans

(in millions) 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $69.7 $71.7 $450.6 $409.6 $ 149 $ 143
Service cost 0.1 0.2 6.5 7.2 — —
Interest cost 3.9 39 224 21.6 0.7 0.7
Plan participants’ contributions — — 4.7 5.0 0.2 0.2
Actuarial (gain) loss (3.8 (1.4) (44.6) (34.3) (0.6) 2.9
Exchange rate changes/other — — 21.9 56.6 — —
Benefits paid 4.7 4.7) (14.8) (15.1) 2.1) (3.2
Benefit obligation at end of year $65.2 $69.7 $446.7 $450.6 $ 13.t $ 149
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year 63.5 61.6 376.1 281.1 — —
Actual return on plan assets 9.3 5.1 134 379 — —
Employer contributions 0.9 1.5 18.3 232 1.9 30
Plan participants’ contributions e — 4.7 5.0 0.2 0.2
Exchange rate changes/other — — 20.2 440 — —
Benefits paid 4.7 4.7) (14.8) (15.1) @.n 3.2)
Fair value of plan assets at end of year $69.0 $63.5 $437.9 $376.1 5 — s —
Funded status at end of year $3.8 $(6.2) $(8.8) $(74.5) $(13.1) $(14.9)

Amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) consist of:

Pension Benefits

Postretirement Benefits
Other Than Pensions

U.S. Plans Non U.S. Plans
(in millions) 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006
Net loss $23.0 £31.5 $58.8 $117.8 5109 $ 17
Prior service cost (1.0) 0.5 (0.3) (0.4) (4.00 —
Total amount recognized $22.0 $32.0 $58.5 $117.4 $69 5 77

The following table provides the amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheets as of each year:

Pension Benefits

Postretirement Benefits
Other Than Pensions

U.S. Plans Non U.S. Plans

{in millions) 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006
Prepaid benefit cost 5124 $5.9 $3.7 $ 16 $ — $ —
Accrued benefit liability (8.6) (12.1) (17.6) (76.1} {13.1) (14.9)
Accumulated other comprehensive income 220 320 58.5 117.4 6.9 1.7
Net amount recognized $25.8 $258 $49.6 § 429 $(6.2) $(7.2)
Pension plans in which accumutated benefit

obligation exceeds plan assets at the

measurement date:
Projected benefit obligation $8.6 $19.2 §73 $396.1
Accumulated benefit obligation 8.6 16.6 6.9 3383
Fair value of plan assets — $7.1 $— $322.9

The accumulated benefit obligation for ali defined benefit pension plans was $442.1 million at September

30, 2007, and $449.3 million at September 30, 2006.
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The following table provides the assumptions used to calculate the benefit obligations and amounts
recognized in the balance sheets:

Postretirement Benefits

Pension Benefits Other Than Pensions
U.S. Plans Non U.S. Plans
2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006
Discount rate 6.25% 5.88% 5.80% 3.00% 6.25% 5.88%
Rate of compensation increase 4.50% 4.50% 3.90% 3.50% 4.50% 4.50%

The plans’ trustees select the expected return on plan assets by examining probabilities of expected 20-year
return rates calculated by investment consulting companies using target asset allocations and expected inflation
rates.

Plan Assets

Chesapeake’s pension plans’ weighted-average asset allocations at September 30, 2007, and 2006, by asset
category, were as follows:

Pension Benefits

U.S, Plans Non U.S. Plans
2007 2006 2007 2006
Equity securities® 68% 66% 52% 65%
Debt securities* 32 33 44 34
Other — 1 4 1
Total 100% 100% 100% 100%
* Plan assets were not invested in Chesapeake securities during 2007 or 2006.

The objectives of the U.S. investment policy for plan assets are: to meet pension payment requirements; to
achieve a rate of return above inflation to preserve the purchasing power of the assets; and to attempt to maintain
pension costs in proportion to changes in total payroll and benefit costs. Investment guidelines are established to
assure a reasonable opportunity of achieving the objectives without exposing the funds to excessive or undue
investment risk. The target asset allocation for our U.S. pension plan is 67 percent equity securities and 33 percent
debt securities. The purpose of the equity investments is to provide appreciation in principal, growth of income and
current income, Equity securities may include U.S. dollar denominated and international stocks. Debt securities are
U.S. fixed income investments. The purpose of fixed income investments is to provide a predictable and dependable
source of income to reduce portfolio volatility. The fixed income category may include U.S. dollar denominated
marketable bonds and convertible securities. All assets will be of sufficient size and held in issues with sufficient
trading activity to facilitate transactions at minimum cost and accurate market valuation. The aggregate portfolio
should be well diversified to avoid undue exposure to maturity, credit quality or any single economic sector,
industry group or individual security risk. We believe our investment policy complies with the prudence standards
and diversification requirements prescribed by the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended
and supplemented.

The investment policy for non-U.S. plans is set with regard to the plans’ liabilities, financial strength and
statutory funding requirements. Long-term returns from equities are expected to keep pace with salary growth in the
long term. Due to the relatively low proportion of retired members within the plans, the investment policy is equity-
oriented. The target asset allocations for the non-U.S. plans are set separately for different investment portiolios
with no rebalancing between the portfolios. Therefore, there is no combined portfolio target allocation.

In June 2006, $12.0 million was collected on an outstanding note receivable which has been included in the
pre-funding vehicle for postretirement benefits other than pensions. The investments are presented in other assets in
the consolidated balance sheets due to the nature of the pre-funding vehicle.

Contributions to our pension and postretirernent plans in fiscal 2007 were $21.0 million, which included

supplementary contributions to non-U.S. plans of $12.2 million. We expect to contribute at least $21.2 million to

66




CHESAPEAKE CORPORATION
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

our pension plans in fiscal 2008, which includes supplementary contributions to the non-U.S, plans of at least $12.0
million, and we do not expect to make any supplementary contributions to our other postretirement benefit plans in
fiscal 2008.

The supplementary contributions to non-U.S. plans are based on a recovery plan in effect for one of the
UK. pension plans which stipulates supplementary employer cash contributions of at least $12.0 million per year
above required levels in order to achieve a funding level of 100 percent by July, 2014, In addition, the recovery plan
requires an increase in future supplementary annual contributions if an interim funding level of 90 percent is not
achieved by April 8, 2008. The funded level is dependent upon certain actuarial assumptions as prescribed in the
recovery plan and approved by the U.K. pension regulators. Changes to these assumptions could have a significant
impact on the calculation of the funded level. This could result in annual supplementary employer cash

‘contributions to be materially in excess of $12.0 million per year.

The following table provides the components of net pension costs and the assumptions used to calculate net
pension costs:

Postretirement Benefits

Pension Benefits Other Than Pensions
U.S. Plans Non U.S. Plans

(dollars in millions) 2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005
Service cost 30.1 $0.2 $0.5 $6.5 $7.2 $57 s— $— 5—
Interest cost 39 39 38 22.4 21.6 19.2 0.8 0.8 09
Expected retum on plan

assets (4.6) (4.5) (4.9) (23.2) (20.9) (19.9) — — —
Amortization of prior service
cost and actuarial loss 1.3 1.7 2.2 7.7 10.4 57 04 03 0.4
Net expense $0.7 $1.3 $1.6 $134 $18.3 $10.7 51.2 511 $1.3
Discount rate 5.88% 5.50% 5.88% 5.00% 5.00% 5.60% 5.88% 5.50% 5.88%
Expected return on plan

assets 8.00% 8.00% 8.25% 6.60% 6.90% 7.40% N/A N/A N/A
Rate of compensation

inctease 4.50% 4.50% 4.50% 3.50% 3.90% 3.90% 4.50% 4.50% 4.50%

Coemponent of Comprehensive Income

Pension Benefits

(in millions) 2007 2006 2005
Decrease (increase) in minimum pension liability included in
other comprehensive income, net of taxes N/A $27.1 53.1)

Future Benefit Payments

The following benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropnate, are expected io be

paid:
Other
Pension Plans Benefits
Non

(in millions) U.S. Plans U.S. Plans
2008 $4.7 516.0 $1.3
2009 4.6 17.2 1.2
2010 4.5 17.4 1.1
2011 4.6 18.0 1.1
2012 4.7 18.9 1.0
Years 2013-2017 23.5 97.2 4.0
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Assumed Healthcare Cost Trend Rates

2007 2006
Healthcare cost trend rate assumed for next year 8% 9%
Rate to which the cost trend rate is assumed to decline (the ultimate trend rate) 5% 5%
Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate 2011 2011

Assumed healthcare cost trend rates have a significant effect on the amounts reported for healthcare plans.
A one percent change in assumed healthcare cost trend rates would have the following effects:

One One
Percent Percent
{in millions) Increase Decrease
Effect on total of service and interest cost 5— —
Effect on postretirement benefit obligation $0.3 $(0.3)

Defined Contribution Plans

Chesapeake sponsors, in accordance with the provisions of Section 401(k} of the Internal Revenue Code,
pre-tax savings programs for eligible U.S. salaried and hourly employees. Participants’ contributions are matched
by Chesapeake in cash up to designated contribution levels. Contributions are invested in several investment
options, which may include Chesapeake common stock, as selected by the participating employee. At January 1,
2006, 300,000 shares of Chesapeake common stock are reserved for issuance under these programs. We also
maintain various defined contribution plans covering certain foreign employees. Beginning in fiscal 2006 the
Company also makes non-elective contributions to certain of these domestic and foreign defined contribution plans.
Expense associated with these plans was approximately $4.7 million in both fiscal 2007 and fiscai 2006, and $3.4
million in fiscal 2005.

11 Stockholders® Equity

Chesapeake currently has 60 million authorized shares of common stock, $1.00 par value, of which
19,860,712 shares were outstanding as of December 30, 2007. We declared dividends of $0.22 per share during
fiscal 2007 and $0.88 per share during fiscal years 2006 and 2005.

In addition to our common stock, Chesapeake’s authorized capital includes 500,000 shares of preferred
stock ($100.00 par), of which 100,000 shares are designated as Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock
(“Series A Preferred”). No preferred shares were outstanding during the three years ended December 30, 2007.

Shareholder Rights Plan

Under the terms of a shareholder rights plan approved February 10, 1998, each outstanding share of our
common stock has attached to it one preferred share purchase right, which entitles the shareholder to buy one unit
(0.001 of a share) of Series A Preferred at an exercise price of $120.00 per share, subject to adjustment. The rights
will separate from the common stock and become exercisable only if a person or group acquires or announces a
tender offer for 15 percent or more of Chesapeake’s common stock. When the rights are exercisable, Chesapeake
may issue a share of common stock in exchange for each right other than those held by such person or group. Ifa
person or group acquires 15 percent or more of Chesapeake common stock, each right shall entitle the holder, other
than the acquiring party, upon payment of the exercise price, to acquire Series A Preferred or, at the option of
Chesapeake, common stock, having a value equal to twice the right’s purchase price. If Chesapeake is acquired in a
merger or other business combination or if 50 percent of its earnings power is sold, each right will entitle the holder,
other than the acquiring person, to purchase securities of the surviving company having a market value equal to
twice the exercise price of the rights. The rights will expire on March 15, 2008, and may be redeemed by us at any
time prior to the tenth day after an announcement that a 15 percent position has been acquired, unless such period
has been extended by the Board of Directors.
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Earnings Per Share (“EPS™)

Basic EPS is calculated using the weighted-average number of outstanding common shares for the periods,
which were 19,453,693 in fiscal 2007; 19,418,103 in fiscal 2006; and 19,401,229 in fiscal 2005. Diluted EPS
reflects the potential dilution that could occur if securities are exercised or converted into common stock, or result in
the issuance of common stock that would then share in earnings. Diluted EPS is calculated using the weighted-
average number of diluted outstanding common shares for the periods, which were 19,453,693 in fiscal 2007;
19,418,103 in fiscal 2006; and 19,401,229 in fiscal 2005. The number of potentially dilutive shares excluded from
the calculation of diluted EPS was 1.3 million in fiscal 2007; 1.3 million in fiscal 2006; and 1.2 million in fiscal
2005.

12 Stock Option and Award Plans

At December 30, 2007, we had four stock compensation plans for employees and officers: the 2005
Incentive Plan, the 1997 Incentive Plan, the 1993 Incentive Plan, and the 1987 Stock Option Plan. All four plans
have been approved by our sharcholders, The options outstanding as of January 1, 2007, were awarded under our
1993, 1997 and 2005 Incentive Plans. Up to 4,325,985 additional shares may be issued pursuant to all of the stock
option and award plans; however, the Board of Directors has stated that all future grants will be made only from
those shares available under the 2005 Incentive Plan, which had 1,251,329 additional shares available for issuance at
December 30, 2007. Under the 2005 Incentive Plan, we may grant stock options, stock appreciation rights
{“SARs™), stock awards, performance shares or stock units, and may make incentive awards to our key employees
and officers. As to employees, the stock compensation plans are administered by the Executive Compensation
Committee of the Board of Directors.

Stock Options

Stock options are generally granted with an exercise price equal to the market value of our common stock
on the date of the grant, expire 10 years from the date they are granted and vest over a three-year service period. As
permitted by SFAS No. 123 and SFAS No. 123(R) the fair values of the options were estimated using the Black-
Scholes option-pricing model. The Black-Scholes weighted-average assumptions were as follows:

2007 2006 2005
Weighted-average fair value of options at grant date $3.86 $4.85 $6.51
Dividend yield 53% 6.0% 4.1%
Rigk-free interest rates 4.7% 4.7% 4.1%
Volatility 34.7% 57.4% 44.6%
Expected option term {years) 6.0 5.8 5.0

As part of the annual valuation process the Company reassesses the appropriateness of the inputs into the
Black-Scholes model used for option valuation. The Company establishes the risk-free interest rate using U.S.
Treasury zero-coupon bonds with a remaining term equal to the expected option life assumed at the date of grant.
The dividend yield is set based on the dividend rate approved by the Company's Board of Directors and the stock
price on the grant date. The expected volatility assumption is set based primarily on historical volatility. The
expected life assumption is set based on an analysis of past exercise behavior by option holders. In performing the
option valuations the Company has not stratified option holders as exercise behavior has historically been consistent
across all employee groups. The forfeiture rate used is based on historical experience. As required by SFAS No.
123(R) the Company will adjust the estimated forfeiture rate based upon actual experience.
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The following schedule summarizes stock option activity for the year ended December 30, 2007:

Qutstanding December
31, 2006
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited/expired

Outstanding December
30, 2007

Exercisable December
30, 2007

Number of

Stock
Options

1,399,573
87,900
(181,243)

1,306,230

1,157,581

Weighted-
Average
Weighted- Remaining
Average Contractual Aggregate
Exercise Term Intrinsic
Price (Years) Value
$26.93 38
16.50 10.0
3119 --
25.83 34 --
27.03 2.7 --

The following schedule summarizes information about stock options for the year ended December 30,

2007:

Range of Exercise Prices

$14.60 - $19.22
$19.23 - §23.07
$23.08 - $26.91
$26.92 - $30.76
$30.77 - $34.60
$34.61 - $38.45

Options Qutstanding

Options Exercisable

Weighted -
Average
Remaining Weighted - Weighted -
Number Contractual Average Number Average
Qutstanding Life (Years) Exercise Price Exercisable Exercise Price
229,619 7.5 $15.86 97,520 $16.23
211,168 4.0 $21.93 194,618 $21.95
142,223 4.1 $25.45 142,223 $25.45
605,967 2.0 $28.58 605,967 $28.58
5,000 1.8 $31.78 5,000 $31.78
112,253 0.6 $37.97 112,253 $37.97
1,306,230 1,157,581

For the year ended December 30, 2007 the total share-based compensation expense for stock options was
$0.5 million. The total income tax benefit recognized in net income related to this expense was $0.1 million, As of
December 30, 2007 thers was $0.3 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested stock
options. The cost is to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2 years.

The following table summarizes the pro forma effect of stock-based compensation for fiscal 2005 as if the
fair value method of accounting for stock compensation had been applied. Due to the adoption of SFAS 123R in
fiscal 2006, such pro forma information is not required with respect to fiscal 2006 and 2007.
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(in millions, except per share data) 2005

Stock-based compensation expense, net of tax, included in net

(loss) income as reported $0.1
Net (loss) income as reported (314.3}
Pro forma stock-based compensation expense, net of tax 0.6
Pro forma net (loss) income (314.9)
{Loss) earnings per share
As reported:

Basic $(16.20)

Diluted (16.20)
Pro forma:

Basic $(16.23)

Diluted (16.23)

Non-employee Directors

Chesapeake has a Directors' Deferred Compensation Plan that provides for annual grants of stock options
or shares to non-employee directors. Up to 270,350 options for additional shares may be issued pursuant to the
Directors' Plan; however, any future awards of stock options (or other equity compensation) to non-employee
directors will be made under the 2005 Incentive Plan. For the year ended December 30, 2007, there were no options
granted to non-employee directors. During 2007, 17,000 shares were granted to non-employee directors.

Restricted Stock

From time to time the Executive Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors (or, as to the CEO,
the Committee of Independent Directors) will grant performance-based, service-based, or market condition-based
restricted stock to Chesapeake's officers and certain managers under Chesapeake's Incentive Plans. For the 2004-
2006, 2005-2007 and 2006-2008 cycles of the long-term incentive program, the performance criteria established by
the Executive Compensation Committee {and the Committee of Independent Directors, as to the CEO} for the
vesting of restricted stock was the achievement of specific strategic goals for Chesapeake. For the 2007- 2009 cycle
of the long-term incentive program, the target criteria was based on total shareholder return, which constitutes a
market condition. If the performance targets or market conditions are not achieved by the ends of the applicable
cycles, the related shares will be forfeited.

For performance-based or service-based restricted stock, the fair value of each share of restricted stock is
based on the fair market value of the stock on the date of grant. The probability of achieving the performance
criteria is assessed each quarter and compensation expense is adjusted accordingly. For liability classified awards,
compensation expense is further adjusted based on the fair value of the award at the end of the reporting quarter. If
performance goals are not met no compensation cost is recognized and any previously recognized compensation cost
is reversed. For market condition-based restricted stock, the fair value of each share of restricted stock is calculated
by a third party service provider using a Lattice Option-Pricing Model. The fair value captures the probability of
achieving the market condition and is updated only if the award program is modified. 1f the market condition is not
met, previously recognized compensation cost is not reversed. The following schedule summarizes non-vested
restricted stock activity for the year ended December 30, 2007:

Weighted-
Average Grant

Shares Date Value
Qutstanding grants at December 31, 2006 382,550 $21.98
New shares granted 196,100 16.50
Shares forfeited (167,066) 22.77
Shares vested (600) 19.64
QOutstanding grants at December 30, 2007 410,584 $19.05

For the year ended December 30, 2007 there was no significant share-based compensation expense for
restricted stock. As of December 30, 2007 there was $1.4 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to
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non-vested restricted stock. The cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2 years,
assuming achievement of the performance criteria.

Stock Purchase Plans

Chesapeake has stock purchase plans for certain eligible salaried and hourly employees. Shares of
Chesapeake common stock are purchased based on participant authorized payroll deductions and a company match
of a portion of the employee contributions. At December 30, 2007, 378,182 shares remain available for issuance
under these plans.
Stock-based Compensation Expense

The charges to income from continuing operations, net of forfeitures, for all stock-based employee
compensation plans approximated $0.5 million in fiscal 2007, $0.9 million in fiscal 2006, and $0.1 million in fiscal
2005. See "Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” for additional information related to
compensation expense for stock options.

13 Supplemental Balance Sheet and Cash Flow Information

Balance Sheet Information

(in millions) 2007 2006
Accrued expenses:
Compensation and employee benefits $28.2 $28.2
Short-term portion of environmental liability 16.2 99
Fixed asset purchases 124 12.6
Restructuring 2.8 30
Interest 4.7 5.5
Accrued other taxes 4.8 6.4
Sales rebates 3.7 44
Government Grants 4.8 5.5
Other 38 8.4
Total $81.4 3839

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss):

Foreign currency translation $108.3 $96.2

Pension and other postretirement benefits adjustments, net of taxes {66.9) (117.9)

Fair market value of derivatives, net of tax 6.5 5.0
Total $ 479 $(16.7)

Cash Flow Information

{in milfions) 2007 2006 2005

Cash paid for:
Interest {net of amounts capitalized) $44.1 $389 $33.1
Income taxes (1.3 4.6 13.1
Supplemental investing and financing non-cash transactions:
Issuance of common stock for long-term incentive and employee

benefit plans (net of forfeitures) $0.4 $04 $£05
Dividends declared not paid — 44 43
Assets obtained by capital lease 0.6 0.2 6.5
Assets financed* 124 12.6 12.1
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*  Amounts reported as financed are recorded as purchases of property, plant and equipment in the statement of
cash flows in the year paid.

14 Commitments and Contingencies
Lease Obligations

Chesapeake leases certain assets (principally manufacturing equipment, office space, transportation and
information processing equipment) generally for three- to five-year terms. Rental expense for operating leases for
continuing operations totaled $10.2 million in fiscal 2007, $9.5 million in fiscal 2006, and $8.8 million in fiscal
2005. As of December 30, 2007, aggregate minimum rental payments in future years on noncancelable operating
leases approximated $26.3 million. The amounts applying to future years are: 2008, $6.7 million; 2009, $5.1
million; 2010, $3.8 million; 2011, $2.8 mitlion; 2012, $2.4 million; and thereafter, $5.5 million.

Environmental Marters

The costs of compliance with existing environmental regulations are not expected to have a material
adverse effect on our financial position or results of operations.

The Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act ("CERCLA™) and similar
state "Superfund” laws impose liability, without regard to fault or to the legality of the original action, on certain
classes of persons (referred to as potentially responsible parties or "PRPs") associated with a release or threat of a
release of hazardous substances into the environment. Financial responsibility for the remediation and restoration of
contaminated property and for natural resource damages can extend to previously owned or used properties,
waterways and properties owned by third parties, as well as to properties currently owned and used by a company
even if contamination is atiributable entirely to prior owners. As discussed below the U.S. Environmental Protection
Agency ("EPA™) has given notice of its intent to list the Lower Fox River in Wisconsin on the National Priorities
List under CERCLA and identified our subsidiary, Wisconsin Tissue Mills Inc., now WTM I Company ("WT"), as a
PRP for the Lower Fox River site.

Except for the Fox River matter we have not been identified as a PRP at any other CERCLA-related sites.
However, there can be no assurance that we will not be named as a PRP at any other sites in the future or that the
costs associated with additional sites would not be material to our financial position or results of operations.

In June 1994 the U.S. Department of Interior, Fish and Wildlife Service ("FWS"), a federal natural
resources trustee, notified WT that it had identified WT as a PRP for natural resources damage liability under
CERCLA arising from alleged releases of polychlorinatedbiphenyls ("PCBs") in the Fox River and Green Bay
System in Wisconsin from WT's former recycled tissue mill in Menasha, Wisconsin. In addition to W'T six other
companies (Appleton Papers, Inc., Fort Howard Corporation, P.H. Glatfelter Company ("Glatfelter"), NCR
Corporation, Riverside Paper Corporation and U.S. Paper Mills Corporation) have been identified as PRPs for the
Fox River site. The FWS and other governmental and tribal entities, including the State of Wisconsin ("Wisconsin"},
allege that natural resources, including federal lands, state lands, endangered species, fish, birds, tribal lands or lands
held by the U.S. in trust for various Indian tribes, have been exposed to PCBs that were released from facilities
located along the Lower Fox River. On January 31, 1997 the FWS notified WT of its intent to file suit, subject to
final approval by the U.S. Department of Justice ("DOJ"), against WT to recover alleged natural resource damages,
but the FWS$ has not yet instituted such litigation. On June 18, 1997 the EPA annocunced that it was initiating the
process of listing the Lower Fox River on the CERCLA National Priorities List of hazardous waste sites. On
September 30, 2003 EPA and the Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources ("DNR"), in connection with the
issuance of General Notice Letters under CERCLA to the PRPs requesting a good faith offer to conduct the remedial
design for downstream portions of the Lower Fox River site, also notified Menasha Corporation and Sonoco
Products Company that those companies were also considered potentially liable for the cost of response activities at
the Lower Fox River site.

In January 2003 DNR and EPA released a Record of Decision (the "OU1-2 ROD") for Operable Units 1
and 2 ("OUI" and "OU2") of the Fox River site. QU1 is the reach of the river that is the farthest upstream and is
immediately adjacent to the former WT mill. The OU1-2 ROD selected a remedy, consisting primarily of dredging,
to remove substantially all sediment in OU| with concentrations of PCBs of more than 1 part per million in order to

73



CHESAPEAKE CORPORATION
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

achieve a surface weighted-average PCB concentration level ("SWAC") of not more than .25 parts per million. The
OU1-2 ROD estimated the present-worth cost of the proposed remedy for QU1 as $66.2 million. Present-worth cost
as stated in the OU1-2 ROD means capital costs in undiscounted 2001 dollars and long-term operation, maintenance
and monitoring costs discounted at 6 percent. This estimate was an engineering cost estimate and the OU1-2 ROD
stated that the actual project cost was expected to be within +50 percent to -30 percent of the estimate. The QU1-2
ROD estimated that the proposed dredging remedy for OU! would be accomplished over a six-year period after
commencement of dredging. For OU2, the reach of the river covering approximately 20 miles downstream from
OUlL, the OU1-2 ROD was amended as of June 2007 by a Record of Decision Amendment (the “Amended OU2-5
ROD”) to provide for dredging and disposal of a single deposit in OU2. The remainder of OU2 will be addressed by
monitored natural recovery as provided in the original OU1-2 ROD,

On July 1, 2003 DNR and EPA announced that they had signed an agreement with WT under which WT
will complete the design work for the sediment clean-up in OUI. On April 12, 2004, a Consent Decree (the
"Consent Decree") regarding the remediation of OUl by WT and Glatfelter was entered by a federal court. Under
the terms of the Consent Decree, WT and Glatfelter agreed to perform appropriate remedial action in QU1 in
accordance with the QU1-2 ROD under oversight by EPA and DNR. To fund the remedial action, WT and Glatfelter
each paid $25 million to an escrow account, and EPA and Wisconsin obtained an additional $10 million from
another source to supplement the funding. Contributions and cooperation may also be obtained from local
municipalities, and additional assistance may be sought from other potentially liable parties. As provided in the
Consent Decree, WT has been reimbursed from the escrow account for 32 million of OU1 design costs expended
under the July 1, 2003, design agreement.

Upon completion of the remedial action for OUI to the satisfaction of EPA and Wisconsin, WT and
Glatfelter will receive covenants not to sue from EPA and Wisconsin for OUI, subject to conditions typical of
settlements under CERCLA. In March 2007, as an alternative to a determination by EPA and Wisconsin that the
funds remaining in the Consent Decree escrow account would be insufficient to complete the QU1 remedial action
described in the OUL-2 ROD, WT and Glatfelter agreed with EPA and Wisconsin on an Agreed Supplement to
Consent Decree (the “First Supplement™) which was filed with the federal court on March 28, 2007, Under the
provisions of the First Supplement, WT has deposited an additional total of $6 million in the Consent Decree escrow
account as additional funding for remediation of QUI, Glatfelter has also agreed to provide an additional $6 million
for the Consent Decree escrow account. In addition, Menasha Corporation has agreed to provide $7 million for the
Consent Decree escrow account pursuant to a Second Agreed Supplement to Consent Decree (“Second
Supplement™} filed with the federal court on November 13, 2007. If the funding provided through the Consent
Decree escrow account is not adequate to pay for the required OUl remedial! action, WT and Glatfelter have the
option, but not the obligation, to again contribute additional funds to complete the remedial action. WT remains
potentially liable for the additional costs necessary to achieve the performance standards for OUI specified in the
OU1-2 ROD.

EPA and Wisconsin have proposed an Amended Record of Decision for OU-1 (the “Proposed Amended
OU1 ROD™ which includes a balanced approach of capping, sand covering and dredging in OUl. EPA and
Wisconsin are receiving public comment on the Proposed Amended OUl ROD until January 31, 2008. Based on
the assumption of approval by EPA and Wisconsin of the Proposed Amended OUl ROD, WT and Glatfelter have
indicated to EPA and Wisconsin their intent to agree to complete the remediation of QU1 as required by an amended
OU1-2 ROD, the estimated cost of which is $11 million to $21 million in excess of funds already committed under
the Consent Decree and the First and Second Supplements. If the Proposed Amended OU1 ROD is approved and
the funding in the OU] Consent Decree escrow account and the funding committed by WT and others is not
adequate to pay for the required QU] remedial action, WT would remain potentially liable for the additional costs
necessary to achieve the performance standards for QU1 specified in the Proposed Amended QU1 ROD.

Under the terms of the Consent Decree WT also paid EPA and the State of Wisconsin $375,000 for past
response costs, and paid $1.5 million for natural resource damages ("NRD") for the Fox River site and $150,000 for
past NRD assessment costs. These payments have been credited toward WT's potential liability for response costs
and NRD associated with the Fox River site as a whole. As discussed later in this section we believe that WT is
entitled to substantial indemnification from a prior owner of WT with respect to these costs, and the prior owner has
reimbursed WT for the payments made as required in the Consent Decree.
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In July 2003 EPA and DNR announced a Record of Decision (the "OU3-5 ROD") for Operable Units 3, 4
and 5 ("OU3," "OU4" and "OUS," respectively), the remaining operable units for this site. The OU3-5 ROD requires
primarily dredging and disposal of PCB contaminated sediments from OU3 and OU4 (the downstream portion of the
river) and monitored natural recovery in OUS (Green Bay). In June 2007 EPA and Wisconsin issued the Amended
QU2-5 ROD. The Amended OU2-5 ROD modifies the remediation requirements for OUs 3 and 4 by reducing the
volume of sediment to be dredged and providing for capping or sand cover as prescribed remediation where specific
criteria are met. For OUs 2 and 5 the remedy is unchanged except that dredging is now required in a single deposit
in OU2 and at the mouth of the Fox River in QUS5. The estimated cost of the amended OU2-5 ROD is $390.3
million in 2005 dollars, including the present worth of long-term maintenance and menitoring over 100 years. On
November 14, 2007 the six PRPs identified above, including WT, and Menasha Corporation were issued a
Unilateral Administrative Order for Remedial Action by EPA under Section 106 of CERCLA to perform and fund
work required by the Amended OU2-5 ROD. WT has given notice to EPA of its intent to comply with the terms of
the order currently applicable to WT and is involved negotiations with the other recipients of the order on how they
will comply with the order.

Based on information available to us at this time we believe that the range of reasonable estimates of the
remaining total cost of remediation and restoration for the Fox River site is $500 million to $1.0 billion. The low end
of this range assumes that the remedy for OU1 will be amended consistent with the Proposed Amended OU1 ROD
and relies on the lower estimates stated in the Proposed OU1 ROD for future OU1 costs. For OU2-5, the low end of
this range is based on the costs estimated in the Amended OU2-5 ROD. The upper end of the range assumes the
higher estimates in the range of OU!l costs stated in the Proposed Amended QU1 ROD and costs substantially
exceeding those stated in the Amended 2-5 ROD. The active remediation components of the alternative remedy
proposed for OU1 are expected to take approximately two more years, while the Amended OU2-5 ROD indicates
that active remediation is expected to take approximately nine years from the commencement of substantial activity.
Any enforcement of a definitive remedial action plan may be subject to judicial review.

On October 25, 2000 the federal and tribal natural resources trustees released a Restoration and
Compensation Determination Plan ("RCDP") presenting the federal and tribal trustees' planned approach for
restoring injured federal and tribal natural resources and compensating the public for losses caused by the release of
PCBs at the Fox River site. The RCDP states that the final natural resource damage claim (which is separate from,
and in addition to, the remediation and restoration costs that will be associated with remedial action plans) will
depend on the extent of PCB clean-up undertaken by EPA and DNR, but estimates past interim damages to be $65
million, and, for illustrative purposes only, estimates additional costs of restoration to address present and future
PCB damages in a range of $111 million to $268 million. To date Wisconsin has not issued any estimate of natural
resource damages. We believe, based on the information currently available to us, that the estimate of natural
resource damages in the RCDP represents the reasonably likely upper limit of the total natural resource damages.
We believe that the alleged damages to natural resources are overstated in the RCDP and joined in the PRP group
comments on the RCDP to that effect. No final assessment of natural resource damages has been issued.

Under CERCLA each PRP generally will be jointly and severally liable for the full amount of the
remediation and restoration costs and natural resource damages, subject to a right of contribution from other PRPs.
In practice PRPs generally negotiate among themselves to determine their respective contributions to any multi-
party activities based upon factors including their respective contributions to the alleged contamination, equitable
considerations and their ability to pay. In draft analyses by DNR and federal government consultants the volume of
WT's PCB discharges into the Fox River has been estimated to range from 2.72 percent to 10 percent of the total
discharges of PCBs. This range may not be indicative of the share of the cost of the remediation and restoration
costs and natural resource damages that ultimately will be allocated to WT because of: inaccuracies or
incompleteness of information about mill operations and discharges; inadequate consideration of the nature and
location of various discharges of PCBs to the river, including discharges by persons other than the named PRPs and
the relationship of those discharges to identified contamination; uncertainty of the geographic location of the
remediation and restoration eventually performed; uncertainty about the ability of other PRPs to participate in
paying the costs and damages; and uncertainty about the extent of responsibility of the manufacturers of the
carbonless paper recycled by WT which contained the PCBs. We bhave evaluated the ability of other PRPs to
participate in paying the remediation and restoration costs and natural resource damages based on our estimate of
their reasonably possible shares of the liability and on public financial information indicating their ability to pay
such shares. While we are unable to determine at this time what shares of the liability for the Fox River costs will be
paid by the other identified PRPs (or other entities who are subsequently determined to have liability), based on
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information currently available to us and the analysis described above, we believe that most of the other PRPs have
the ability to pay their reasonably possible shares of the liability.

The ultimate cost to WT of remediation and restoration costs and natural resource damages related to the
Fox River site and the time periods over which the costs and damages may be incurred cannot be predicted with
certainty at this time due to uncertainties with respect to: what remediation and restoration will be implemented; the
actual cost of that remediation and restoration; WT's share of any multi-party remediation and restoration costs and
natural resource damages; the outcome of the federal and state natural resource damage assessments; the timing of
any remediation and restoration; the ¢volving nature of remediation and restoration technologies and governmental
regulations; controlling legal precedent; the extent to which contributions will be available from other parties; and
the scope of potential recoveties from insurance carriers and prior owners of WT. While such costs and damages
cannot be predicted with certainty at this time, we believe that WT's reasonably likely share of the ultimate
remediation and restoration costs and natural resource damages associated with the Fox River site, including
disbursement on behalf of WT of the remaining amount deposited by WT under the terms of the Consent Decree,
may fall within the range of $36 million to $160 million, payable over a period of up to 40 years, In our estimate of
the lower end of the range we have assumed remediation and restoration costs as estimated by our consultants for
QU1 and as estimated in the Amended OU2-5 ROD, and the low end of the governments’ estimates of natural
resource damages and WT's share of the aggregate liability. In our estimate of the upper end of the range we have
assumed higher costs in all OUs and that our share of the ultimate aggregate liability for all PRPs will be higher than
we believe it will ultimately be determined to be. We have accrued an amount for the Fox River liability based on
our estimate of the reasonably probable costs within the range as described above.

We believe that, pursuant to the terms of a stock purchase agreement between Chesapeake and Philip
Morris Incorporated (now known as Philip Morris USA Inc., or "PM USA,” a wholly owned subsidiary of Aliria
Group, Inc.), a former owner of WT, we are entitled to substantial indemnification from PM USA with respect to the
liabilities related to this matter. Based on the terms of that indemnity we believe that the probable cests and damages
should be indemnified by PM USA. We understand, however, that PM USA is subject to certain risks (including
litigation risk in cases relating to health concerns regarding the use of tobacco products). Accordingly, there can be
no assurance that PM USA will be able to satisfy its indemnification obligations in the future. However, PM USA is
currently meeting its indemnification obligations under the stock purchase agreement and, based on our review of
currently available financial information, we believe that PM USA has the financial ability to continue to meet its
indemnification obligations,

Pursuant to the Joint Venture Agreement with Georgia-Pacific Corporation for Georgia-Pacific Tissue,
LLC, WT has retained liability for, and the third party indemnity rights associated with, the discharge of PCBs and
other hazardous materials in the Fox River and Green Bay System. Based on currently available information we
believe that if remediation and restoration are done in an environmentally appropriate, cost effective and responsible
manner, and if natural resource damages are determined in a reasonable manner, the matter is unlikely to have a
material adverse effect on our financial position or results of operations, However, because of the uncertainties
described above, there can be no assurance that the ultimate liability with respect to the Lower Fox River site will
not have a material adverse effect on our financial position or results of operations.

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2007, we reviewed, and increased, our estimate of our reasonably probabie
environmental costs based on remediation activities to date and other developments. QOur accrued environmental
liabilities totaled approximately $75.1 million as of December 30, 2007, of which $16.2 million was considered
short-term, and $53.5 million as of December 31, 2006, of which $9.9 million was considered short-term.

Legal and Other Commitments

Chesapeake is a party to various other legal actions and tax audits which are ordinary and incidental to our
business. While the outcome of environmental, tax and legal actions cannot be predicted with certainty, we believe
the outcome of any of these proceedings, or all of them combined, will not have a material adverse effect on our
consolidated financial position or results of operations.

The Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) has proposed Federal income tax adjustments relating to a transfer of
assets in 1999 by our subsidiary, WTM 1 Company, to a joint venture with Georgia-Pacific Corporation. The [RS
issued a Notice of Deficiency based on those adjustments on May 25, 2006, Taking into account correlative
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adjustments to the Corporation’s tax liability in other years, the amount in dispute, including interest through
December 30, 2007, is approximately $35 million.

We intend to defend our position vigorously with respect to the asserted deficiency. We have estimated our
maximum potential exposure with respect to the matter to be approximately $35 million; however, we continue to
believe that our tax treatment of the transaction was appropriate and that we should prevail in this dispute with the
IRS. We do not expect that the ultimate resolution of this matter will have a material adverse effect on our financial
condition or results of operation.

Guarantees and Indemnifications

We have entered into agreements for the sale of assets or businesses that contain provisions in which we
agree to indemnify the buyers or third parties involved in the sale for certain liabilities or risks related to the sale. In
these sale agreements we typically agree to indemnify the buyers or other involved third parties against a broadly-
defined range of potential "losses" (typically including, but not limited to, claims, costs, damages, judgments,
liabilities, fines or penalties, and attorneys' fees) artsing from: (i) a breach of our representations or warranties in the
sale agreement or ancillary documents; (ii) our failure to perform any of the covenants or obligations of the sale
agreement or ancillary documents; and (iii) other liabilities expressly retained or assumed by us related to the sale.
Most of our indemnity obligations under these sale agreements are: (i) limited to a maximum dollar value
significantly less than the final purchase price; (ii) limited by time within which indemnification claims must be
asserted (ofien between one and three years); and (iii) subject to a deductible or "basket." Many of the potential
indemnification liabilities under these sale agreements are unknown, remote or highly contingent, and most are
unlikely to ever require an indemnity payment. Furthermore, even in the event that an indemnification claim is
asserted, liability for indemnification is subject to determination under the terms of the applicable sale agreement,
and any payments may be limited or barred by a monetary cap, a time limitation or a deductible or basket, For these
reasons we are unable to estimate the maximum potential amount of the potential future liability under the indemnity
provisions of the sale agreements. However, we accrue for any potentially indemnifiable liability or risk under these
sale agreements for which we believe a future payment is probable and a range of loss can be reasonably estimated.
Other than the Fox River matter discussed in Environmental Matters above, as of December 30, 2007, we believe
our liability under such indemnification obligations was immaterial.

In the ordinary course of our business we may enter into agreements for the supply of goods or services to
customers that provide warranties to their customers on one or more of the following: (i) the quality of the goods
and services supplied by us; (ii) the performance of the goods supplied by us; and (iii) our compliance with certain
specifications and applicable laws and regulations in supplying the goods and services. Liability under such
warranties often is limited to a maximum amount by the nature of the claim or by the time period within which a
claim must be asserted. As of December 30, 2007 we believe our liability under such warranties was immaterial.

In the ordinary course of our business we may enter into service agreements with service providers in
which we agree to indemnify the service provider against certain losses and liabilities arising from the service
provider's performance of the agreement. Generally, such indemnification obligations do not apply in situations in
which the service provider is grossly negligent, engages in willful misconduct or acts in bad faith. As of December
30, 2007 we believe our liability under such service agreements was immaterial.

In the ordinary course of our business, we may enter into supply agreements (such as those discussed
above), service agreements (such as those discussed above), purchase agreements, leases, and other types of
agreements in which we agree to indemnify the party or parties with whom we are contracting agamst certain losses
and liabilities arising from, among other things: (1) our breach of the agreement or representations’ or warranties
under the agreement; (ii) our failure to perform any of our obligations under the agreement; (iii) certain defined
actions or omissions by us; and (iv) our failure to comply with certain laws, regulations, rules, policies, or
specifications. As of December 30, 2007 we believe our liability under these agreements was immaterial.

| &) Business Segment Information
During July 2007 we announced a reorganization that included the realignment of operating segments. As

of September 30, 2007 we conduct our business in three operating segments: Plastic Packaging, Pharmaceutical and
Healthcare Packaging ("Pharma"), and Branded Products Packaging (“Branded Products"). The Branded Products
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operating segment includes the former Tobacco operating segment. The Pharma and Branded Products operating
segments are aggregated into the Paperboard Packaging reportable segment. Our Paperboard Packaging segment
designs and manufactures folding cartons, spirally wound composite tubes, leaflets, labels and other paper and
paperboard packaging products. The primary end-use markets for this segment are pharmaceutical and healthcare
and branded products (such as alcoholic drinks, confectioneries, foods and tobacco). The Plastic Packaging segment
designs and manufactures plastic containers, bottles, and preforms. The primary end-use markets for this segment
are agrochemicals and other specialty chemicals, and food and beverages. General corporate expenses are shown as
Corporate.

Segments are determined by the “management approach” as described in SFAS No. 131, Disclosures about
Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information, which we adopted in 1998. Management assesses continuing
operations based on operating income before interest and taxes derived from similar groupings of products and
services. Consistent with management’s assessment of performance, goodwill impairments, gains (losses) on
divestitures and restructuring €xpenses, asset impairments and other exit costs are excluded from segment operating
income.

There were no material intersegment sales in fiscal years 2007, 2006 or 2005. No single customer
represented more than 10 percent of total net sales. Net sales are attributed to geographic areas based on the location
of the segment’s geographically managed operations. Segment identifiable assets are those that are directly used in
segment operations. Corporate assets are cash and other assets. Long-lived assets are primarily property, plant and
equipment,

Financial Information by Business Segment:

(in millions) 2007 2006 2005
Net sales:
Paperboard Packaging $ 879.7 $ 840.4 $ 8274
Plastic Packaging 179.9 155.0 181.8
Consolidated net sales $ 1,059.6 $ 9954 $1,009.2
Operating income:
Paperboard Packaging $ 369 $ 4209 § 498
Plastic Packaging 204 17.9 15.0
Corporate (16.3) (15.9) 17.1)
Goodwill impairment charge —_ (14.3) (312.0)
Restructuring charges, asset impairments
and other exit costs (15.8) (33.4) (10.7)
Gain (loss) on divestitures 1.5 31 (2.8)
Consolidated operating income (loss) $ 26.7 $ 03 $(277.8)
Identifiable assets:
Paperboard Packaging $ 9005 $ 859.9 $ 826.7
Plastic Packaging 207.8 171.2 184.2
Corporate 1054 81.7 112.1
Consolidated assets 1,213.7 $1,114.8 $1,123.0
Capital expenditures:
Paperboard Packaging $ 357 ¥ 281 5 297
Plastic Packaging 13.9 7.7 8.0
Corporate — —_ 0.6
Consolidated capital expenditures $ 49.6 $ 358 $ 383
Depreciation and amortization:
Paperboard Packaging $ 459 $ 484 § 484
Plastic Packaging 73 7.8 9.6
Corporate 0.2 0.2 0.3
Discontinued operations — 0.2 0.9
Consolidated depreciation and amortization $ 534 $ 56.6 § 592
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{in millions)

Net sales:

United Kingdom
Germany
Ireland
France
uU.s.
Belgium
South Africa
Other

Total

Long-lived assets:

United Kingdom
U.s.
Germany
France
Ireland
Belgium
South Africa
Other
Total

CHESAPEAKE CORPORATION
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

79

2007 2006 2005
$497.3 498.6 $ 5576
149.4 127.5 119.6
103.1 90.6 79.8
91.3 82.1 78.9
61.5 573 26.1
52.6 53.1 61.2
53.0 40.8 42.8
514 454 43.2
$1,059.6 995.4 $1,009.2
$185.0 172.3 $ 1864
129.7 105.9 133.2
534 65.4 66.9
31.7 249 24.8
29.2 255 234
273 27.1 238
16.1 11.7 14.4
32.8 13.7 16.5
$505.2 446.5 $ 489.4




CHESAPEAKE CORPORATION
Notes to Consolidated Financtal Statements

Recent Quarterly Results (Unaudited)

(in millions, except per share data)
Per Share

Income from Income from
Net Gross Continuing Continuing Operationy Earnings Dividends
Quarter Sales Profit Operations Net [ncome Basic Diluted Basic Diluted Declared
007
First® §272.0 549.6 30.9 $0.7 $0.05 50.05 $0.04 $0.04 $0.22
Second™ 250.9 43.0 (aLmn (12.6) (0.60) (0.60) (0.65) (0.65) -
Third® 1664 474 37 3.2 0.19 0.19 0.16 0.16 -
Fourth™ 2703 392 (6.7) (6.8) {0.34) (0.34) {0.35) {0.35) -
Year $1,059.6 $179.2 $(13.8) $(15.5) $(0.71) $(0.71) $(0.80) 5(0.80) $0.22
2006
First® $253.2 § 446 $(3.8) $4.N $(0.20) $(0.20) $(0.24) $(0.24) $0.22
Second? 2363 41.5 (0.7) (4.8) (0.04) (0.04) (0.25) (0.25) 0.22
Third® 2479 427 54 4.1 0.28 0.28 0.21 0.21 -
Fourth®™ 258.0 46.5 (31.3) (34.2) (1.72) (1.72) (1.76) (1.76) 044
Year £995.4 $175.3 $(324) $(39.6) $(1.67) 5(1.67) $(2.04) $(2.04) $0.88

(a) The first quarter of fiscal 2007 included restructuring charges of $.7 million, net of income taxes.
(b) The second quarter of fiscal 2007 included restructuring charges of $9.3 million, net of income taxes.

{c) The third quarter of fiscal 2007 included restructuring charges of $2.9 million, net of income taxes; an income
tax benefit of $3.5 million related to the resolution of income tax contingencies; and an income tax benefit of
$1.2 million resulting from a re-evaluation of our deferred taxes for changes in UK. tax law and changes in

statutory tax rates for the U K. and Germany.

(d) The fourth quarter of fiscal 2007 included restructuring charges of $0.5 million, net of income taxes; and a
gain on divestiture on $1.5 million, net of income tax related to the sale of the Company’s plastic packaging

operation in Lurgan, Northern Ireland (“Lurgan™).

(e} The first quarter of fiscal 2006 included restructuring charges of $2.8 million, net of income taxes; a loss on
divestiture of $1.2 million, net of income taxes, related to the sale of Lurgan; a loss of $0.6 million, net of
income taxes, for the redemption of £5.0 million principal amount of the Company's 10.375% senior
subordinated notes due 2011; and a loss of $0.9 million, net of income taxes, reported in discontinued
operations primarily related to the operating results of the Company’s French luxury packaging business

{*“CLP"), which was sold in the third quarter of fiscal 2006.

(f) The second quarter of fiscal 2006 included restructuring charges of $1.6 million, net of income taxes and a loss
of $4.1 million net of income taxes; reported in discontinued operations primarily related to the operating

results of CLP.

(g) The third quarter of fiscal 2006 included restructuring charges of $1.3 million, net of income taxes; a gain on
divestitures of $4.1 million, net of income taxes related to the sale of Lurgan; an income tax benefit of $4.1
million as a result of management’s reassessment of its valuation allowance for deferred income tax assets in
France following the sale of CLP and a favorable settlement regarding an income tax contingency; and a loss
of $1.3 million net of income taxes, reported in discontinued operations primarily related to the sale and

operating results of CLP.

(h) The fourth quarter of fiscal 2006 included a goodwill impairment charge of $14.3 million, net of income taxes;
an asset impairment charge of $21.1 million, net of taxes, restructuring charges of $0.6 million, net of income
taxes; an income tax benefit of $1.6 million related to a favorable settlement regarding an income tax
contingency and a loss of $0.9 million net of income taxes, reported in discontinued operations primarily
refated to an increase in the liability associated with the disposition of assets of Wisconsin Tissue Mills Inc. in

1999.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To Board of Directors and Sharcholders
Chesapeake Corporation:

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements listed in the accompanying index present fairly, in all matenial
respects, the financial position of Chesapeake Corporation and its subsidiaries at December 30, 2007 and December
31, 2006, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 30, 2007 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial
reporting as of December 30, 2007, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSQ). The Company's management
is responsible for these financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and
for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying
Annual Report on Form 10-K. Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements and on the
Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our integrated audits. We conducted our audits in
accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our audits of the financial statements included examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles
used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.
Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over
financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and
operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such
other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinions.

As discussed in Note 9, “Income Taxes™ and Note 10, “Employee Retirement and Postretirement Benefits” to the
consolidated financial statements, the Company changed the manner in which it accounts for uncertain tax positions
in 2007 and defined benefit pension and other postretirement plans in 2006, respectively.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii} provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Richmond, Virginia

March 6, 2008

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.
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Item 9A.  Controls and Procedures
Conclusion Regarding the Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be
disclosed in the reports that we file or submit under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the rules and forms of the SEC, and that
such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

An evaluation was performed under the supervision and with the participation of our management,
including our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls
and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934} as of
December 30, 2007. Based upon that evaluation, our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and our
Chief Financial Officer, concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of December 30,
2007.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial
reporting, as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). Our internal control over financial reporting is a
process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation
of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. OQur
internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of
records that, in reasonable detail, accuratcly and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of our assets;
(2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that our receipts and expenditures are
being made only in accordance with authorizations of our management and directors; and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of our assets that
could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstaternents,  Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as
of December 310, 2007 based on the framework in Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSQ). Based on our evaluation under the framework
in Internal Control — Integrated Framework, our management concluded based on that framework that our internal
control over financial reporting was effective as of December 30, 2007.

The effectiveness of management’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 30, 2007, has
been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their
report which is included herein.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2007
that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information

None.
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PART Il
Item 10, Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information presented under the captions “Information Concerning Nominees,” “Directors Continuing
in Office,” and “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” of our definitive Proxy Statement for
our Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held April 23, 2008 (the “2008 Proxy Statement”), the information
presented under the caption “Executive Officers of the Registrant” in Part I of this report and the information
presented under the caption “Availability of Certain Reports, Committee Charters and Other Information” of Item 1.
“Business” of this report is incorporated herein by reference.

The information presented under the caption “Corporate Governance” of the 2008 Proxy Statement is
incorporated herein by reference,

Item 11. Executive Compensation
The information presented under the captions “Director Compensation,” “Executive Compensation” and
“Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation” of our 2008 Proxy Statement {excluding, however,

the information presented under the subheading “Audit Committee Report™) is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters

The information presented under the caption “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and
Management” of our 2008 Proxy Statement is incorporated hercin by reference.

The information presented under the caption “Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related
Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities — Equity Compensation Plan Information” in Part Il
of this Form 10-K is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The information presented under the captions “Transactions with Related Persons” and “Corporate
Governance” of our 2008 Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 14, Principal Accountant Fees and Services
The information presented under the captions “Audit Committee Report — Audit Committee Pre-Approval

Policy” and “Audit Committee Report — Fees of the Corporation’s Independent Registered Public Accounting
Firm” of our 2008 Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV

Item 5. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

a. The following documents are filed as part of Item 8 of this report:
(i) Financial Statements
. Consolidated Balance Sheets — December 30, 2007 and December 31, 2006;
. Consolidated Statements of Operations — Years ended December 30, 2007,

December 31, 2006 and January 1, 2006;

. Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows — Years ended December 30, 2007,
December 31, 2006 and January 1, 2006;

. Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity — Years ended
December 30, 2007, December 31, 2006 and January 1, 2006;

] Notes to Consoclidated Financial Statements;

. Recent Quarterly Results; and

. Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
(ii) Financial Statement Schedules

Schedules are omitted because they are not required, are inapplicable or the information
is otherwise shown in our Consolidated Financial Statements or notes thereto.

b. Exhibits filed or incorporated by reference:
The exhibits that are required to be filed or incorporated by reference herein are listed in
the Exhibit Index found on pages 86-88 hereof. Exhibits 10.1 — 10.25 hereto constitute

management confracts or compensatory plans or arrangements required to be filed as
exhibits hereto.
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SIGNATURES

|

| Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securitics Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant
| has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
i

| March 6, 2008

By

By

By

By

By

CHESAPEAKE CORPORATION

(Registrant)

/s GUY N, A, FALLER

Guy N. A, Faller
Controller
(Principal Accounting Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by

/s/ DAVID FELL

Sir David Fell
Director

/s/ BRIAN J. BUCHAN

Brian J. Buchan
Director

/s RAFAEL C. DECALUWE

Rafaél C. Decaluwé
Director

/s/ MARY JANE HELLYAR

Mary Jane Hellyar
Director

/s/ JEREMY §. G. FOWDEN

Jeremy S. G. Fowden
Director

/s/ ANDREW J. KOHUT

Andrew J. Kohut

President & Chief Executive Officer

and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities indicated.

By /s/JOEL K. MOSTROM

Joel K, Mostrom
Executive Vice President & Chief Financial Officer
{Principal Financial Officer}

By /s/ HENRI D. PETIT

Henri D. Petit
Director

By /s/ JOHN W. ROSENBLUM

John W. Rosenblum
Director

By /s/ BEVERLY L. THELANDER

Beverly L. Thelander
Director

By /s/JOSEPH P. VIVIANO

Joseph P. Viviano
Director

By /s/ HARRY H. WARNER

Harry H. Warmner
Director

Each of the above signatures is affixed as of March 6, 2008.
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2.1

3d

3.2

33

4.1

42

4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6

47

4.8

EXHIBIT INDEX

Joint Venture Agreement, dated as of October 4, 1999, among Georgia-Pacific Corporation, Chesapeake
Corporation, Wisconsin Tissue Mills Inc. and Georgia-Pacific Tissue Company, LLC (filed as Exhibit 2.1
to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 1999, and
incorporated herein by reference)

Restated Articles of Incorporation (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the year ended December 30, 2001, and incorporated herein by reference)

Amended and Restated Bylaws of Chesapeake Corporation, as adopted February 13, 1990, with
amendments through March I, 2006 (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K
dated March 1, 2006, and incorporated herein by reference)

Amended and Restated Bylaws of Chesapeake Corporation, as adopted February 27, 2008, effective as of
April 23, 2008 (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated March 1, 2008,
and incorporated herein by reference)

Amended and Restated Rights Agreement, dated as of February 21, 2001, between the Registrant and
Computershare Investor Services, LLC, successor to Harris Trust and Savings Bank, as rights agent (filed
as Exhibit 4.4 1o the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2000, and
incorporated herein by reference)

Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of February 23, 2004 (amending and restating
the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of February 8, 2001, as previously amended),
among Chesapeake Corporation, Chesapeake U.K. Holdings Limited, Chesapeake UK Acquisitions PLC,
Boxmere International Limited, and Field Group plc, as the Borrowers, various financial institutions and
other persons from time to time parties thereto, as the Lenders, Wachovia Bank, National Association, as
the Administrative Agent, Bank of America, N.A. and Citicorp North America, Inc., as the Syndication
Agents, HSBC Bank plc, as the Documentation Agent, and Wachovia Capital Markets, LLC, as a Co-Lead
Arranger and the Sole Book Runner, and Banc of America Securities LLC and Citicorp North America,
Inc, as Co-Lead Arrangers (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated
February 23, 2004, and incorporated herein by reference)

Indenture, dated as of November 19, 2001, between the Registrant and The Bank of New York, as Trustee
(filed as Exhibit 4.1 to Form S-4 Registration Statement No. 333-75296, and incorporated herein by
reference)

Indenture, dated as of December 8, 2004, between the Registrant and Wachovia Bank, National
Association, as Trustee (filed as Exhibit 4.4 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended January 2, 2003, and incorporated herein by reference)

Form of the Registrant’s 7% Senior Subordinated Notes due 2014 (filed as Exhibit 4.5 to the Registrant’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended January 2, 2005, and incorporated herein by reference)

Amendment No. 2, dated February 23, 2006, to the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement
dated February 23, 2004 (filed as exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated
February 23, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference)

Amendment No. 4, dated June 18, 2007, to the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated
February 23, 2004 (filed as exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated June 18,
2007 and incorporated herein by reference)

Amendment No. 5, dated January 18, 2008, to the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated

February 23, 2004 (filed as exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated January 18,
2008 and incorporated herein by reference)
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Amendment No. 6, dated March 5, 2008, to the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated
February 23, 2004 (filed as exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated March §,
2008 and incorporated herein by reference)

The Registrant agrees to furnish to the Securities and Exchange Commission, upon request, copies of those
agreements defining the rights of holders of long-term debt of the Registrant and its subsidiaries that are not filed
herewith pursuant to Item 601(b)(4)(iii) of Regulation S-K.

10.1*

10.2*

10.3*

10.4*

10.5%

10.6*

10.7*

10.8*

10.9*

10.10*

10.11*

10.12*

10.13*

10.14*

1987 Steck Option Plan {filed as Exhibit A to the Registrant’s definitive Proxy Statement for the Annual
Meeting of Stockholders held April 22, 1987, and incorporated herein by reference)

Directors” Deferred Compensation Plan (filed as Exhibit VII to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form
10-K for the year ended December 28, 1980, and incorporated herein by reference)

Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to Form S-8 Registration Statement No.
33-53478, and incorporated herein by reference)

Executive Supplemental Retirement Plan, as amended and restated en February 27, 2007 (filed as Exhibit
10.4 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006, and
incorporated herein by reference)

Retirement Plan for Qutside Directors (filed as Exhibit 10.9 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-
K for the year ended December 31, 1987, and incorporated herein by reference)

Chesapeake Corporation Long-Term Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.9 to the Registrant’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1989, and incorporated herein by reference)

Chesapeake Corporation 1993 Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to Form S-8 Registration Statement No.
33-67384, and incorporated herein by reference)

Chesapeake Corporation Directors” Deferred Compensation Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s
Current Report on Form 8-K dated March 1, 2006, and incorporated herein by reference)

Chesapeake Corporation 401(k) Restoration Plan (filed as Exhibit 1{.11 to the Registrant’s Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1996, and incorporated herein by reference)

Chesapeake Corporation 1997 Incentive Plan (filed as exhibit 4.5 to Form S-8 Registration Statement No.
333-30763, and incorporated herein by reference)

Amended and Restated Executive Employment Agreement with J.P. Causey Jr., dated as of April 22, 2003
(filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 29,
2003, and incorporated herein by reference)

First Amendment to Executive Employment Agreement with J.P. Causey Jr., dated as of January 3, 2005
{filed as Exhibit 10.7 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated January 3, 2005, and
incorporated herein by reference)

Second Amendment to Executive Employment Agreement with J.P. Causey Ir., dated as of August 12,
2005 (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended July 3,
2005, and incorporated herein by reference)

Notice of Non-Renewal of the Amended and Restated Executive Employment Agreement dated April

22,2003 with J.P. Causey Jr. (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
the quarter ended September 30, 2007, and incorporated herein by reference)
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10.15*

10.16*

10.17*

10.18*

10.19*

10.20*

16.21*

10.22*

10.23*

10.24*

10.25*

12.1

21.1

23.1

31.1

31.2

321

Amended and Restated Executive Employment Agreement with Andrew J. Kohut, dated as of April 22,
2003 (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June
29, 2003, and incorporated herein by reference)

First Amendment to Executive Employment Agreement with Andrew J. Kohut, dated as of January 3,
2005 (filed as Exhibit 10.9 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated January 3, 2005, and
incorporated herein by reference)

Second Amendment to Executive Employment Agreement with Andrew J. Kohut, dated as of August 12,
2005 (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended July 3,
2003, and incorporated herein by reference)

Third Amendment to Executive Employment Agreement with Andrew J. Kohut, dated as of December 13,
2005 (filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated December 12, 2005, and
incorporated herein by reference)

Amendments, effective December 31, 2004, to the Chesapeake Corporation 401(k) Restoration Plan (filed
as Exhibit 10.20 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K dated December 31, 2004, and
incorporated herein by reference)

Executive Employment Agreement, dated as of April 22, 2003, with Joel K. Mostrom (filed as Exhibit
10.12 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated January 3, 2005, and incorporated herein by
reference)

First Amendment to Executive Employment Agreement with Joel K. Mostrom, dated as of August 12,
2005 (filed as Exhibit 10.13 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated January 3, 2005, and
incorporated herein by reference)

Second Amendment to Executive Employment Agreement with Joel K. Mostrom, dated as of January 3,
2005 (filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended July 3,
20035, and incorporated herein by reference)

Chesapeake Corporation 2005 Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference from Annex 1 of the
Company’s definitive Proxy Statement filed pursuant to Section 14(a) of the Exchange Act on March 25,
2005)

Compromise agreement with Neil Rylance, dated August 24, 2007, and filed herewith

Named Executive Officers’ and Directors’ compensation, filed herewith

Computation of Net Income Per Share of Common Stock, filed herewith

Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges, filed herewith

Subsidiaries, filed herewith

Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, filed herewith

Certification of CEO pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, filed herewith
Certification of CFQ pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, filed herewith

Certifications of CEO and CFO pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, filed herewith

* Indicates management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
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Board of Directors

Sir David Fell agess

Served on the board since 2000. Chairman of
the board. Chairman of the Executive Committee
and the Committee of Independent Directors.,
Director of National Australia Group Europe Ltd.

Brian Buchan Age 55

Served on the board since 2005. Member of
the Audit Committee and the Committee of
Independent Directors, Chairman and Director
of R&R Ice Cream, Limited.

Rafadl C. Decaluwé Age s0

Served on the board since 2003. Chairman of
the Audit Committee. Member of the Executive
Committee and the Committee of Independent
Directors. Senior Consultant for RDConsult bvba.

leremy S. G. Fowden age 51

Served on the board since 2004. Member
of the Executive Compensation Committee
and the Committee of Independent Directors.
President, Cott UK and Europe.

Mary Jane Hellyar age 54
Served on the board since 2007, Executive Vice
President of Eastman Kodak Company.

Andrew |. Kohut Age 49

Served on the board since 2005. Member of
the Executive Committee. President & Chief
Executive Officer of Chesapeake Corporation.

Shareholder Information

Henri D. Petit Ages9

Served on the board since 2003. Member of the
Corporate Governance & Nominating Committee
and the Committee of Independent Directors.
Chairman, Chief Executive and Director of
Sperian Protection 5.A.

Dr. John W. Rosenblum Age g4

Served on the board since 1984. Chairman

of the Executive Compensation Committee.
Member of the Executive Committee, the
Corporate Governance & Nominating Committee
and the Committee of Independent Directors.
Management Censultant and Dean Emeritus

of The Darden Graduate School of Business
Administration at The University of Virginia.

Beverly L. Thelander age 52

Served on the board since 2005. Member of the
Audit Committee, the Executive Compensation
Committee and the Committee of Independent
Directors. Management Consultant.

Joseph P. ¥iviano Ages9

Served on the board since 1988. Member of the
Corporate Governance & Neminating Committee
and the Committee of Independent Directors.
Retired Vice Chairman and Director of Hershey
Food Corporation.

Harry H. Warner Age 72

Served on the board since 1978. Chairman

of the Corporate Governance & Nominating
Committee. Member of the Executive Committee,
the Executive Compensation Committee and the
Committee of Independent Directors. Retired
President, George C. Marshall Foundation.

Andrew ). Kohut
President & Chief Executive Officer

).P. Causey Jr.
Executive Vice President,
Secretary & General Counsel

Joel K. Mostrom
Executive Vice President
& Chief Financial Officer

Michael Cheetham
Vice President — Pharmaceutical
and Healthcare Packaging

Vincent W. Hockett
Vice President - Plastic Packaging
& Business Development

Timothy D. Whitfield
Vice President — Branded Products Packaging

Candace C, Formacek
Treasurer

Guy N. Faller
Controller

General Information

Chesapeake offers shareholders several options
for accessing infermation about our company.

A toll-free telephone service, 888-CSK-NEWS,
provides news releases, fax-on-demand
services and other shareholder information.
Our website at www.chesapeakecorp.com also
provides a variety of shareholder information,
including our Code of Ethics.

Stock Listing
Zsk New York Stock Exchange Symbol: CSK
NYSE Newspaper listing: Chspk

Annual Meeting

The annual meeting of shareholders will be held
in the SunTrust Bank, Piedmont Room, 4th Floor,
919 East Main Street, Richmond, VA, Wednesday,
April 23, 2008 at 9:30 a.m.

Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Richmond, VA

Counsel
Hunton 8 Williams
Richmond, VA

Registrar and Transfer Agent

Computershare Investor Services LLC

2 North LaSalle Street, 3rd Floor

Chicago, IL 60602

312-360-5163

www.computershare.com

Email address: web.queries@computershare.¢om




Comparison of 5-Year Cumulative Total Return*

Ameng Chesapeake Corporation, the S&P SmallCap 600 index and
the Bow jones Globat Containers & Packaging Index

12/02 12/03 12/04 12/05 12/06 12/07
Chesapeake Corporation 100.00 155.06 164.68 107.40 114.18 35.79
S&P SmallCap 600 100.00 138.79 170.22 183.30 211.01 210.38
Dow Jones Global Containers & Packaging 100.00 120.07 143.04 14291 160.38 174.16
$250
[PV . —=—— {Chesapeake Corporation
$200
_____ s ----a---- S&P SmallCap 600
$150 4 000 e NG et e LAREAEE Dow |ones Global Containers & Packaging
$100 -«
$50 T
50 T T T T 1
12/02 12/03 12/04 12/05 12/06 12/07

* $100 invested on 12/31/02 in stock or index - including
reinvestment of dividends. Fiscal year ending December 31,

Capyright © 2008, Standard & Poor's, a division of The McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc. All rights reserved,
www.researchdatagroup.com/S&P.htm

Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Financial Measure (i mitions)

Operating income
Add: goodwill impairment charge
Add: restructuring expenses, asset impairments and other exit costs
Less: gain on divestitures

Operating income excluding special items
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E Chesapeake’

Chesapeake Corporation
James Center Il

1021 E. Cary Street, Box 2350
Richmond, VA 23218-2350
www.chesapeakecorp.com




